Stimulation of chemotherapy-induced immunity by targeting IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment

by

Luis R. Millán-Barea

B.S., Biology University of Puerto Rico – Mayagüez, 2015

Submitted to the Department of Biology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

February 2022

© 2021 Massachusetts Institute of Technology. All rights reserved.

The author herby grants MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium now known or hereafter created.

Signature of Author.	
	Luis R. Millán-Barea
	Department of Biology
	January 27, 2022
Certified by	
	Michael T. Hemann
	Associate Professor of Biology
	Thesis Supervisor
Accepted by	
	Amy E. Keating
	Professor of Biology and Biological Engineering
	Co-Director, Biology Graduate Committee

Stimulation of chemotherapy-induced immunity by targeting IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment

by

Luis R. Millán-Barea

Submitted to the Department of Biology on January 27, 2022 in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy in Biology at the MIT

Abstract

Tumor formation and progression involves the growth and co-evolution of neoplastic cells in combination with microenvironmental stromal components. Transformed tumor cells initiate crucial changes in healthy tissues that convert their environment into one that supports and furthers cancer development. Consequently, heterogenous cell types within tumors and context dependent factors can influence and shape the therapeutic responses of these diseases. These interactions promote outgrowth of therapy-refractory malignancies, which are a recurrent and challenging problem when treating cancer patients in the clinic.

One of the most effective emerging approaches to safeguard patients from cancer recurrence is the stimulation and mobilization of the immune system against tumor cells. To this end, preclinical studies of a group of cytostatic and genotoxic agents has shown that these drugs exert their effects on cancer cells by, in part, boosting the functions of immune cells. However, the vast majority of these agents do not effectively engage the immune system when used as therapies for cancer patients. Activation of innate and adaptive immune responses against cancers rely on cell-to-cell communications regulated by cytokines. These soluble factors can also generate antiinflammatory responses depending on their concentration and timing of exposure. Thus, detrimental immunosuppressive activity promoted by cytokines is one of the context-dependent factors that inhibit tumor-specific responses.

In my thesis, using an immune-competent mouse model of B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia, we describe how the microenvironmentally derived cytokine IL-6 inhibits anticancer immune responses generated by chemotherapy treatment. Specifically, we demonstrate that absence of IL-6 from tumor microenvironments leads to enhanced T-lymphocyte responses that culminate in the generation of long-term immunologic memory. These findings reveal one of the mechanisms by which microenvironmental changes brought upon by tumor cells result in therapy resistance and disease recurrence. Therefore, we present supporting evidence that unravelling the therapeutic potential of IL-6 pathway inhibition in combination with immune-stimulating therapies could improve care and treatment for various oncological indications.

Thesis Supervisor: Michael T. Hemann Title: Associate Professor of Biology

Acknowledgements

Throughout my time in the Hemann lab and MIT, I have had the pleasure and privilege of interacting with very talented, self-motivated, and enthusiastic people. All the interactions with these amazing people have allowed me to grow tremendously, both scientifically and personally. To all of you, mentioned here or not, I am deeply grateful for crossing paths, and I thank you for believing in me and for pushing me to be better than yesterday.

Every group is a product of their fearless leadership. Mike, throughout all these years you have provided me with freedom to pursue my ideas. Thanks for always listening to, and supporting all my scientific endeavors, but more importantly, thanks for correcting and guiding me without judging. You have always supported me, in and outside of lab, which makes me even more grateful that you gave me the opportunity to join your group.

Among great scientists and remarkable people, I am also deeply grateful to my committee members Tyler Jacks and Stefani Spranger. Thanks for all the years of mentorship and guidance, for always being available. You both have supported me, pushed me, and inspired me to be a better scientist.

Mandana, thank you for introducing me to MIT and for believing in me. Your support and dedication to students is admirable. Also, thanks to Barbara Imperiali for opening her lab's doors to a very young and enthusiastic scientist. Thanks for giving me the opportunity and confidence to believe in myself.

I would also like to acknowledge my current and former lab mates; you have all been instrumental people in my scientific and personal journey through grad school. Thanks for fostering collaboration and comradeship. Thanks for all your help and friendships throughout the years.

To my friends, thank you for keeping me afloat and bringing me much needed perspective. Thanks for the unconditional love, support, and for laughing at my jokes; if they even are jokes. Thanks to Juan E., for always being the most incredible best friend since we can both remember.

Outside of the lab, my biggest constants, my family. Thanks to my brother, José M., for always being available and wanting to share all of our adventures together. Thanks to my father, José L., for preparing me to love life, and to question both the unknown and the things we think we know. Thanks to my sister, Mayrim, for being a heroic role model and being unapologetically herself. Thanks to my mother, Eileen, for life, for your patience, your love, and for giving me the world. Thanks to my grandmother, Leticia, for teaching me respect, chivalry, service, and love.

Lorraine, thanks for being my biggest cheerleader. Thanks for always listening and supporting me. My days start and end with your smiles, and I have never been happier. Thanks for choosing me, over and over again.

Table of contents

Abstract		
Acknowledgements		
Table of contents.		
Chapter 1: Introduction		
Chapter 1, Part I: The mammalian immune system		
1.1 An overview of the immune system		
1.2 Macro- and micro-environments of the immune system		
1.2.1 Hematopoiesis and cells of the immune system. 15		
1.2.2 Primary lymphoid organs		
1.2.3 Secondary lymphoid organs		
1.2.4 Tertiary lymphoid tissues		
1.3 Innate immunity		
1.3.1 Innate response receptors and signaling. 34		
1.3.2 Effector mechanisms of innate immunity		
1.3.3 Innate and adaptive immune system interactions		
1.4 Adaptive immunity		
1.4.1 Encounter of antigens by lymphocytes		
1.5 Immune tolerance		
1.5.1 Cancer and the immune system. 45		
Chapter 1, Part II: Lymphoid leukemias and chemotherapy induced immunity		
2.1 Chronic and acute lymphoid leukemias		

2.1.1	Chronic lymphoid leukemia
2.1.2	Acute lymphoid leukemia57
2.1.3	Treatment of B-ALL
2.1.4	BCR-ABL ⁺ B-ALL
2.2 Im	munogenic cell death
2.2.1	Cell death and immunogenicity
2.2.2	Immunogenic chemotherapy
2.2.3	Immune checkpoint inhibitors
<u>Chapte</u>	er 1, Part III: The tumor microenvironment and IL-6 in cancer inflammation
3.1 Th	e importance of the tumor microenvironment
3.1.1	Major stromal components of the tumor microenvironment
3.1.2	Hematological tumor microenvironments
3.1.3	Therapy resistance mediated by the tumor microenvironment
3.2 Pro	ognostic role of tumor microenvironment immune infiltrates
3.2.1	Immune hot, altered-excluded, altered-immunosuppressed, and cold tumors88
3.3 Cy	tokines in cancer therapy
3.3.1	Inhibiting immunosuppressive cytokines
3.4 IL-	6 biology: from discovery to drug development of a complex cytokine
3.4.1	IL-6 signaling
3.4.2	IL-6 signaling inhibition in oncological indications
Thesis	summary
Refere	ences

cytotoxic chemotherapy
Author contributions
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Discussion
Acknowledgements
Materials and methods
Supplementary information
References
Chapter 3: Discussion, limitations, and future directions
1.1 Conventional chemotherapy as immunotherapy: dose and schedule dependence 205
1.2 Immunogenic cell death induction and characterization
1.3 Model antigens and immune responses: T cell and dendritic cell dynamics
1.4 Transplantable versus autochthonous mouse models
1.5 Final remarks
References
Appendix A: Modeling inflammatory bowel disorders after treatment with IL-6R inhibitors
and doxorubicin

Chapter 2: Microenvironmental IL-6 inhibits anti-cancer immune responses generated by

Chapter 1

Introduction

Chapter 1, Part I: The mammalian immune system

1.1 An overview of the immune system

The immune system is a complex arrangement of soluble compounds, cells, and organs that protect against a vast array of intruders and foreign organisms. Entities that can cause disease and considered pathogenic are grouped into four different categories: viruses, fungi, parasites, and bacteria. Features shared within these pathogen groups are some of the exploitable characteristics that the immune system can recognize to attack and eliminate such pathogens. Whether these organisms can cause disease or not is largely defined by their pathogenic potential and by the integrity of the host immune system. Additionally, microenvironments in which immune responses occur can also influence their outcome. Therefore, initial responses by the immune system are dependent on pathogen types and the environments where they occur.

Physical barriers of the body are the first-line of defense against pathogens. Apart from the skin and mucous membranes, physical barriers include acidic and pH sensitive tissues like the stomach and sweat generated from perspiration. Additionally, soluble antimicrobial proteins secreted by epithelial cells can also act as physical barriers. It is only after breaching these physical barriers that immune pathways are triggered.

Distinct and specific types of immune responses are initiated after pathogen recognition. Host cells express soluble or membrane-bound receptors or recognition molecules that are engaged by recognizing specific chemical structures on or derived from pathogens. Additionally, microenvironmental cues and whether pathogens are inside or outside of host cells also helps

demarcate the most effective type of immune response. Integration of all of these signals results in an intracellular or extracellular cascade of events that lead to identification and destruction of pathogens. Engaging these immune pathways prompts the production of an assortment of soluble proteins that aide in identifying and destroying invaders (humoral immunity), and the creation and activation of a sophisticated arrangement of cells that can recognize and kill pathogens (cellular immunity).

Common foreign structures found on or expressed by pathogens are known as pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Vertebrates have evolved to express numerous cell surface and soluble pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that can identify these PAMPs. PRRs are conserved proteins that are also constitutively expressed by several different immune cell types. These PRRs, together with immune pathways engaged by them, represent one of two arms of the immune response, known as innate immunity. However, if innate immune responses were our only defense against quickly evolving pathogens that avoid host detection, how could immune responses that recognize newly arising chemical structures or PAMPs be generated?

To counter this random production of new PAMPs, vertebrate immune systems have evolved to generate diversity when designing some of their recognition molecules. Generation of diversity is accompanied by expression of many identical copies of the same recognition molecule in a group of cells. Likewise, many different groups of cells with specifically diverse recognition molecules are generated at the same time. Theoretically, this approach has potential to generate a large cohort of cells capable of responding to any antigen or new PAMP that poses a threat.

When antigens bind to these receptors, they prompt a clonal selection process that results in massive proliferation of antigen-selected cell clones. These newly selected and expanded clones are capable of destroying pathogens encountered by the initial clones. In contrast to genome encoded PRRs, these unique recognition receptors will vary from individual to individual and are not passed on to offspring.

The second arm of immune responses, also known as adaptive immunity, largely consists of these randomly generated but more antigen-specific responses. Both innate and adaptive immune systems cooperate to guard hosts from foreign invaders. Innate responses are rapid and less-specific, and their activation produces signals that are required to stimulate and engage adaptive immune responses. Adaptive responses can take days to develop but are highly specialized against antigens from pathogens. This second arm of the immune system mainly relies on B- and T-lymphocytes, cells with receptors that undergo diversity generation via DNA recombination. Therefore, adaptive immunity is slower because fewer cells express the specific receptors necessary for antigens of interest. Adaptive immunity is also slower because it relies on prior encounters to antigen, previous innate processes, and clonal selection.

Overall, adaptive immunity comprises of complex set of chemical signals and cells that generate specific and, ideally, long-lived responses that protect against future encounters with the same antigen. Indeed, the first exposure to antigen results in primary immune responses that conclude in the creation of memory cells. This immunologic memory provides the immune system with abilities to respond much more quickly to subsequent contact with the same pathogen. As such,

B- and T-lymphocyte memory cells are activated almost immediately with antigen re-encounter, and possess improved and specific eradication potential. Additionally, memory cells can remain in the host's body for decades after the first encounter with antigen. However, in some instances, one encounter with antigen is not enough to produce a sufficiently strong primary immune response that culminates with generation of memory cells. Sometimes two or more instances of antigen encounter are necessary to develop immunologic memory and guarantee a successful secondary immune response.

In the following sections of Part-I of this Chapter, I will expand the discussion on innate and adaptive immune responses by broadly reviewing how they function and are regulated. Additionally, I will present the main soluble factors and tissue components involved in complex immune responses. Finally, I will end the discussion with an introduction to a more insidious enemy of the immune system: transformed self-cells that acquire malignant properties.

1.2 Macro- and microenvironments of the immune system

Effective immune responses rely on co-localization of pathogens, cells of the immune system, and necessary signaling molecules. Therefore, for the immune system to be as effective as possible it has to be highly dispersed and mostly decentralized (Parkin & Cohen, 2001). To this end, specialized structures of immune activity are distributed throughout the body and positioned in key areas of significance to assist with sentinel activity. Although tissue-resident immune cells exist in most tissues, great numbers of white blood cells, particularly lymphocytes,

are in constant circulation throughout the body. These tissue-resident and circulating white blood cells mediate both innate and adaptive immune responses.

The most challenging problem for a disseminated system is coordinating and communicating what needs to occur for aggressive and properly directed immune responses. The communication needed for the cells involved in innate and adaptive responses is controlled by secreted messenger proteins known as cytokines (Dinarello, 2007). Whether membrane bound or soluble, these proteins bind to receptors on target cells and will typically stimulate cellular responses that range from proliferation, differentiation, and/or activation. Chemokines, a subset of cytokines, are particularly important since they relay the gradient of chemical stimulus necessary for recruiting target cells to a site of interest (Palomino & Marti, 2015). Often, more than one cytokine, chemokine, and soluble factor is involved in recruiting cells for pathogen elimination. These general communication and coordination events are illustrated in (**Figure 1.1**).





Figure 1.1 | Cytokine-mediated cell-to-cell communication. Cells from the immune system communicate by exchanging and perceiving secreted cytokines. Three modes of communication can occur: autocrine (cytokine signaling to self), paracrine (cytokine signaling to neighboring cells), and endocrine (cytokine signaling to distant tisseus through the circulation). Figure adapted from (Altan-Bonnet & Mukherjee, 2019).

Successful immune responses require precise and exact maneuvering of multiple cell types. Initial phases of these responses rely on innate immune components like neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages to mount immediate lines of defenses against pathogens (Parkin & Cohen, 2001). Next, antigen presenting cells prime and activate lymphoid cells, which coordinate the ensuing antigen-specific adaptive immunity. Finally, memory from these adaptive responses is generated to respond to future exposures to the same antigen (Ratajczak et al., 2018). These highly coordinated and exact events are made possible by the specialized anatomy of the immune system and numerous white blood cell effectors. This anatomy includes primary and secondary lymphoid organs interconnected by two circulatory systems: the blood and lymphatic systems. All white blood cells necessary for effective immune responses are derived from a single cell type, the hematopoietic stem cell (HSC).

1.2.1 Hematopoiesis and cells of the immune system

HSCs are defined by the capacity to regenerate or "self-renew" and the ability to differentiate into diverse cell types, known as multipotency. However, there are limits to this multipotency, since with aging, the number and potential of self-renewing of HSCs is greatly reduced (Geiger et

al., 2014; Yang & de Haan; 2021). These cells originate in fetal tissues and reside primarily in the bone marrow of adult vertebrates, with smaller numbers found in adult liver and spleen. HSCs are an uncommon subset of tissue-specific stem cells, with tightly controlled proliferation and differentiation potential (Rieger & Schroeder, 2012).

Hematopoiesis is a process by which HSCs differentiate into mature blood cells, including both red blood cells (erythroid cells), and white blood cells (leukocytes). Under steady-state or homeostatic conditions – lack of pathogenic challenge – most HSCs are quiescent, and only a few of these cells are actively proliferating (Doulatov et al., 2012). Daughter cells can either retain the characteristics of their mother HSC and remain self-renewing, or they can further differentiate into other cell types. During infections or after radio- or chemo-therapy, there can be an increased demand for hematopoiesis and HSCs can proliferate in copious amounts.

There are several different types of HSCs. The various kinds of HSCs differ in their capacity to selfrenew and their pluripotency ability to generate all blood cell types. Long-term HSCs (LT-HSCs) retain pluripotency throughout the lifetime of an organism and are the most quiescent stem cells. Cells derived from LT-HSCs that can generate all lineages with more frequency, but with reduced self-renewal capability, are known as short-term HSCs (ST-HSCs). Multipotent progenitors (MPPs) have a much more limited ability to self-renew but are still capable of generating all lineages (Doulatov et al., 2012).

As HSCs differentiate and progress into becoming MPPs they receive microenvironment cues for lineage commitment. These cells can either become myeloid or lymphoid progenitor cells, generally known as common myeloid progenitors (CMP) or common lymphoid progenitors (CLP), respectively. CMPs, as suggested by their names, give rise to myeloid cells, which are members of the innate immune system and are some of the first responders against pathogens or antigens. In one hand, cells including monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, some subsets of dendritic cells, red blood cells and platelets, are generated from CMP cells. In the other hand, CLPs give rise to B- and T-lymphocytes, specific dendritic cell populations, and innate lymphoid cells. These latter populations of cells have roles in both innate and adaptive immunity, while B- and Tlymphocytes participate in antigen-specific adaptive immunity (Kondo et al., 1997; Akashi et al., 2000).

Seminal studies of stem cell biology using mouse models identified modifications in surface marker expression that were characteristic of the different stages HSCs go through while transitioning to specific cell lineages. Mouse HSCs were first isolated as a lineage-negative (Lin⁻), c-Kit⁺, Sca1⁺ (LSK) population or LSK-HSCs (Spangrude et al., 1988; Ikuta and Weissman, 1992). Further classification identified that CD34⁻ LSK cells retain attributes of long-term multilineage reconstitution and self-renewal (Osawa et al., 1996). Current models of lineage determination are illustrated in (**Figure 1.2**). The distinction of different environmental signals that stimulate HSC differentiation and the capacity to isolate purified HSCs has allowed for detailed analysis of transcriptional and epigenetic factors that drive HSCs in any of the possible developmental pathways available (Ivanova et al., 2002; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002; Ji et al., 2010). Many

transcription factors identified with these approaches have also been shown to be involved in several developmental stages of hematopoiesis. However, the molecular and biochemical understanding of these transcription factors and pathways that underlie HSC function are continuing to grow. Figure 1.2



Figure 1.2 | Hematopoietic lineage hierarchies in adult mouse and human. Major classes of stem and progenitor cells describe in the text are shown, and defined by cell surface markers. Long-term (LT), intermediate-term (IT), short-term (ST), lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitors (LMPPs), multilymphoid progenitors (MLPs), earliest thymic progenitors (ETPs), granulocyte-monocyte progenitors (GMPs), and megakaryocyte-erythrocyte progenitors (MEPs). Figure adapted as is from (Doulatov et al., 2012).

1.2.1a Myeloid lineage cells

Erythroid cells and megakaryocytes

Erythrocytes or red blood cells have high concentrations of hemoglobin and deliver oxygen to all cells and tissues while circulating through blood vessels. Although erythrocytes primarily labor in oxygen exchange, they also play a role in innate immunity by expressing surface receptors that bind antibodies which are later cleared by scavenging macrophages. Additionally, these cells can produce compounds like nitric oxide which can directly damage pathogens. In turn, damaged red blood cells may also release damage signals to prime other innate immune responses. Finally, megakaryocytes are large bone marrow-residing myeloid cells that produce many platelets – small cells or cell fragments that participate in the process of blood clotting. Clots form a physical barrier that may also help in preventing further dissemination of pathogens (Frame et al., 2013).

Granulocytes

Often first responders during an immune response, granulocytes encompass neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, and mast cells (Friedman, 2002). All granulocytes have multilobed nuclei

and granulocyte subtypes differ by the staining patterns of their cytoplasmic granules. When these cells are activated in response to pathogenic insults, their cytoplasmic granules, which are membrane-bound vesicles containing proteins with distinct functions, are released and indirectly and directly help in inhibiting pathogenic activities (Borregaard, 2010). Additionally, these cells help shape and influence necessary adaptive immune responses.

Myeloid antigen-presenting cells

Phagocytic cells by excellence, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells are professional antigen-presenting cells (pAPCs) indispensable for connecting the innate and adaptive immune systems (Geissmann et al., 2010). Activated at first contact with antigen at sites of infection, these cells travel to lymph nodes and display peptides from pathogens to T-lymphocytes. Although all cells are capable of presenting peptides on MHC class-I molecules, pAPCs are also capable of presenting peptides on MHC class-I molecules, pAPCs are also capable of presenting peptides on MHC class-I molecules, papers that attract with antigens, essential roles of pAPCs include production and secretion of proteins that attract and activate other immune cells. pAPCs phagocytose pathogens or antigens and digest their foreign proteins into peptides. These peptides are then presented on the surface membrane of pAPCs via either MHC class molecules – through both conventional and unconventional endogenous and exogenous antigen presentation (Lee et al., 2020).

Dendritic cells (DCs), are the most potent pAPCs for naïve T-lymphocytes. DCs receive their name due to long membranous extensions that resemble the dendrites of nerve cells. These membranous processes are capable of extending and retracting, which increases the surface area

DCs have available for sampling both for antigens and T-lymphocytes. Particularly characteristic of DCs is how they sample for antigens in tissues but present them more efficiently in lymph nodes, initiating adaptive immune responses (Bajénoff et al., 2007). Immature DCs take up antigen in peripheral tissues by three different mechanisms: receptor-mediated endocytosis, by pinocytosis – interstitial space liquid filtering performed by cells – or by engulfing antigens through phagocytosis.

Antigen-stimulated DCs mature and upregulate expression of costimulatory surface molecules required for proper and optimal activation of T-lymphocytes (Banchereau et al., 2000). Maturation also prepares DCs for entry into lymphatic or blood vessels and migration into the closest lymph node, where they present antigen to naïve T-cells. Additionally, DCs are capable of performing a process termed cross-presentation, which combines actions from endogenous and exogenous pathways of antigen presentation (Jung et al., 2002; Joffre et al., 2012; Alloatti et al., 2016). In this process, exogenous antigens internalized by DCs gain access to endogenous presentation pathways and become associated with MHC class-I molecules, leading to activation of antigen-specific lymphocytes.

1.2.1b Lymphoid lineage cells

Lymphocytes are the main components of adaptive immune responses and sources of immunologic memory. Lymphocytes are made up of three major populations: innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) – which include natural killer (NK) cells, – B-lymphocytes (B-cells), and T-lymphocytes (T-cells) (Artis & Spits, 2015). These cells circulate blood and lymphatic vessels and constantly

migrate to and surveil tissues like intestine linings, airways, and reproductive tracts, among others.

Lymphocyte subsets possess similar physical characteristics. Thus, researchers rely on profiling of their surface proteins to differentiate lymphocyte subpopulations. Using the cluster of differentiation (CD) nomenclature, which labels the surface proteins expressed on cells, different subtypes of lymphocytes can be identified. Depending on the developmental and activation state of B- and T-lymphocytes, many different CD proteins are expressed on their surface. Additionally, each B- and T-cell expresses an antigen-specific receptor on their surface, the B- or T-cell receptor, respectively (Germain, 2002; Eibel et al., 2014). From lymphocyte-to-lymphocyte, there is remarkable diversity within their surface expressed antigen-specific receptors. However, all copies of antigen-specific receptors on the surface of one single B cell or T cell are identical in structure and specificity (Roth, 2014). When prompted to proliferate and clonally expand, all progeny from one specific lymphocyte shares the same antigen-specific receptor as their mother cell. At any given moment, there are tens to hundreds of thousand different antigen-specific Band T-cell clones circulating around the body.

Innate lymphoid cells

Although derived from common lymphoid progenitors, innate lymphoid cells do not express antigen-specific receptors (Varadé et al., 2021). Many ILCs are first responders against insults in epithelial and mucosal tissues, and are distinguished by their cytokine secretion profile. ILCs are divided into three groups (ILC1-3), but much of this field is still under active investigation

(Gasteiger & Rudensky, 2014; Artis & Spits, 2015). Cytotoxic natural killer cells are the most studied member of ILCs. NK cells are very efficient at killing target cells via release of their cytotoxic granules. These cells are capable of recognizing and attacking target cells that lack expression of MHC class-I molecules on their surface. Also, NK cells express receptors against the Fc portions of antibodies – Fc receptors or FcRs – that allow them to come into close contact with target cells and induce cell death by a process known as antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Vivier et al., 2018).

B lymphocytes

B cells were found to mature in the bursa of Fabricius in birds, which explains their one letter designation. In mice, humans, and other mammals, the major site of maturation for B cells is the bone marrow. Mature B cells express membrane-bound antibodies, also known as B-cell receptors (BCRs), and each B cell expresses a surface immunoglobulin with unique antigen specificity that can recognize soluble or particulate antigen. The ability of B cells to bind antigen can also be greatly improved by a process called somatic hypermutation. These cells are also capable of undergoing antibody class switching, a process that generates antibodies of several distinct functional classes that can interact with different effector molecules (Wang et al., 2020).

Activated B lymphocytes may additionally act as pAPCs by internalizing antigens with their antigen-specific BCRs. By presenting antigens, activated B cells help in activating T lymphocytes with the expression of costimulatory molecules on their surface. Likewise, B cells receive help from these T cells in the form of cytokine stimulations. Such stimulus induces B cell differentiation

into memory and plasma cells, the latter which are responsible for massive secretion of antigenspecific immunoglobulins (Wang et al., 2020).

T lymphocytes

Like B cells, T cells derive their one letter designation from their site of maturation, the thymus. As well, T cells express unique antigen-specific receptors, known as T-cell receptors (TCRs). Unlike BCRs, TCRs can only recognize processed pieces of antigen – peptides – that are bound to and presented by MHC molecules. MHC-peptide complexes allow cells to showcase on their surface both self- and non-self-antigens for T cells to browse from. MHC class-I molecules are expressed by virtually all nucleated cells and class-II molecules are principally expressed by pAPCs (Kumar et al., 2018).

T cells are divided into two major types, T helper (T_H) cells and T cytotoxic (T_c) cells. These cell types are distinguished from each other by surface expression of the membrane glycoproteins CD4 and CD8, respectively. T cells displaying CD4 will recognize antigen-MHC class-II complexes and T lymphocytes displaying CD8 will recognize antigen peptides loaded on MHC class-I molecules. When binding to peptide-MHC complexes occurs, naïve CD8⁺ T cells become activated, proliferate, and differentiate into cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). CTLs monitor cells of the body in search for non-self-antigen displaying targets such as virus infected cells, and tumor cells.

Naïve CD8⁺ T cells rely on help from mature CD4⁺ T cells for proper proliferation and differentiation. Activated CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into a variety of T_H subtypes like T helper type 1 (T_H1), and T helper type 2 (T_H2) cells, among others. T_H1 cells help to regulate responses against intracellular pathogens, while T_H2 cells help fight extracellular pathogens like bacteria. By producing different sets of cytokines, each CD4⁺ T_H cell subtype aides in activation of B cells, T_C cells, and some myeloid cells. Ultimately, activated helper subtypes are defined by the types of threats or pathogens that initiated the immune responses (Luckheeram et al., 2012).

Finally, a specific subset of CD4⁺ T cells, that can either arise during maturation in the thymus or is induced at sites of immune responses, adds to the diversity of T cell subpopulations. Regulatory T cells (T_{REGS}), recognized by presence of CD4 and CD25 molecules on their surface, along with expression of the transcription factor FoxP3, have the unique ability of inhibiting immune responses (Togashi et al., 2019). By binding to self-proteins with high affinity, T_{REG} cells defend against autoreactive immune responses and help in limiting overaction and hyperactivation of other T cell subtype responses.

NKT cells

NKT cells possess features of both innate and adaptive immune cells. Some NKT cells express CD4 on their surface while all have TCRs. Unlike most T cells, NKT versions of TCRs are less diverse and do not recognize protein peptides (Benlagha et al., 2002), instead TCRs on NKT cells recognize lipids and glycolipids. These cells also contain receptors associated with NK cells, like the ones discussed above. Although the exact roles of these cells remain to be fully understood, we know

that activated NKT cells are involved in direct cytotoxic activity and in secretion of cytokines to both enhance or suppress immune responses. Their involvement in autoimmunity and cancer has also been documented (Bae et al., 2019).

1.2.2 Primary lymphoid organs

HSCs reside in specialized microenvironments with supportive cells. These microenvironments nurture stem cells throughout all their stages like proliferation, differentiation, survival, and trafficking. While HSCs can be found circulating in blood vessels, the main and primary site of hematopoiesis through adult life is the bone marrow. Many differentiated cells derived from HSCs also reside in these specialized microenvironments. For example, in both mice and humans, bone marrow microenvironments support maturation of B lymphocytes. However, T lymphocyte precursors leave the bone marrow and complete their maturation in the thymus (Thapa & Farber, 2019).

1.2.2a Hematopoiesis in the bone marrow

The site of hematopoiesis changes during embryonic development, shifting several times before transitioning into the bone marrow, the adult stem cell niche. Hematopoiesis begins with precursor cells in the yolk sac of an embryo. Fetal HSCs capable of generating all blood cell types are found close to the kidneys, in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros (AGM). Mature HSCs are also found in the fetal placenta and fetal liver, with placental pools of HSCs eventually diminishing as the numbers of HSCs in the liver expand. HSCs first traffic to the bone marrow at later stages of fetal development and most bones in the body are haematopoietically active until around the age of 18. At this stage, HSCs mostly reside in the vertebrae, ribs and sternum, skull, pelvis, and bones in the arms and legs like the humerus and femur, respectively (Rieger & Schroeder, 2012).

The marrow, or medullary cavity, is a non-hard sponge-like matrix filled with stromal cells that provides structure and support for hematopoiesis. Stromal cells in the marrow include: endothelial cells lining blood vessels, perivascular cells with varied functions, sympathetic nerves for signal transmission and communication, macrophages that regulate activities of other niche cells, and osteoblasts which generate bone tissue (Al-Drees et al., 2015). Generally, most HSCs remain quiescent while some divide and differentiate into progenitor cells that replenish both myeloid and lymphoid lineages. Progenitor B lymphocytes are commonly found in association with osteoblasts and complete most of their development within the bone marrow. More mature B cells eventually exit the bone marrow to complete their maturation in the spleen. Meanwhile, progenitors of T lymphocytes exit the bone marrow at very early stages and complete their development in the thymus (Al-Drees et al., 2015).

<u>1.2.2b The thymus and T-cell maturation</u>

T cell development is not complete until T cells undergo selection in the primary lymphoid organ of T cell maturation (Geenen, 2021). After T cell progenitors, known as thymocytes, arrive via circulation to the thymus, they progress through multiple microenvironments and developmental stages to become fully functional T cells. Here, with support from thymic epithelial cells, thymocytes generate unique TCRs that are selected to maturity based on their reactivity with self-peptide-MHC complexes (Miller, 2011). These developing thymocytes are

screened for their capacity to recognize self-MHC molecules (positive selection), and against autoreactivity (negative selection), which eliminates thymocytes with TCRs that bind self-MHC complexes with high affinity. This selection process is very stringent and most thymocytes do not survive all these stages of development, with a majority of cells dying because they have low affinity for self-MHC molecules (Thapa & Farber, 2019).

Expression of CD4 and CD8 molecules is used to distinguish thymocytes at different stages of development. Double negative (DN) thymocytes lack expression of both surface molecules and are at the most immature stage of development. After entering one of the distinct microenvironments of the thymus, DN thymocytes upregulate expression of both CD4 and CD8 molecules, becoming double positive (DP) cells. As T cells mature, they become single positive (SP) by losing expression of one molecule or the other (Thapa & Farber, 2019). CD8⁺ T cells become cytotoxic killer cells and CD4⁺ T cells develop into helper cells. The final steps of maturation occur in the periphery or circulation, once these SP T-cells exit the thymus, they surveil the body for antigen presentation in secondary lymphoid organs like the spleen and lymph nodes (Klein et al., 2014).

1.2.3 Secondary lymphoid organs

Many cells of the immune system encounter antigen and formally initiate immune responses in microenvironments of secondary lymphoid tissues and organs (Randall et al., 2008). Cell trafficking to secondary lymphoid organs like the spleen and lymph nodes occurs via both blood and lymphatic vessels, with white blood cells having exclusive access to the lymphatic system.

These lymphatic vessels connect to and drain many tissues (which could be sites of infection or inflammation) to provide a travelling road for antigens and activated immune cells. Most secondary lymphoid tissues connect to lymphatic vessels. However, the spleen, as an exception, is served primarily by blood vessels (Neely & Flajnik, 2016). Travel of immune cells through both lymph and blood vessels is aided by gradients of chemokines secreted by multiple cell types including pAPCs, lymphocytes, stromal cells, and epithelial cells.

1.2.3a The lymph nodes

Lymph nodes (LNs) are tissues completely dedicated to regulation of immune responses. LNs contain networks of stromal cells for support, macrophages, dendritic cells, and many lymphocytes (Bajénoff et al., 2007; Johnson, 2021). Structurally, lymph nodes are composed of three concentric distinct microenvironments: the cortex, the paracortex, and the medulla. The outermost layer, the cortex, contains organized follicles mostly comprised of B cells, macrophages, and follicular dendritic cells. The paracortex or T-cell zone, found within the cortex, is largely populated by T cells and dendritic cells that migrated from nearby tissues. Finally, the medulla is the innermost layer and represents the exit point for all lymphocytes. Populations of lymphocytes are scarce in this last microenvironment, with the exception of antibody secreting plasma cells.

T cells in the lymph nodes

As soon as naïve T lymphocytes enter lymph nodes, they start browsing MHC-peptide antigen complexes presented by APCs in the paracortex. TCRs that successfully bind MHC-peptide

complexes stop migrating and take residence in the current lymph node for several days while they proliferate. Depending on cues from APCs, T cells will differentiate into effector cells like CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ lymphocytes. T cells that do not find their MHC-peptide match exit the lymph node and continue circulating through the body (Bajénoff et al., 2007).

B cells in the lymph nodes

High-affinity and antibody-secreting plasma cells are products of differentiated B cells originally activated in lymph node follicles, or B-cell follicles. BCR engagement with antigen and contact with activated CD4⁺ T_H cells are necessary for optimal activation of B cells (von Andrian & Mempel, 2003; Kuka & Iannacone, 2018). Small soluble antigens are capable of entering B-cell follicles on their own, while larger antigens are presented by follicular dendritic cells. B cells that successfully bind antigen with their BCRs become partially activated and also engulf their bound antigen for processing. Once this occurs, B cells migrate into T-cell zones to proliferate and finish differentiation into either antibody-producing plasma cells or B cells that will create a germinal center in another follicle. Secondary follicles or germinal centers are where B cells proliferate and undergo clonal selection to produce B cells with high-affinity neutralizing antibodies (Kuka & Iannacone, 2018).

Memory T and B cells in the lymph nodes

Interactions between APCs and activated T_H cells will eventually produces memory T and B cells. Memory effector cells exit lymph nodes and circulate to other tissues or to the site of pathogen encounter. Memory cells can take residence in lymph nodes and become central memory cells, which are distinct in phenotype and function from those that exit lymph nodes. Some memory cells become tissue-resident memory cells that settle long-term in peripheral tissues (von Andrian & Mempel, 2003).

1.2.3b The spleen

This secondary lymphoid organ plays a major role in organizing immune responses against bloodborne pathogens. While lymph nodes drain antigens from local tissues, the spleen helps fight systemic infections by responding to blood-borne antigens (Neely & Flajnik, 2016). Since spleens are not supplied with lymphatic vessels, antigens and lymphocytes are trafficked into and out spleens through splenic arteries, and splenic veins, respectively (Lewis et al., 2019). Spleens are compartmentalized into two main microenvironments, the red pulp and the white pulp, with the marginal zones in between them. While red pulps include circulating and dying red blood cells, white pulps contain B-cell follicles and a network of T lymphocytes, known as the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath (PALS) (Lewis et al., 2019).

Initiation of adaptive immune responses within spleens involve circulating naïve B cells that encounter antigen in their B cell follicles. Naïve CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells encounter MHC-peptide complexes on surfaces from APCs in the PALS or T-cell zones. Activated CD4⁺ T_H cells also provide help to B cells and T cells that have similarly recognized their cognate antigens. Afterwards, CD8⁺ T cells exit into circulation and some CD4⁺ T cells and B cells are left behind to form germinal center follicles, allowing for generation of memory B cells and plasma cells (Lewis et al., 2019).

1.2.4 Tertiary lymphoid tissues

Sites of active infection and immune activity are considered tertiary lymphoid tissues. Activated effector lymphocytes and tissue-resident memory cells that return to areas of insult and inflammation create new microenvironments for organized immune responses, like B-cell follicles and T cell areas. Tertiary lymphoid tissues are ectopic sites where immune responses can develop independently of secondary lymphoid organ activity, although there remains a fair number of uncharacterized properties regarding how immune responses are sustained in these structures (Carragher et al., 2008; Gago da Graça et al., 2021).

1.3 Innate immunity

Innate immune responses are quickly engaged following exposure to foreign antigens. Both cellular activity and anatomical barriers – physical and chemical barriers – are involved in innate immune responses. However, for the purpose of this discussion, I will focus on reviewing the former. Cellular innate immune responses are quickly activated as soon as pathogens overcome physical and chemical barriers. Engagement of cell surface or intracellular receptors (PRRs) that recognize conserved molecular components from pathogens (PAMPs) is the initial step in a sequence of events to eliminate such pathogens. Engaged receptors prompt immune cells to phagocytose extracellular threats, while other receptors stimulate production of an array of proteins and substances. These produced factors have a range of effects from direct antipathogenic activity, to recruitment and activation of additional immune cells (Kimbrell & Beutler, 2001). Despite the proficiency of the innate arm of immunity, some pathogens overcome these

innate immunity effector mechanisms, which is why innate immunity also helps promote a successful adaptive immune response (Gasteiger & Rudensky, 2014).

1.3.1 Innate response receptors and signaling

To combat infections, the innate immune system has developed several families of pattern recognitions receptors with essential roles in kickstarting desired immune responses. The presence of numerous PRRs guarantees that cells can recognize not only PAMPs from almost any pathogen but also damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) released by damaged cells and tissues – including stress signals released by intestines after chemotherapy. Some PRRs are expressed on cellular plasma membranes to detect extracellular PAMPs or DAMPs, while others are found inside cells and recognize endocytosed or cytosolic antigens like nucleic acids from replicating viruses (Hato & Dagher, 2015).

Toll-like receptors

Included in the families of PRRs are 13 different membrane proteins called toll-like receptors (TLRs) that upon antigen binding are induced to homo- or heterodimerize and activate a varied set of immune responses. To respond as efficiently as possible to multiple potential ligands or antigens, TLRs exist in both plasma membranes and endosomal and lysosomal membranes. TLRs expressed on plasma membranes recognize PAMPs like lipopolysaccharides, peptidoglycans, and other components of fungi, bacteria, or parasites (Chaplin, 2010).

Intracellular TLRs recognize ligands like DNA and RNA, which are released during endosomal and lysosomal degradation of pathogens like bacteria and viruses. There are several distinct signaling responses that can be activated after TLRs bind their ligand. Responses initiated by TLRs will depend on the TLR that is engaged and adapter proteins (MyD88 or TRIF) that associate with their cytoplasmic portions. Overall, signaling pathways activated by TLRs involve transcription factors like NF-kB, AP-1, and interferon regulatory factors (IRF) (Kawai & Akira, 2010).

C-type lectin receptors

Another family of cell surface PRRs is the C-type lectin receptors (CLRs). This family of receptors recognizes carbohydrate components like mannose, glucans, and fucose derived from all sorts of pathogens like fungi, bacteria, and parasites. Signaling pathways of most CLRs depend on cytoplasmic protein kinase-mediated phosphorylation for activation of transcription factors. Subsequently, gene expression changes caused by these transcription factors includes expression of genes that code for proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1β, IL-23, and TNF (Iwasaki & Medzhitov, 2015; Brown et al., 2018).

NOD-like receptors

Nucleotide oligomerization domain or NOD-like receptors (NLRs) are a large family of cytosolic proteins activated by intracellular PAMPs or DAMPs. Many NLRs have poorly characterized functions, and they are divided into three major groups based mostly on their structural features (Kawai & Akira, 2010). These PRRs bind intracellular PAMPs, like cell wall components, and can initiate signaling pathways upstream of IRF, MAPK, and NF-kB (Rathinam et al., 2012).

AIM2-like receptors

ALRs or AIM2-like receptors bind double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) molecules from cytosolic bacteria and viruses (Kawai & Akira, 2010). Upon binding, they form inflammasome structures – large complexes of PRRs protein domains with caspases and other proteins – that promote interferon production and inflammation. These PRRs play an important role in defending hosts from intracellular bacterial infections.

RIG-I-like receptors

RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) cytosolic members, RIG-I and MDA5, bind viral dsRNA. On binding, RLRs undergo conformational changes and form tetramers. These tetramers are arranged into larger assemblies of PRRs that also bind to dsRNA. As with other PRRs, RIG-I-like receptors trigger signaling of transcription factors like NF-kB and IRF, which induces expression of potent antiviral interferons and cytokines (Iwasaki & Medzhitov, 2015; Yoneyama et al., 2015).

cGAS and STING receptors

Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) is a nucleotidyltransferase that recognizes cytosolic DNA. After binding dsDNA, this transferase synthesizes cGAMP – 2', 5'-cyclic GMP-AMP dinucleotide – from GTP and ATP. cGAMP then acts as a messenger and binds STING (stimulator of interferon genes) proteins that are associated to endoplasmic reticulum membranes. STING, also a cytosolic PRR, undergoes conformational changes upon binding of cyclic dinucleotides. These conformational changes reposition STING inside Golgi-complex membranes, where they recruit and activate the
kinase TBK1. In turn, TBK1 phosphorylates and activates IRF3, and NF-kB to produce type-I interferons and cytokines (Jiang et al., 2020).

1.3.2 Effector mechanisms of innate immunity

Innate immune responses protect their hosts by using effector mechanisms that include molecules with direct antipathogenic activity and cellular responses to eliminate pathogens or infected cells. To mount these protective responses, the PRR signaling pathways described above activate transcription factors that in turn encode an arsenal of proteins with the necessary antipathogenic properties. Ultimately, the variety of these proteins is determined by diverse pathogen-derived PAMPs in combination with different immune cell types.

Antimicrobial peptides

Some cells and tissues, particularly epithelial cells, constitutively express defensin and cathelicidin peptides, which are important protective physical barriers (De Smet & Contreras, 2005). Neutrophils are another example of cells that constitutively synthesize and package defensins and cathelicidins into granules, which they use to kill phagocytosed bacteria, viruses or parasites (Borregaard, 2010). Many other cell types express these peptides after stimulation of their PRRs, particularly of TLRs and NLRs.

Cytokines and chemokines

Several key cytokines are transcriptionally induced by PRR activation. Cytokines have roles in activating and regulating a wide array of inflammatory, innate, and adaptive immune responses.

These roles can range from recruiting and activating lymphocytes, permeabilizing vascular vessels for cell trafficking, and creating systemic effects – like inducing and enhancing hematopoiesis. Some of the most important cytokines include IL-1, TNF α , and IL-6 – a potent proinflammatory cytokine which will be the topic of extensive discussion in Part III of this Chapter, and in Chapter 2 (Iwasaki & Medzhitov, 2015; Brown et al., 2018). Briefly, IL-6 is a class 1 cytokine that activates several signaling pathways upon binding to its receptor, mainly JAK/STAT signaling. IL-6 is produced by monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells, NK cells, lymphocytes, epithelial cells, and vascular endothelial cells. Similarly, it can stimulate and act on bone marrow cells, lymphocytes, and vascular endothelial cells. Immune and inflammatory effects stimulated by IL-6 include promotion of hematopoiesis, increased vascular permeability, and induction of the acute-phase response – a cluster of physiological processes that occurs soon after infections or some malignant conditions (Baumann & Gauldie, 1994).

Chemokines are small proteins that help to effectively recruit cells into, within, and out of tissues. These proteins create a gradient of concentration that induce cells to move towards higher concentrations of protein. Some chemokines are responsible for homeostatic and constitutive migration of white blood cells throughout the body (Hughes & Nibbs, 2018). Other chemokines are induced by PRR activation and have roles in all stages of immune responses like attracting cells to clear infections or to further amplify current immune activities.

Type-I interferons

Type-I interferons are a major class of antimicrobial cytokines induced by PRRs. When infected with a virus and following binding of cytosolic PRRs like ALRs, RLRs, and cGAS, many cell types are stimulated to produce IFN α and IFN β via activation of IRF transcription factors. IFN α and IFN β exert their antiviral effects by binding to IFN α receptors (IFNAR) expressed by most cell types. IFNAR bound to ligands will dimerize and induce activation of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway, which allows for STAT1 and STAT2 dimers to enter the nucleus and initiate transcription of specific genes. Genes turned on by IFN signaling are regarded as interferon-signaling genes (ISGs) and include: protein kinase R (PKR) that is activated by dsDNA binding, 2', 5'-Oligoadenylate A synthetase (OAS) which is activated by dsRNA biding, and IFN-induced proteins with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFIT), also activated by dsRNA binding (Yan & Chen, 2012; McNab et al., 2015). Additionally, type-I interferons increase expression of MHC class-I molecules in target cells, allowing them to be more easily recognized by effector T_C cells (Musella et al., 2021). These cytokines are also important for regulating cancer immunosurveillance and the activities of macrophages and NK cells (Zitvogel et al., 2015).

Phagocytosis

Cellular uptake and destruction of particulates is an important line of defense against pathogens. Phagocytosis is mainly carried out by monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and dendritic cells. Phagocytic activity is engaged through various cell surface receptors which induce polymerization of actin microfilaments and extension of the phagocyte's plasma membrane to engulf and internalize pathogens. Phagosomes – the vesicles with engulfed pathogens – are then fused with

lysosomes, which deliver hydrolytic enzymes and prompt changes in pH to kill and degrade entrapped pathogens (Rosales & Uribe-Querol, 2017).

Aging cells or cells that have died from damage (necrosis) or apoptosis (programmed cell death) are also eliminated by phagocytic cells. Dead or dying cells attract phagocytes by releasing DAMPs and engaging their PRRs (Gordon, 2016). Apoptotic cells induce phagocytic activity by releasing or expressing "eat-me" signals like lipids, proteins like annexin-1, and carbohydrates on their surface. In contrast, healthy cells express a larger amount of "do not eat-me" signals like the surface protein CD47, which transmits phagocytosis inhibitory signals through SIRPα receptors on macrophages (Gordon, 2016).

1.3.3 Innate and adaptive immune system interactions

Many pathogens evolve or have evolving features that allow them to evade innate immune responses. Therefore, antigen-specific responses generated by the adaptive immune system are, in many cases, necessary to successfully and completely eliminate pathogens. To achieve these necessary cell-mediated and antibody responses, the innate immune system provides important initiating and regulating signals (Gasteiger & Rudensky, 2014).

To properly generate adaptive immune responses, pathogens or antigens have to be delivered into lymphoid tissues and exposed to B and T lymphocytes. Once pathogens or antigens arrive to nearby draining lymph nodes, dendritic cells recognize them with their PRRs and are stimulated to begin maturation. After maturation, dendritic cells process antigens and present them bound to MHC class-I molecules, or on MHC class-II. Also, these mature pAPCs upregulate expression of costimulatory molecules like CD80 or CD86. These costimulatory molecules are necessary for proper activation of naïve T cells, which eventually become antigen-specific effector cytotoxic and helper T cells (Iwasaki & Medzhitov, 2015; Sun et al., 2020).

Activated dendritic cells are stimulated to secrete specific cytokines essential for regulating T cell differentiation. Induction and production of various cytokines prompt naïve T cells to differentiate into several types of helper cell subsets like $T_H 1$, $T_H 2$, $T_H 17$ and T_{REGS} , among others. For example, some extracellular bacteria and internalized viruses activate DCs and stimulate them to secrete IL-12, which skews T cell differentiation into a $T_H 1$ subtype. In turn, $T_H 1$ helper cells secrete IFN γ , which promotes macrophage and NK-mediated elimination of infected cells (Sun et al., 2020).

1.4 Adaptive immunity

As discussed above, once naïve B and T lymphocytes exit the bone marrow and thymus, they enter the bloodstream and circulate between secondary and tertiary lymphoid tissues browsing for antigens. Attracted by chemokines to B-cell follicles and T-cell zones, naïve B and T cells, respectively, spend many hours searching for antigens on the surface of APCs. Specifically, processed antigens in the form of MHC-peptide complexes are presented to T cells in the T-cell zones, while unprocessed antigens are presented to B cells in the B-cell zones (Lewis et al., 2019).

1.4.1 Encounter of antigens by lymphocytes

Naïve B cells become partially activated after finding and binding to antigens in B-cell follicles. Subsequently, engagement with activated helper T cells provide B cells with ligands like CD40L, which stimulate CD40 signaling and release of cytokines that promote B cell differentiation. Different helper T cells can provide distinct types of stimulation to B cells. For example, T_H2 cells secrete IL-4 and prompt differentiating B cells to form germinal centers and undergo class switching to produce IgE antibody isotypes (Kuka & Iannacone, 2018).

Naïve CD8⁺ T cells, precursors of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, are major participants in cellular immune response, as they kill infected cells by inducing apoptosis. Like B cells, these CD8⁺ T cells require assistance from helper T cells to become fully activated and to generate memory cells (Kok et al., 2021). Three signals are necessary to produce fully activated T cells. One is triggered by engaging their TCR with MHC-peptide complexes on antigen-presenting cells, while the second is triggered by engagement of costimulatory molecules like CD28. The third signal is provided by local cytokines secreted by both APCs and helper T cells in contact with the naïve T cell. These helper T cells also stimulate DCs to increase both antigen presentation and costimulatory molecule expression. Therefore, DCs licensed by CD4⁺ T cells, deliver their aide to would-be CTLs by forming stable tricellular complexes where T cells engage APCs through MHC-peptide complexes and costimulatory receptors (Borst et al., 2018).

1.5 Immune tolerance

The process and mechanism by which a host is protected from anti self-immune attack is referred to as immune tolerance or self-tolerance. Homeostatic immunologic processes are constantly at work to safely recognize and protect self-components and beneficial commensals like gut bacteria, while stimulating immunity against foreign invaders. Tolerance is achieved by multiple mechanisms, which include protecting immune system components from being exposed to specific antigens (evasion). Also, there are mechanisms in place to remove self-reactive lymphocytes that could cause harm. These lymphocytes are either completely removed by elimination, or they are extrinsically regulated to protect self-structures (engagement) (Goodnow et al., 2005; Gregersen & Behrens, 2006). These processes are delicately balanced to help create self-tolerance while maintaining an immune system that is ready to act against any pathogens.

Evasion

Sequestration, partitioning, or evasion of antigens away from immune cells is an effective way to reduce or completely avoid self-reactivity. For example, the eyes are considered sequestered sites with little or no lymphatic drainage. These features prevent tissue-specific antigens from the eyes from reaching many cells of the immune system (Taylor, 2016). Therefore, in microenvironments where inflammation can be highly destructive, there is bias towards active suppression of anti-self-responses (Forrester et al., 2008).

Elimination and engagement

Central tolerance is a phenomenon that occurs in primary lymphoid tissues by which self-reactive lymphocytes are destroyed or created (Nemazee, 2017; Yap et al., 2018). This elimination occurs first during lymphocyte development, soon after both B- and T-lymphocytes undergo DNA rearrangement to generate diversity on their antigen-specific receptors. At this stage, variable gene regions on the antigen-specific lymphocyte receptors that react against self will be generated. For example, between 20% and 50% of TCRs and BCRs, respectively, generated by DNA recombination bind with too much affinity to self-antigens (Goodnow et al., 2005). However, most of these developing lymphocytes with receptors that recognize self are eliminated by apoptosis through negative selection.

During development, some T cells in the thymus with high affinity against self are positively selected and engaged for survival. These self-reactive cells, known as natural or thymic regulatory T cells (n/tT_{REG} cells), are responsible for suppressing and regulating autoimmune responses against self-antigens in peripheral tissues (Josefowicz & Rudensky, 2012). The grand majority of T_{REG} cells will express CD4 and CD25 molecules on their surface and will also be characterized by expression of the master regulator transcription factor FOXP3 (Lu et al., 2017). These cells dampen immune responses by secreting suppressive cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β , by expressing inhibitory costimulatory molecules like CTLA-4, or even by killing other immune cells. While T_{REGs} are the best characterized cells with immune-inhibitory functions, other cells like subsets of B cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages can also participate in inhibiting anti-self-responses (Devaud et al., 2014; Vadasz et al., 2015; Lu et al., 2017).

Finally, peripheral tolerance is generated and necessary when anti-self lymphocytes manage to escape the process of negative selection in primary lymphoid organs (ElTanbouly & Noelle, 2021). Anti-self lymphocyte escape occurs because not all self-antigens are expressed during the negative selection process and because some weakly self-reactive clones can go unnoticed and survive elimination. What typically occurs next is that naïve T lymphocytes that recognize self-antigen are engaged without proper costimulatory signals and either become apoptotic, unresponsive or anergic, or stimulated to express FOXP3 and become peripheral or induced T_{REGs} (p/iT_{REGs}) (Hasegawa & Matsumoto, 2018; ElTanbouly & Noelle, 2021).

1.5.1 Cancer and the immune system

Cancer occurs when host cells undergo aberrant and uncontrolled cell division that cripples tissue and organ function, eventually leading to death. Since these neoplasms are self in origin, selftolerance mechanisms can block the detection and elimination of cancerous rogue cells. Although many tumor cells express unique or developmentally inappropriate antigens that could make them potential targets for immune responses, the increased genetic instability of these cells can give them an advantage to eventually evade immune detection and elimination. In fact, we know that the immune system is constantly detecting and controlling cancerous cells in the body and that even under this pressure, unregulated cell proliferation and transformation can lead to tumor growth. Ultimately, what is cancer if not the immune system behaving overlytolerant and failing at its job of eliminating a threat?

1.5.1a An overview of cancer biology

Benign tumors are not capable of indefinite growth and do not disseminate nor invade healthy surrounding tissues. However, malignant tumors or cancers continue to grow and become more invasive with time. If left unchecked by the immune system, most malignant tumors will eventually exhibit metastasis – when cancerous cells dislodge from the original tumor and seed distant sites and continue to proliferate (Fares et al., 2020). Embryonic tissues of origin are used to classify cancers, with most being carcinomas – tumors that develop from epithelial origins like skin and linings of internal organs. Less frequent tumors are sarcomas, which arise from mesodermal connective tissues like bone, cartilage, and fat. Finally, there are cancers derived from blood cells, which can develop at different stages of hematopoiesis.

Cell transformations that lead to unregulated proliferation occur via random DNA damaging events, DNA repair defects, exposure to carcinogens, some viral infections, and chromosomal alterations (Blackadar, 2016). Contrary to normal tissues that tightly control cell proliferation and apoptotic events, malignant tumors tend to suffer from imbalances in genes that control these homeostatic processes. Normal cellular genes that are associated with either promoting or blocking cellular proliferation and survival fall into three major categories: oncogenes, tumorsuppressor genes, and apoptotic genes (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Oncogenes

Genes involved in aspects of promoting cell growth and proliferation are known as protooncogenes. Cancer and uncontrolled proliferation may arise from mutated proto-oncogenes –

known as oncogenes – that undergo changes in expression. Proto-oncogenes are encoded by growth factors and their receptors, which can result in uncontrolled proliferation if abnormally expressed. Signal transduction pathways, like those containing the *src* and *abl* genes, are another category of proto-oncogenes (Lee & Muller, 2010). The products of these genes are tyrosine kinases that transduce signals upstream of transcription factors that control cell proliferation and cell cycle progression – *abl* and its gene product will be discussed in further detail in Part II of this Chapter.

Tumor-suppressor genes

These genes encode proteins that inhibit cell proliferation. Normally, tumor-suppressor genes prevent inappropriate progression of cells through the cell cycle and perform DNA repair. Unlike oncogenes, a single allele alteration is typically not sufficient to allow for cell transformation. It is when both allele copies are damaged that these tumor-suppressor genes fail to function properly (Knudson, 1971; Lee & Muller, 2010).

Apoptosis genes

Genes involved with programmed cell death or apoptosis can be either inhibitors or promoters of controlled cell death. Anti-apoptotic genes behave like oncogenes, promoting cell survival, while pro-apoptotic genes behave like tumor-suppressor genes, inhibiting cell survival. Therefore, overactivity or failure, respectively, of genes involved in apoptosis can result in cell transformation and cancer generation (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

However, most cancers do not arise from a single insult to any of these major gene categories. Instead, a series of somatic mutations take cells closer to uncontrolled proliferation, growth, and survival. "Driver" mutations are the early genetic changes that initiate cellular transformative processes and subsequent tumor clonal evolution. While "passenger" mutations arise stochastically as byproducts of genome instability and may or may not have a role in cancer progression (Martínez-Jiménez et al., 2020). Ultimately, as few as one or two genes may be sufficient to serve as driver mutations for any given malignancy.

There are several unifying characteristics, known as cancer hallmarks, supported from studies in animals and humans, that define cancer. These hallmarks represent a series of progressively evolving alterations in normal cells that ultimately enable them to become cancerous (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). These hallmarks include: genome instability, altered metabolomic pathways, sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, activating angiogenesis, activating invasion and metastasis, and having unlimited replicative potential (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). However, it has become increasingly clearer that malignant cells do not arise only from cell-intrinsic alterations, but that microenvironmental conditions and normal cell types that form tumor-associated stroma also play a role in tumorigenesis. The roles and contributions from these stromal cells include allowing cancers to avoid immunological destruction, and enabling inflammation that paradoxically can result in enhanced tumorigenesis (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Additionally, the complexity and heterogeneity of cancer is not only restricted to diverse stromal components. Indeed, there is also heterogeneity within cancer cells, creating vast tumor heterogeneity across cancer types (McGranahan & Swanton, 2017). Consequently, tumor and stroma heterogeneity underscore the challenges in understanding the complex biology of cancer and its treatment. However, advances in cancer genetics and cancer immunotherapy have allowed for recent clinical breakthroughs in the fight against cancer. While there is still no "one-size fits all" approach to treat cancer, our ability to manipulate tumor-specific immune responses has been added to current standards of care to treat cancer patients, promoting better prognoses for many (Hoteit et al., 2021).

<u>1.5.1b Tumor antigens</u>

Cancer cells are self-cells and most of their produced antigens are subject to the same toleranceinducing processes that other normal non-cancerous cells are subject to. However, cancer cells also produce unique antigens that are identified by the immune system, known as tumor derived antigens. These tumor derived antigens are divided into two groups. First, tumor-specific antigens (TSAs) include antigens encoded from genes solely expressed in tumor cells. The most common types of TSAs are derived from single-nucleotide polymorphisms, which cause nonsynonymous mutations that translate to gene products that trigger antigen-specific responses (Smith et al., 2019). Second, tumor-associated antigens (TAAs) include antigens from genes expressed at inappropriate stages of development, overexpression of certain genes, and proteins post-translationally modified (Gubin et al., 2015).

1.5.1c Immune responses to cancer

Cancer immunosurveillance is the mechanism by which the immune system controls or inhibits cancer growth. However, immune involvement in cancer regulation has the potential to both inhibit and enhance tumor progression. The process by which the immune system positively (antitumor) and negatively (protumor) influences which cancerous cells are eliminated or not, is referred as cancer immunoediting (Dunn et al., 2002). This process is divided into three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape. During elimination, cancer cells are identified and destroyed by the immune system until a balance of cell destruction and survival is created, attaining an equilibrium state. After an undefined period of equilibrium, the most aggressive and least immunogenic cancer clones are selected to thrive, spread, and to eventually escape the immune system (Dunn et al., 2002).

Cancer inhibition by innate immunity

Macrophages have a significant role in immune responses to cancer. Macrophages express Fc receptors that recognize antibodies bound to antigens and use them to mediate ADCC. Many tumor-targeting therapeutic antibodies have a human IgG1 portion, which is recognized by Fcv receptors expressed by macrophages. For example, the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab destroys malignant B lymphocytes by engaging Fcv receptors from monocytes and macrophages (Uchida et al., 2004). Additionally, macrophages typically cluster with tumor cells, and the presence of proinflammatory macrophage subtypes, like M1 macrophages, have been correlated with tumor regression (Oshi et al., 2020).

Another type of innate immune cells involved in antitumor immunity are NK cells. These cells have inherent abilities to destroy tumor cells by using a series of surface receptors that recognize activating and inhibiting signals. NK cells can identify and kill tumor cells by detecting lack of selfsignals, like absence of MHC molecules on target cells (Vivier et al., 2011). Additionally, changes or alterations in DAMP expression e.g., due to DNA damage in target cells, can also engage NK cell activity. Once activated, NK cells use cytosolic granules with perforin to kill target cells and also contribute to DC infiltration into tumors by releasing cytokines like IFN γ , TNF α , CCL5 and XCL1 (Bottcher et al., 2018).

Cancer inhibition by adaptive immunity

Cancer cells express tumor antigens that engage BCRs and TCRs, provoking humoral and cellmediated immune responses, respectively. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize tumor antigens presented with MHC class-I molecules on target tumor cells. Meanwhile, B cells respond to tumor-specific antigens by generating antibodies that can promote tumor cell detection and killing.

Ultimately, to unleash potent T cell antitumor immune responses, several stepwise events that engage both innate and adaptive components of the immune system must occur (Demaria et al., 2019). These events are referred to as the Cancer-Immunity Cycle and consist of 7 discrete steps (Chen & Mellman, 2013). First, uptake of tumor antigens must occur by APCs. Second, these antigens are presented through endogenous and exogenous antigen processing pathways to T cells. Third, naïve T cells are primed and activated by recognizing such antigens within LNs.

Fourth, effector T cell trafficking begins through blood vessels. Fifth, effector T cells infiltrate into tumor microenvironments. Sixth, T cells bind to cancer cells using their antigen-specific receptors. Seventh and final, target cancer cells are destroyed by effector T cells. (Chen & Mellman, 2013; Chang & Beatty, 2020).

Cytokines and cancer immunity

Cytokines associated with CTL and T_H1 responses are also linked to antitumor immunity. For example, IFN γ can exert direct antitumor effects on target cells via upregulation of MHC class-I molecules. IFN γ also stimulates MHC class-II expression on APCs. IL-12 is another example, as this cytokine enables dendritic cells to appropriately prime necessary CTL and T_H1 responses (Lippitz, 2013). Other cytokines, like TNF α and IL-6, can have both anti- or pro-tumorigenic effects, highlighting the complex roles of cytokines in tumor immunity. IL-6's pro- and anti-inflammatory effects will be discussed in a portion of Chapter I, Part III.

Taken together, several adaptive and nonadaptive cells are involved in cancer identification and elimination. Although leukocyte infiltration of tumors is important and necessary for cancer control and eradication, prolonged inflammation can have the opposite effect and lead to generation of immune suppressive microenvironments. Consequently, learning more about how the immune system fabricates desired and undesired immune responses to tumors, will better poise us to design more effective preventative and therapeutic strategies for cancer patients.

Chapter 1, Part II: Lymphoid leukemias and chemotherapy induced immunity

2.1 Chronic and acute lymphoid leukemias

Leukemias arise from uncontrolled proliferation of immature and mature hematopoietic cells. As this disease progresses, it leads to disruption of normal hematopoiesis and bone marrow failure. Factors that place people at risk of increased development of leukemia include: genetic disorders, a history of familial leukemia, exposure to certain chemicals, and previous treatment for other cancers.

In this Part-II of the chapter, I will be summarizing and discussing lymphoid leukemias, which are some of the many malignancies that can arise from cells of the immune system. As the name suggests, lymphocytic leukemias affect lymphoid cells. Several forms of lymphoid leukemias exist, with some being more common in children and others in adults. Similarly, the type of lymphoid leukemia and extrinsic factors like the tumor microenvironment determine the complexity of treatment and prognosis of patients. Depending on how fast the disease progresses, leukemias are classified into chronic or acute leukemias, known as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL), respectively. Since the body of work presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis focuses on the study and treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia, the main discussion of this section will be dedicated to ALL and the scientific and clinical progresses made in understanding this disease.

2.1.1 Chronic lymphoid leukemia

B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia or CLL is one of the most common occurring leukemias in the United States, with an estimated 21,250 new cases for 2021 (American Cancer Society, 2021). The clinical evolution of CLL involves the precursor syndrome monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis, intrinsic cell processes like enhanced proliferation and disrupted apoptosis, and extrinsic factors or microenvironmental dependencies (Kitada et al., 1998; Nishio et al., 2005; Strati & Shanafelt, 2015). CLL incidence increases with age, and some families have strong genetic predispositions to develop CLL without any single gene being commonly mutated or associated with the disease (Strati & Shanafelt, 2015). Immunophenotypically, CLL is classified as expressing traditional mature B-cell markers like CD19, CD23, surface immunoglobulins, and the pan-T-cell marker CD5 (Keating et al., 2003).

A central characteristic of CLL is tumor immune resistance early in the progression of disease. Studies showing that allogeneic T cells were unable to generate cytotoxic reactions against CLL target cells are evidence of the potential immunosuppressive features of this cancer (Krackhardt et al., 2002). Others have also documented the early appearance of these immune system defects. For example, overall survival (OS) of CLL patients is predicted at diagnosis by the absolute number of existing T cells and NK cells, along with the lack of some serum immunoglobulins (Rozman et al., 1988; Palmer et al., 2008). Additionally, from disease diagnosis to time of treatment, CLL survival is sustained by microenvironmental changes that include the expansion of suppressive T_{REG} cells and T_{H2} anti-inflammatory cytokine secretion profiles (Podhorecka et al., 2002; Giannopoulos et al., 2008). Work in human and mouse models of CLL have demonstrated that these immunosuppressive effects are largely dependent on the antigen expression profile of CLL (Ramsay et al., 2008; Ramsay et al., 2012). Therefore, reversing immune deficiencies in CLL patients would greatly improve the long-term morbidities associated with this disease.

2.1.1a Treatment of CLL

Despite improved survival of symptomatic CLL with chemo-immunotherapies, CLL is still not cured in a subset of patients. It is estimated that 4,320 Americans will succumb to this disease in 2021 alone (American Cancer Society, 2021). Complete responses (CR) – no detectable cancer after treatment – and OS are only achieved in few patients. Additionally, traditional standard of care agents against this disease are associated with substantial toxicity, which provides even more challenges for the care of patients by physicians. Fortunately, in the past decade, improved characterization of the disease based on molecular features and the use of new molecular-targeted therapies have resulted in more targeted and effective treatments.

Initial treatment of CLL

Treatment for CLL is initiated when patients present with cytopenia, lymphadenopathy, hepatosplenomegaly, and thrombocytopenia (Cheson et al., 1996; Hallek et al., 2008). While different therapies are outlined below, the alkylating agent chlorambucil has served as frontline therapy for CLL for decades and remains in use today, with the most favorable collateral toxicity profile. Multiple schedules and doses of chlorambucil are administered orally to patients as tolerated.

Purine analogues like fludarabine have also become a mainstay therapy with clinical activity in CLL (Grever et al., 1988; Rai et al., 2000). Unfortunately, increases in OS are typically not observed with these agents, while higher toxicity rates compared to chlorambucil are seen in elderly patients. However, high overall response rates (ORR), patients whose tumors are significantly eliminated or completely eliminated, for CLL patients treated with fludarabine prompted several additional studies to compare alkylating agents in combination with fludarabine (Keating et al., 1991; Flinn et al., 2007; Eichhorst et al., 2009). Preclinical studies have demonstrated that DNA-repair mechanisms initiated after treatment with alkylating agents are inhibited by administration of fludarabine (Yamauchi et al., 2001). Later, clinical trials showed that combining fludarabine with chlorambucil was not as efficient as combining fludarabine with another alkylating agent, cyclophosphamide (Elias et al., 1993; Eichhorst et al., 2006). Overall, these large studies demonstrated that therapy with the FC regimen (fludarabine and cyclophosphamide) produces better and longer progression-free survival than single agents alone.

Rituximab, an agent that targets the CD20 antigen on the surface of normal and cancerous B lymphocytes, is also clinically active against CLL (Byrd et al., 2001; Jaglowski et al., 2010). Some of rituximab's mechanisms of action that likely contribute to apoptosis in CLL include the induction of complement-dependent cytotoxicity and ADCC. In general, this drug also has a favorable toxicity profile which has led to its combination with several other chemotherapies like the ones previously mentioned, thus creating the FC-rituximab (FCR) regimen (Byrd et al., 2003; Keating et al., 2005).

Most patients younger than 65 years of age are considered for FCR schedules as initial therapy. Another option available for patients of all demographics and aged 65 or older is ibrutinib, a Bruton tyrosine kinase (Btk) inhibitor that targets BCR signaling (Honigberg et al., 2010). Recent clinical trials have shown significant improvements in PFS and OS for patients treated with ibrutinib over chlorambucil, which resulted in the approval of this inhibitor as frontline treatment for CLL patients (Burger et al., 2015).

Treatment of relapsed CLL

Patients that experience relapse with CLL are treated with similar regimens than those experiencing an initial diagnosis of CLL. However, as the CLL could potentially become more advanced on relapse, patients also undergo cytogenetic analysis and assessment of mutational status on genes of interest. Nonetheless, for patients younger than 65 years, a repeat of FCR regimen or ibrutinib is normally administered. For many older patients, the use of chemo-immunotherapy is not tolerated and targeted inhibitors like rituximab and ibrutinib are preferred. Finally, for patients that progress after kinase inhibitor treatments, schedules with venetoclax or idelalisib and rituximab are favored (Chantry et al., 1997; Roberts et al., 2016).

2.1.2 Acute lymphoid leukemia

There are 5,690 estimated new cases of acute lymphocytic leukemia or ALL in the United States for 2021 (American Cancer Society, 2021). Children and teenagers account for half or more of these cases, which makes ALL the most frequent cause of death from cancer in ages 20 or lower, with the highest incidence occurring at three to five years of age (Ries et al., 1999; Linabery &

Ross, 2008). Fortunately, the 5-year overall survival rate is about 90% for children and 80% in adolescents, although survival following relapse remains poor (Smith et al., 2010; Santiago et al., 2017). The other half of cases occur largely in patients of 60 years of age or older, revealing a bimodal pattern of incidence for this disease (Dores et al., 2012). However, the overall survival rate in adults over the age of 60 is under 30% (Faderl et al., 2010; Gökbuget et al., 2012). Additionally, all forms of ALL, which can originate from B- and T-lymphocyte precursors, have higher occurrence rates in males than in females. More than 80% of all cases are leukemias derived from B-cell precursors over T-cell precursors (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a). All following subsections and discussions will specifically focus in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) since this disease was the major target malignancy used for the body of work presented in Chapter 2.

Most patients have no inherited risk factors that lead to ALL development, although Down's syndrome is significantly associated with significantly increased risk (Buitenkamp et al., 2014). However, there are polymorphic variants in several genes that lead to specific ALL subtypes and germline mutations that can be linked with familial ALL (Treviño et al., 2009; Perez-Andreu et al., 2013; Shah et al., 2013). Also, there are few environmental and prior-therapy risk factors, with some cases being linked to carcinogens, radiation, and prior exposure to chemotherapy (Kendall et al., 2011).

2.1.2a Genetic and mutational landscape of B-ALL

Cytogenetic and molecular features are important prognostic factors in ALL that are commonly used to stratify patients into favorable or adverse disease outcomes after treatment. Conventional cytogenetics typically involve staining of bone marrow cells with fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH) techniques. Other conventional techniques used in the initial assessment of disease include amplification of selected DNA regions with the polymerase chain reaction method (PCR) and whole-exome high-throughput sequencing to perform mutational analysis.

Roughly 10% alterations in chromosome numbers are found in ALL cases (Harrison, 2009; Hunger & Mullighan, 2015b). Overall, distinct types of cytogenetic abnormalities are present in about 75% of ALL cases, which means that chromosomal alterations are a recurrent phenomenon in this disease. The most common translocation in adult ALL – which is detected in 20-30% of adult cases and will be discussed in further detail below – is the Philadelphia (Ph) chromosome, named after the city where it was first identified (Nowell & Hungerford, 1960). Other common translocations seen in B-ALL include *MLL*-rearrangements, and *ETV6-RUNX1*, with the prevalence of these and other subtypes varying with age, as shown in adapted (**Figure 1.3**). Mutational analysis has also revealed that more than 40% B-ALL subtypes harbor distinct sequence mutations in signaling pathways involving tumor suppression, cell cycle activity, epigenetic control and regulation of lymphoid development (Mullighan et al., 2007). These include alterations in transcription factors like *IKZF1* and *PAX5* in about 30% and 25% of cases, respectively, and cell cycle regulation genes like *CDKN2A/2B*.





Figure 1.3 | Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) subtypes distributed by age. Standard-risk (SR) encompasses ages 1-9, high-risk (HR) encompasses ages 10-15, adolescents encompass ages 16-20, young adults encompass ages 21-39, adults encompass ages 40-59, and older adults encompasses ages 60 and older. "Other" category includes ALLs without recurrent abnormalities. Figure adapted as is from (Iacobucci & Mullighan, 2017).

2.1.3 Treatment of B-ALL

Frontline therapy against B-ALL is given over the course of 3 years and is divided into three phases: remission or induction, consolidation, and maintenance (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015a). The goal of remission therapy, which can last from 4-6 weeks, is to debulk the tumor and to allow for the recovery of normal hematopoiesis. Drug regimens that elicit CRs of 75-90% include, combinations of chemotherapeutics like vincristine, glucocorticoids, asparaginase, and an anthracycline (Pui et al., 2008). Some regimens also include the use of cyclophosphamide and intrathecal chemotherapy, with the latter intended to eliminate disease present in the central nervous system (CNS) (Aur et al., 1971; Kantarjian et al., 2004).

Post-remission or consolidation therapy is typically administered for 6 to 8 months to circumvent what might otherwise be a short remission. Intensive combination chemotherapy is once again administered to avoid development of CNS leukemia and eliminate residual disease. Diverse post-remission regimens have been developed, with many of them including the same drugs administered for initial induction, plus the addition of high-dose methotrexate, cytarabine, and asparaginase (Pui et al., 2008). Finally, maintenance or continuation treatment is an

antimetabolite low-intensity therapy regimen that typically lasts for 18-30 months. The backbone of drugs used at this stage is composed of daily administration of mercaptopurine and methotrexate, with some regimens adding the use of vincristine and glucocorticoids.

Relapse occurs in about 20% of childhood ALL cases and it occurs more frequently with increasing age (Nguyen et al., 2008). Relapsed disease has much lower cure rates and adverse prognostic factors include: a shorter time-to-relapse, and bone marrow relapse over extramedullary relapse (Raetz & Bhatla, 2012). Unfortunately, many of the relapsed patients will develop resistance to common therapeutic drugs (Mullighan et al., 2011; Meyer et al., 2013).

Antibody-targeted and cellular immunotherapies

Acute lymphoid leukemias can be categorized based on the cell surface markers they express. The antigens expressed on their cell surface provide information regarding the differentiation state of the cell and prognostic information. In general, the immunophenotype presented by B-ALL cells include the expression of CD19, CD20, CD22, and CD52, among others (Campos-Sanchez et al., 2011; Terwilliger & Abdul-Hay, 2017). Consequently, several immunotherapies have been developed to target specific markers on B-cell lymphoblasts.

CD20 is expressed on the surface of 30-50% B-cell leukemic blasts, and can be targeted by a handful of monoclonal antibodies like rituximab, ofatumumab, and obinutuzumab (Jabbour et al., 2015; Man et al., 2017). Binding of rituximab to CD20 promotes the removal of B cells from the circulation through apoptosis induction, ADCC, and complement-mediated cytotoxicity.

Patients with Ph⁻, CD20⁺ B-ALL have shown improved 2-year PFS and OS when treated with a combination of chemotherapy and rituximab (Jabbour & Kantarjian, 2016; Maury et al., 2016; Salvaris & Fedele, 2021).

CD22 is expressed on the surface of roughly 90% B-cell lineage blasts, and is targeted with inotuzumab ozogamicin, moxetumomab pasudotox, coltuximab ravtansine, and epratuzumab (Sullivan-Chang et al., 2013; Jabbour et al., 2015). Additionally, another antigen expressed in 36-66% of leukemic blasts is CD52 (Hu et al., 2009). The recombinant monoclonal antibody alemtuzumab targets CD52⁺ cells and causes ADCC-mediated lysis, although the use of this drug has been linked with severe and toxic immunosuppression (Jabbour et al., 2015; Mohseni et al., 2018).

With the exception of fully differentiated transformed plasma cells, CD19 is the most widely expressed B-lineage specific antigen, with more than 90% B-ALL blasts having this surface marker present during all stages of maturation. CD19 is the target of blinatumomab and denintuzumab mafodotin (Man et al., 2017). Briefly, blinatumomab is a bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) antibody that binds CD3 on the surface of T cells and CD19 on B cells. Treatment with blinatumomab results in the release of inflammatory cytokines, proliferation of T cells and CD19⁺ cell lysis. As a single agent, this antibody produces CRs of 40-45% in patients with relapsed or treatment refractory B-ALL (Schlegel et al., 2014; Topp et al., 2015).

A recently FDA approved and exciting approach to target leukemias is the genetic engineering of T cells that express an anti-CD19 antibody fragment coupled with intracellular signaling domains of the TCR. These chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells (CAR T-cells) recognize and kill CD19⁺ cells in an MHC-independent manner (Kochenderfer & Rosenberg, 2013; Singh & McGuirk, 2020). Even second and third generations of CAR T-cells have been developed, in which one or two extra costimulatory domains are included in the engineered T cells to enhance its replicative, and cytotoxic properties (Imai et al., 2004; Savoldo et al., 2011; Maude et al., 2015). Therapy with CAR T-cells have produced outstanding CR rates (70-90%) in patients with relapsed and refractory B-ALL (Davila et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2015).

CAR T therapy failure can occur via different mechanisms. These include the limited longevity of CAR T-cells in patients, an issue that can be circumvented with reinfusion of new CAR T-cells, cost permitting (Xu et al., 2020). Additionally, relapsed CD19⁻ disease has been shown to be a major form of CAR T-cell therapy escape (Lacey et al., 2016). These challenges have prompted the development of CAR T-cells that target additional antigens on the surface of B-ALL cells (Haso et al., 2013; Shah et al., 2016). Furthermore, CAR T-cell therapy is associated with adverse effects and toxicities to patients that limit therapy effectiveness, and these include hypotension, fevers, neurologic complications, and severe cytokine release syndrome (CRS) (Kochenderfer et al., 2012; Maude et al., 2014). Although these effects can be mitigated by therapy with anti-IL6 monoclonal antibodies, the timing and method of administration could still be optimized and standardized (Neelapu et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019). Interestingly, treatment with IL-6 signaling inhibitors could also reduce the need for adjuvant concomitant therapy. This could prove

particularly beneficial in reducing the overall comorbidities induced by high-intensity treatment schedules for B-ALL patients, a concept supported by the results presented in Chapter 2 of my thesis.

2.1.4 BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL

Although most common in adults, the *BCR-ABL* translocation has a frequency of 2-5% in pediatric ALL cases, and of 20% for young adults (Gleißner et al., 2002). The Ph⁺ chromosome results from the t(9;22)(q34.1;q11.2) translocation, and encodes for a constitutively active tyrosine kinase. This reciprocal translocation places most of the *ABL1* proto-oncogene (exons 2-11) on chromosome 9 end-to-end with the 5' region of the *BCR* gene on chromosome 22 (lacobucci & Mullighan, 2017). The genetic product of this translocation can lead to the formation of two isoforms, depending on the site of translocation or breakpoint. The major breakpoint creates a 210 kDa protein that is detected in 24-50% of adult BCR-ABL⁺ cases, while much rarer in childhood cases (Westbrook et al., 1992; Chissoe et al., 1995; Rieder et al., 1996). Alternatively, the minor breakpoint generates a protein of 190 kDa which can be identified in 55-77% of adult cases and in more than 90% of pediatric patients (Jain et al., 2017).

Mechanistically, multiple signaling pathways are downstream of the BCR-ABL protein. These include pathways such as MAPK, Ras, NF-kB, c-Myc, PI-3K, and JAK-STAT (Sattler & Griffin, 2001). In addition, BCR-ABL activity can alter pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins and lead to uncontrolled proliferation (Man et al., 2017). Therefore, BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL is a high-risk subset of ALL that is associated with adverse and poor prognosis. Chemotherapy alone produced long-term survival

rates in less than 20% of these patients (Bloomfield et al., 1986; Faderl et al., 2000). Consequently, for patients with suitable donors, allogeneic stem cell transplant (ASCT) in the first remission became the only curative option (Fielding et al., 2009). Fortunately, the development of tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) against this chimeric protein ultimately allowed for the significant improvement of response rates and overall survival of these patients (Liu-Dumlao et al., 2012). The use of TKIs as frontline therapy has even improved patient outcomes to the point where ASCT may not be necessary for many patients (Thomas et al., 2004).

BCR-ABL translocations are associated with two different hematological malignancies, inducing either chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) or B-ALL. Seminal studies from David Baltimore, Owen Witte, and colleagues, demonstrated the cancer driving properties of the BCR-ABL fusion protein in CML, paving the road towards the development of targeted inhibitors against this oncogene (Daley et al., 1990; Lugo et al., 1990). The first TKI drug developed, imatinib (commercially known as Gleevec), was pioneered by Brian Druker and colleagues (Druker et al., 1996). This drug obtained FDA approval in the year 2000, and due to its success in the treatment of CML, other groups developed second and third generation TKIs against BCR-ABL (Druker et al., 2001a; Druker et al., 2001b; O'Brien et al., 2003; Puttini et al., 2006; Saglio et al., 2010; Cortes et al., 2013).

Early studies with imatinib and other first-generation inhibitors failed to show long-term effectiveness in patients with Ph⁺ B-ALL (Bernt et al., 2014). Instead, it was soon after found that integrating the use of TKIs with chemotherapy regimens drastically improved the OS of BCR-ABL⁺

B-ALL patients (Schultz et al., 2009; Boulos et al., 2011; Abou Dalle et al., 2019). As discussed above, effective treatment of B-ALL requires intensive chemotherapy combinations. Specifically, for the management of Ph⁺ B-ALL two possible strategies exist: intensive chemotherapy with hyper-CVAD (cyclophosphamide, vincristine, Adriamycin, and dexamethasone) and a TKI, or less intensive chemotherapy regimens with a TKI (Daver et al., 2015).

However, while complete responses have improved, relapses of BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL remains a problem, even when combining TKIs with chemotherapy regimens (El Fakih et al., 2018). The survival of Ph⁺ B-ALL patients remains minimal relative to other subtypes of B-ALL (Geyer et al., 2017). These observations highlight the need to further understand the biology of Ph⁺ B-ALL, particularly its response to treatment and how to improve therapy combinations that lead to enhanced overall survival and eliminate the resurgence of therapy-refractory disease – ideally through the development of immunologic memory. Chapter 2 of this thesis will present and discuss rational combination-therapy approaches to treat Ph⁺ B-ALL that generate long-term immune responses.

2.1.4a BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL mouse model

For the experiments presented in Chapter 2, I used a C57BL/6 transplantable mouse model of Ph^+ B-ALL developed in the research group of Charles Sherr (Williams et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2007). Briefly, bone marrow derived cells from $Arf^{-/-}$ donor mice were retrovirally infected with p190 BCR-ABL containing vectors and pre-B cells were later selected for and enriched. These

resulting transformed cells generate a highly penetrant disease that resembles human B-ALL when transplanted into immunocompetent syngeneic mice.

2.2 Immunogenic cell death

Cancer develops within and interacts with a complex cellular environment that can stimulate tumor growth, angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis, and fuel resistance or immune suppressive effects against many anti-cancer agents (Hanahan & Coussens, 2012). Fortunately, this tumor microenvironment is dynamic, meaning it can be remodeled or affected through therapies that modify the interactions between tumor cells and stromal cells, creating even more therapeutic opportunities. Specifically, several cytotoxic and cytostatic chemotherapeutics have the potential to increase the immunogenicity of tumor cells by inciting immunogenic cell death (ICD) – a form of regulated cell death that stimulates the activation of innate and adaptive immune responses (Galluzzi et al., 2020b). However, chemotherapeutic agents may also promote immunosuppressive adverse effects like myelo- and lympho-depletion, which can limit the desired immunostimulatory outcomes (Zitvogel et al., 2011). In this section, I review and summarize the studies on conventional cytotoxic chemotherapeutic induced immunogenicity, focusing on the responses from the host immune system.

2.2.1 Cell death and immunogenicity

Programmed cell death or apoptosis occurs as a part of normal development and maturation of cells, and is necessary for maintaining normal physiologic processes, like removing individual cells without damaging surrounding tissues. Cells undergoing this type of cell death are typically

phagocytosed by APCs and normally fail to elicit any sort of immune response – leading to immune-silent or tolerogenic cell death. However, preclinical data challenging this notion has accumulated over the last decades, and now it has become widely accepted that there are context-specific instances of immunogenic-apoptosis or stress-induced regulated cell death that can be inflammatory. Other forms of cell death, like necrosis, autophagy, necroptosis, and ferroptosis have also been reported to be immunogenic since release of intracellular inflammatory contents – adjuvants – usually accompany these processes (Green et al., 2009; Galluzzi et al., 2018; Galluzzi et al., 2020b). Ultimately, immune-silent death is differentiated from immunogenic-death based on a series of certain activated molecular pathways that can trigger antigen-specific immune responses.

ICD relies on three major processes to drive innate and adaptive immune responses: initiating stimulus, antigenicity, and adjuvanticity. Antigenicity refers to the target cells' capacity of expressing and presenting antigens that will activate the host's antigen-specific naïve T cell clones (Palucka & Coussens, 2016). As discussed above in the first Part of this Chapter, healthy cells will very rarely express antigens that fail to induce clonal deletion of T cells and central tolerance, therefore limiting their ability to stimulate ICD. Adjuvanticity refers to the spatiotemporal release of DAMPs that are necessary for the recruitment and maturation of APCs (Garg et al., 2015; Bloy et al., 2017). Therefore, adjuvanticity largely depends on dying cells and their ability to initiate danger signals, while antigenicity relies on both the dying cells' repertoire of antigens, and the host's TCR and BCR stock.

2.2.1a Types of ICD by initiating stimulus

Pathogen-induced ICD

Defense mechanisms against viruses and bacteria require the detection of PAMPs through PRRs. Once these warning signals are activated, infected cells can undergo autophagy and subsequently release immune activating cytokines like type-I IFNs. These pro-inflammatory cytokines activate APCs, which present antigen to CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells to generate an adaptive immune response (Galluzzi et al., 2017).

Necroptotic ICD

Necroptosis is an "accidental" programmed cell death that produces irreversible plasma membrane permeation and dissolution (Wang et al., 2014). Necroptosis is normally provoked by the receptor-interacting serine/threonine kinase 3 (RIPK3)-catalyzed phosphorylation of the pseudokinase mixed lineage kinase domain-like (MLKL), which is responsible for membrane permeabilization (Dondelinger et al., 2014). This form of cell death is highly inflammatory and engages antigen-specific immune responses (Galluzzi et al., 2017).

ICD from physical cues

Irradiation, hypericin-based photodynamic therapy (PDT), and high hydrostatic pressure have all been shown to trigger ICD in mouse cancer models (Obeid et al., 2007a; Garg et al., 2012; Fucikova et al., 2014). The molecular pathways that account for the immunogenicity of cells exposed to these cues have been characterized less extensively compared to other inducers of

ICD. Overall, these pathways seem to be more heterogenous since not all danger signals are necessary for the engagement of immune responses (Galluzzi et al., 2017).

Therapy-induced ICD

Exposure to anti-tumor therapy elicits physical signals that activate cellular immune responses. Antigen presenting cells like DCs that are exposed to chemotherapy-killed or dying tumor cells become stimulated to upregulate co-stimulatory molecules and release pro-inflammatory cytokines to activate T lymphocytes (Galluzzi et al., 2017). This type of ICD will be further discussed below since the chemotherapeutic agent used in the body of work presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis is proposed to induce immunogenic cell death.

2.2.2 Immunogenic chemotherapy

Chemotherapy treated cancer cells emit signals as they succumb to immunogenic cell death. These signals or events include tumor cell surface exposure of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone protein calreticulin (CRT), which generates an "eat-me" signal that promotes tumor antigen engulfment (Obeid et al., 2007a; Obeid et al., 2007b). Another indicator of ICD is the release of ATP from lysosomes, which can induce NK cell proliferation and production of IFNy, plus recruitment and maturation of macrophages (Elliott et al., 2009; Beavis et al., 2012). Additionally, certain ICD inducing drugs may also stimulate type-I IFN signaling pathways, which contribute to activation of host antitumor immunity (Sistigu et al., 2014). Post-apoptotic release of the nuclear chromatin binding protein HMGB1 is another well characterized signal that leads to activation of multiple toll-like receptors (Yabai et al., 2009; Li et al., 2013). Studies using cells with loss-of-function alleles for TLRs highlight the importance of these chemotherapy-induced ICD responses (Apetoh et al., 2007). Ultimately, the release of HMGB1 stimulates and enables antigen presentation by DCs, which leads to the activation of CD8+ T cells (Zitvogel et al., 2008).

Other molecular chaperones that appear on tumor cell surfaces include proteins such as HSP90, which help in enhancing DC maturation (Spisek et al., 2007). ICD also allows for the downregulation of "do not eat-me" signals presented on the surface of tumor cells. Once proteins like CD31, CD46, and CD47 are no longer presented on the surface of tumor cells, tumor phagocytosis and DC-tumor cell adhesion are enhanced (Chao et al., 2010; Martins et al., 2010). Chemotherapy may also intensify tumor cell immunogenicity by prompting expression of MHC-I proteins and the presentation of tumor-specific antigens (Zitvogel et al., 2006). NK cells can also be prompted to increase and decrease the expression of stimulatory and inhibitory ligands, respectively (Khallouf et al., 2012). Conversely, factors that inhibit ICD include: extracellular hydrolysis of ATP, conversion of AMP into the highly immunosuppressive nucleoside adenosine, and depletion of myeloid and lymphoid compartments (Feng et al., 2011; Beavis et al., 2012). Interestingly, ablation of immune components can also target immunosuppressive cell types like T_{REGs} and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), resulting in desired anti-cancer drug responses (Sanchez-Perez et al., 2014; Ahlmann & Hempel, 2016).

Several cancer chemotherapeutic drugs have the potential to induce ICD. These include cyclophosphamide, mitoxantrone, oxaliplatin, epirubicin, idarubicin, and doxorubicin (Pol et al., 2015; Hernández et al., 2021). ICD drugs are not only proposed to induce innate and adaptive
immune responses after treatment, but are also believed to have prophylactic benefits. Thus, one of the approaches to determine whether cell death may be immunogenic is to perform vaccination experiments (Kepp et al., 2014; Galluzzi et al., 2020b). Essentially, dying tumor cells treated *ex vivo* are transplanted into immunocompetent syngeneic mice with the hope of immunizing the transplant host against further challenges with the same tumor – serving, in principle, as an anti-cancer vaccine. However, not all immunogenic therapy agents are capable of showing vaccine activity in mouse models (Obeid et al., 2007b).

Cell-based assays for the characterization of ICD features (release of HMGB1, CRT surface exposure, etc.) are necessary to determine the ability of a drug to induce ICD. While some drugs are capable of triggering multiple of these molecular pathways, not all drugs are equally successful. Therefore, cancer chemotherapeutics characterized as non-immunogenic in one setting or drug-tumor combination, may still stimulate immune responses in another context. As an example, the drug cisplatin is unable to stimulate CRT surface expression but can induce HMGB1 release in colon cancers, and it can also be used to eliminate MDSCs in a model of mouse melanoma (Tesniere et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2012). These effects could also be confounded by the dose and treatment schedule, and drug combinations chosen for concomitant administration (Wu & Waxman, 2018; Deutsch et al., 2019).

2.2.2a Anthracyclines

This class of antibiotic drugs has been used as anti-tumor agents for numerous cancer types since the 1960s, and ranks amongst the most effective cancer therapies ever developed (Weiss, 1992).

Daunorubicin (DNR) and doxorubicin (DOX) were the first anthracyclines to be discovered and characterized. The only structural difference between these compounds is the presence of a primary alcohol in DOX, which is substituted for methyl in DNR. Although a minor change, this alcohol substitution has important implications for the activity of both anthracyclines. Whereas DOX is essential for the treatment of breast cancer, childhood solid tumors, sarcomas, and lymphomas, DNR is routinely used for treating acute lymphoblastic and myeloblastic leukemias (Minotti et al., 2004). However, these drugs are used somewhat interchangeably, as Adriamycin is the brand name for DOX, which is used as part of the hyper-CVAD regimen for management of Ph⁺ B-ALL, as mentioned above (Daver et al., 2015).

With the widespread use of anthracyclines in clinical patients, several mechanisms of action have been proposed to be involved in tumor control. These mechanisms of action include: intercalation between the base pairs of DNA, which leads to macromolecule synthesis inhibition; generation of free radicals, that also leads to DNA damage and lipid degradation or peroxidation; DNA binding and alkylation – alkyl groups added to DNA bases can promote DNA mutations; DNA cross-linking, which can halt DNA replication and transcription; and interference with DNA unwinding and strand separation via inhibition of topoisomerase-II activity, which results in DNA damage and/or apoptosis (Gewirtz, 1999; Tacar et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the concentrations at which DOX and other anthracyclines are clinically administered could ultimately determine if one or multiple modes of action are exhibited over others. Anthracyclines were one of the first classes of agents to be identified as promoting immunogenic responses after treatment. Early studies performed by Guido Kroemer and colleagues showed that DOX-induced apoptosis of *in vitro, ex vivo,* and *in vivo* treated cells is capable of inducing ICD and subsequent activation of cellular immune responses (Casares et al., 2005; Obeid et al., 2007b). Others have also shown that anthracyclines play important roles in eliciting immune responses (Fucikova et al., 2011; Inoue et al., 2014). Indeed, humoral and cellular immune responses are associated with anthracycline treatments. For example, DOX treatment of different cancer types led to the production of IL-17, which in turn allowed for the activation of IFNγ producing CD8⁺ T cells (Ma et al., 2011). Additionally, starvation-induced autophagy and mitoxantrone-induced ICD has been shown to provoke tumor regression while reducing the toxicity associated with this anthracycline (Castoldi et al., 2019).

Despite these preclinical studies that attest to the potential of various ICD-inducing drugs, antitumor responses in the clinic are frequently followed by tumor regrowth. Possible reasons why clinicians see little immunogenicity from these agents in the clinic include that many of these chemotherapeutics have been largely characterized as ICD-inducing in immunodeficient settings (e.g., human xenograft models), which can produce misleading or incomplete conclusions (Gardai et al., 2005). Additionally, cytotoxic chemotherapeutic drugs are historically administered on a maximum tolerated dose (MTD) schedule. This approach can lead to high toxicity, myelo- and lympho-depletion, and selection of drug-resistant clones, and in most cases, this is accompanied by the absence of immune-monitoring (Holohan et al., 2013; Pol et al., 2015). Therefore, many, if not all, ICD inducers are currently administered to ensure maximal cytotoxicity at the potential expense of activating host immune responses.

Appealing approaches to overcome these issues include the use of combination chemotherapy with immunotherapies, and employing ICD inducers at low-metronomic doses (Chen et al., 2017; Kerbel & Shaked, 2017). Immunotherapy combination treatments could range from the use of anti-tumor vaccines, treatment with TLR agonists, and inhibitors of immunosuppressors – like the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors, and targeting suppressive cytokines. In fact, the work presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis speaks to the advantages of combining conventional cytotoxic chemotherapeutics with immunotherapies. Therefore, it is evident that optimally designed chemotherapeutic regimens have real promise to improve patient care via the immune activating properties of ICD, as evidenced by the abundance of active clinical trials involving DOX and other anthracyclines in combinations with other immunotherapies (Vanmeerbeek et al., 2020).

2.2.3 Immune checkpoint inhibitors

Immunotherapies are currently the most rapidly expanding cancer drug class. The oncology and anticancer therapeutic field have been completely revolutionized since the advent of cancer immunotherapies, particularly with the development of immune checkpoint-inhibitors or - blockade (ICIs or ICB) (Sharma & Allison, 2015). The objective of this class of drugs is to engage immune pathways against cancer by ultimately harnessing and unleashing T cell responses. Initially, efforts for developing cancer immunotherapies were focused in amplifying immune

activation mechanisms like enhancing antigen uptake by APCs, and promoting T cell priming and proliferation (Sanmamed & Chen, 2018; Tang et al., 2018). However, these immune enhancing strategies often result in scarce objective responses in patients due to frequent immune-related adverse events, or to homeostatic signaling programs that aim to stop immune responses before they become too harmful for the host. As an example, and as discussed in the first Part of this Chapter, some TCRs may develop cross-reactivity with self-antigens during T cell maturation. To prevent these cytotoxic cells from attacking self, numerous immune checkpoint pathways regulate T cell activity during an immune response – part of the process of peripheral tolerance. Therefore, based on these results, much of the recent efforts to develop immunotherapies has shifted to the development of inhibitors against these immune checkpoint pathways and to restoring anti-tumor T cell responses that were already initiated.

Blocking inhibitory checkpoints with ICIs has been demonstrated to successfully extend survival in patients with a variety of tumor types (van den Eertwegh et al., 2012; Sanmamed & Chen, 2018). Two immune checkpoint pathways central to the process of peripheral tolerance have gained significant traction as targets for ICIs over the years: the programmed death-1 (PD-1), and the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) proteins. In fact, the 2018 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was jointly awarded to Tasuku Honjo and James Allison for their discoveries and contributions to the molecular understating of these checkpoint pathways (Huang & Chang, 2019). The PD-1 and CTLA-4 pathways are now known to operate at different stages of an immune response. CTLA-4 effects are typically seen at the initial stages of T-cell activation in the lymph nodes, while the PD-1 pathway regulates previously activated T cells at later stages of the immune response, within peripheral tissues (Ribas & Wolchok, 2018).

CTLA-4 pathway

CTLA-4 or CD152 is expressed on T_C cells upon TCR activation and co-stimulatory engagement through CD28. Once T cell activation occurs, intracellular CTLA-4 translocates to the cell surface where it outcompetes CD28 for binding with CD80 or CD86 surface proteins expressed on APCs. This, in turn, results in T cell-intrinsic suppression that leads to proliferation and activation arrest (Brunner et al., 1999; Chambers et al., 2001). Additionally, CTLA-4 can be expressed on T_{REG} cells where it can play a role in T_{REG}-mediated immune tolerance by stimulating the release of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), an immunosuppressive mediator (Wing et al., 2008).

Clinical trials published in the year 2000 introduced the use of two fully-humanized CTLA-4 inhibitors, the antibodies ipilimumab and tremelimumab; with ipilimumab (Yervoy) receiving FDA approval by 2011. These antibodies were generating durable tumor regressions, particularly in patients with advanced metastatic melanoma, where a 15% objective response rate that has even lasted for more than 10 years after therapy stop in a fraction of patients was recorded (Hodi et al., 2010; Eroglu et al., 2015; Schadendorf et al., 2015). Further studies revealed that patients who respond better to this therapy tend to have tumors with higher mutational burden (Van Allen et al., 2015).

PD-1 pathway

PD-1 or CD279, upon engagement of its ligands PD-L1 or PD-L2 (CD274 and CD273, respectively), recruits the tyrosine phosphatase SHP2 and inhibits the signaling cascade of the TCR (Ishida et al., 1992; Hui et al., 2017). PD-1 can be expressed by activated T cells, B cells, and myeloid cells. The ligands for PD-1 are normally expressed on the surface of cells within a tumor, with PD-L1 being more broadly expressed by many somatic cells upon stimulation with inflammatory cytokines (Baumeister et al., 2016). PD-L2 expression is mainly restricted to APCs. PD-1 engagement with its ligands induces T cell exhaustion and restrains antitumor cytotoxic T cell responses (Wherry, 2011; Ribas, 2015).

PD-1 is a negative regulator of pre-existing immune responses, and its blockade results in preferential activity stimulation of already existing antitumor T cells. Therapeutic blockade of the PD-1 pathway leads to durable response rates in multiple cancer types, including melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and non-small cell lung cancer. A handful of anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 antibodies are already approved by the FDA, with nivolumab being the first inhibitor used in patients in 2006 (Sznol et al., 2010). Similar to CTLA-4 inhibitory therapy, patients with tumors that have high mutational burden develop the highest antitumor activity when treated with anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 therapy (Ribas & Wolchok, 2018).

2.2.3a CTLA-4 and PD-1 blockade combination therapy

Syngeneic mouse model studies found evidence of synergy when combining inhibitory treatment of these two pathways, since the two have non-redundant co-inhibitory roles (Postow et al.,

2015; Wei et al., 2017). By 2009, the first patients began treatment with combination checkpoint blockade using ipilimumab and nivolumab to block CTLA-4 and PD-1, respectively. In the initial phase 1 clinical trial, objective responses higher than 50% were observed in patients with metastatic melanoma treated with combination immunotherapy. While phase 2 and 3 studies confirmed a response rate of approximately 60% with higher 3-year survival compared to patients receiving single therapy alone (Wolchok et al., 2017).

2.2.3b Immunogenic chemotherapy and immune checkpoint inhibitors

Single agent PD-1 pathway blockade has relatively less unfavorable toxicities compared to single agent CTLA-4 therapies (Boutros et al., 2016; Postow et al., 2018). However, these toxicities can often lead to moderate-to-severe immunological adverse events that will require immunosuppressive drug administration in some patients, particularly when these agents are used in combination. Thus, a substantial number of research efforts have focused on combining other standard of care chemotherapeutics with ICIs, with the hope to achieve both early- and long-term disease control with limited overlapping toxicities (Galluzzi et al., 2020a).

In theory, ICD-inducing therapies can initiate or restore immune responses by converting 'cold' tumors into abundantly immune cell-infiltrated 'hot' tumors that become poised to better respond to ICIs (Galon & Bruni, 2019). For example, neoadjuvant chemotherapy – administered before main treatments like surgery removal – has been shown to aide in the reduction of T_{REG} cells from breast cancer patient tumors (Ladoire et al., 2008). Additionally, numerous induction-chemotherapies like oxaliplatin, cisplatin, docetaxel and 5-fluoroacil have been shown to induce

PD-L1 expression owing to excessive tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells and T cells, constituting a barrier to the effectiveness of these agents (Ding et al., 2014; Leduc et al., 2018). Thus, blockade with ICIs could prove useful in enhancing the immune responses prompted by the use of ICD-inducers. However, much work remains to be performed to understand the optimal dosing and administration schedules necessary to determine the most effective combination of chemotherapeutics with ICI immunotherapies.

Chapter 1, Part III: The tumor microenvironment and IL-6 in cancer

inflammation

3.1 The importance of the tumor microenvironment

The TME is the complex and rich multicellular ecosystem in which a tumor develops. Typically, the TME is constituted of the following components: immune cells like T and B lymphocytes, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), MDSCs, DCs, NK cells, and neutrophils; other stromal cell types such as cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), pericytes, and mesenchymal stromal cells; the extracellular matrix (ECM), secreted molecules like growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, and extracellular vesicles; and the blood and lymphatic vascular networks (Balkwill et al., 2012; Marar et al., 2021). This environment dynamically regulates cancer establishment and progression, and can influence therapeutic outcome. The non-malignant cells of the TME often have protumorigenic qualities, while malignant cells eventually can invade and spread to healthy tissues through the circulatory or lymphatic system (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Over the past decades, our understating of the complexity of the TME has evolved. Importantly, it has become abundantly clear that depending on the site of tumorigenesis and the stage of cancer progression, cells in the TME can be either tumor-suppressive or tumor-supportive (Salmon et al., 2019). Given these opposing functions, multiple strategies to therapeutically target the TME have been developed. Therapeutically targeting the TME was initially believed to be fairly straight forward and to represent a "one size fits all" approach (Joyce, 2005). However, the TME is now recognized to regulate therapeutic interventions by manifesting intrinsic resistance, revealing resistance that existed prior to treatment, or by acquiring resistance during the course of treatment (Binnewies et al., 2018; Bejarano et al., 2021). For example, both radiotherapy and chemotherapy can aide in the recruitment of immunosuppressive TAMs to tumors, which results in inhibition of therapy-induced cancer cell death (Seifert et al., 2016; Olson et al., 2017). Importantly, certain interventions that target the TME can also have antitumorigenic synergistic effects. These include the depletion or recruitment of pro- and antitumorigenic cell sub types, respectively, promoting immunogenic cell death, and encouraging T cell-dependent antitumor immunity. Some of these approaches were discussed in the previous Part of this Chapter.

3.1.1 Major stromal components of the tumor microenvironment

Normal cells, initially present or recruited to the tumor, are pivotal participants in tumorigenesis. These stromal cells contribute to the development and expression of many cancer hallmarks by producing and releasing growth and homeostatic promoting signals (Hanahan & Weinberg,

2011). Therefore, the biology of a tumor can only be fully elucidated if the individualized cell types within the TME and their complexity are also understood.

Macrophages

Tissue homeostasis and protection against infection is largely carried out by phagocytic cells that engulf dying cells and clear cellular debris. In cancer, these homeostatic functions are normally suppressed since many myeloid cells within tumors are incompletely differentiated – e.g., monocyte-derived cells (DeNardo & Ruffell, 2019). Fully differentiated cells, like tissue-resident macrophages, and circulating monocytes that fail to fully differentiate, collectively represent the TAMs and MDSCs. Evidence now shows that these cell types play important roles in modulating immune responses by secreting cytokines and chemokines (Gabrilovich & Nagaraj, 2009; Cassetta & Pollard, 2018).

T lymphocytes

As discussed previously, T cells can be classified into CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. APCs load antigen onto MHC-I and -II molecules and present them to CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells, respectively. Importantly, CD8⁺ T cells are also capable of detecting cross-presented antigens loaded onto MHC class-I molecules, which can lead to potent cytotoxic reactions that cause tumor cell death (Joffre et al., 2012; Freidrich et al., 2017).

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells are professional APCs, and are critically needed for an effective anticancer immune response. After TAA phagocytosis, DCs process antigens for MHC loading either through the cytosolic pathway or the vacuolar pathway. Mature DCs express greater levels of co-stimulatory molecules to properly prime T cell antitumor immunity. DCs can be classified according to their function and cytokine secretion profiles into three main subtypes: monocyte-derived DCs, plasmacytoid DCs, and conventional DCs type 1 or 2 (Salah et al., 2021).

Cancer-associated fibroblasts

In many solid malignancies, CAFs are the predominant cell population of the tumor stroma and are typically very heterogenous in both origin and functionality (Sahai et al., 2020). These cells have diverse functions like matrix deposition and remodeling, production of growth factors, and they participate in extensive signaling interactions with both cancer cells and infiltrating leukocytes. Importantly, these cells also modulate and influence angiogenesis, drug access, and therapy responses, making them potential targets for therapeutic strategies against cancer.

Extracellular matrix

The ECM is the physical network of secreted proteins and glycans that provide structure to a tissue. In normal development and under homeostatic conditions, fibroblast are normally the major producers of tissue ECM. However, tumor cells and endothelial cells can also produce components of the ECM, like collagens, laminins, hyaluronic acid, and proteoglycans (Henke et al., 2020).

Blood vessels

Nutrients and oxygen are critical for the growth of both primary and metastatic cancers. Therefore, tumors have developed numerous mechanisms for promoting tumor vascularization. These include the formation of new vessels through angiogenesis stimulation, co-opting preexisting vessels, and vascular mimicry – when cancer cells differentiate into endothelial-like cells (Qian et al., 2016).

Lymphatic vessels

The lymphatic vessel's primary role is to remove interstitial fluids from tissues – e.g., removal of water to prevent edema. Additionally, while not a formal part of the immune system, lymphatic vessels are also excellent transport routes for antigens and immune cells to draining lymph nodes. Unfortunately, these vessels can also be co-opted by cancer cells to promote dissemination and colonization into other tissues (Randoplh et al., 2017).

3.1.2 Hematological tumor microenvironments

Similar to all solid malignancies, hematologic tumors were initially believed to be solely driven by genetic or epigenetic lesions within transformed cells. However, it is now widely appreciated that the composition and function of TMEs also have an important role in the pathogenesis and chemoresistance of hematological malignancies. Similar to normal HSCs, leukemia stem and initiating cells (LSC and LIC, respectively) rely and co-opt the local microenvironment interactions that facilitate their survival within bone marrow and/or lymphoid organ niches. Thus, the

leukemic niche microenvironment also represents a therapeutic target for patients with hematologic malignancies (Forte et al., 2019).

The potential role of the leukemic niche as an oncogenic driver or facilitator of hematologic malignancies was initially suggested in the late 1990s (Dührsen & Hossfeld, 1996). Over the years, the characterization of alterations in both cancer and stromal cells have led to the proposition that two non-mutually exclusive contributions from hematopoietic niches to leukemogenesis are in place. First, that the transformation of niche cells predisposes the transformation of the malignant cells. For example, age-related remodeling of bone marrow niches has been shown to promote myeloid cell proliferation (Ho et al., 2019). Second, that niche remodeling is a consequence of transformed hematopoietic cell activity. Several studies have shown the effects of malignant cells on the transcriptome, proteome, and function of niche stromal cells (Flores-Figueroa et al., 2002; Méndez-Ferrer et al., 2020).

3.1.3 Therapy resistance mediated by the tumor microenvironment

Tumor recurrence following anticancer therapy remains a significant challenge in patient care. Environment-mediated drug resistance is one of the major contributors to the survival of cells exposed to therapy (Meads et al., 2009). Some of the basic mechanisms by which microenvironments confer chemoprotection will be briefly discussed in the following section.

Fibroblast-mediated resistance

Early co-culture experiments with irradiated and non-irradiated fibroblasts demonstrated that damaged fibroblasts supported tumor cell growth better than non-damaged cells, implying that this cell type played a role in therapy responses (Ohuchida et al., 2004). Now, it is widely appreciated that CAFs not only deposit ECM but also remodel the protein matrix to promote tumor invasion, metastasis, and resistance to therapies (Bhome et al., 2017). Additionally, secretion of growth factors and several cytokines like VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor), IL-6, CXCL9, and TGF- β from CAFs have been shown to modulate angiogenesis and T cell responses, respectively (Fukumura et al., 1998; Fearon et al., 2014).

Vascular-mediated resistance

Compared to healthy tissues, the vasculature of tumors is dysfunctional and exhibits heterogenous permeability, which can result in a barrier against optimal drug delivery (Jain, 2005). Increased ECM deposition, reduced cellular tight junctions, and different rates of endothelial cell proliferation can all result in severe tumor vasculature abnormalities (De Palma et al., 2017). In many cases, this aberrant vasculature eventually leads to the creation of hypoxic environments which are also associated with increase tumor aggressiveness (Schito & Rey, 2020). Another consequence of dysfunctional vessels is the selective infiltration blockade of immune cell types like T_c lymphocytes (Schaaf et al., 2018). Thus, most efforts at therapeutically targeting the vasculature aim at either depleting dysfunctional vessels or at normalizing these vessels to improve the delivery of drugs and immune cells.

Immune-mediated resistance

As proposed with the immunoediting theory, the immune system is an active component of the tumor microenvironment that can affect clinical responses and resistance. For example, tumors treated with antiangiogenic therapy may develop resistance by the intervention of immature myeloid cells and TAMs that secrete pro-inflammatory factors to compensate for lost angiogenic activity (Shojaei et al., 2007; Phan et al., 2013). Melanoma patients treated with targeted inhibitors developed an increase in tumor antigen expression that led to higher infiltration of CD8⁺ cells. However, at time of progression, biopsies showed that CD8⁺ infiltrates had decreased and there was emergence of immune cell exhaustion markers and ligands that promote T-cell inhibitory signals (Frederick et al., 2013). Therefore, even in cases with initial immune responses, many immune suppressive mechanisms may eventually interfere and manifest as inherent or acquired resistance to therapy (Bejarano et al., 2021).

3.2 Prognostic role of TME immune infiltrates

Apart from CAFs, immune cells are the most abundant non-cancerous cells found in the TME of many tumors. At the time of diagnosis, most cancers have evaded immunosurveillance and/or immune control. With the advent of ICIs for the treatment of numerous cancers, an enormous interest in the local immune context of tumors also emerged. This includes understanding the interactions between the immune system and the cancer cells before, during, and after treatment (Palucka & Coussens, 2016). If successful, anticancer immunotherapies like cytotoxic agents and targeted inhibitors, should be able to have profound effects on the local immune infiltrate and promote the destruction of cancerous cells. In fact, residual signs of pre-existing or

active anticancer immune responses can be detected and are normally indicative of more favorable prognoses (Galon et al., 2006; Mlecnik et al., 2011). These tumor-immune system interactions have already set the foundation for rationally stratifying risk and therapeutic strategies for patients.

3.2.1 Immune hot, altered-excluded, altered-immunosuppressed, and cold tumors

The Immunoscore is a recently designed consensus and standardized scoring system based on the quantification of two lymphocyte populations (CD3 and CD8) at the invasive margin and central regions of tumors (Angell & Galon, 2013; Galon et al., 2014). The Immunoscore ranges from 0 to 4, with 0 indicating low regional densities of both cell types, while a score of 4 indicates high immune cell presence at both locations. Highly infiltrated tumors are also widely referred as 'hot' tumors, and non-infiltrated tumors as 'cold' tumors. This immune-based classification of tumors has proven particularly successful for stratifying patients with colon cancers, and has also been validated in melanoma tumors (Gajewski et al., 2017; Pages et al., 2018).

Immune-classified tumors can also show altered phenotypes that resemble intermediates between highly- or non-infiltrated tumors. Camus and colleagues were the first to describe these altered phenotypes that manifest as "excluded" or "immunosuppressed" patterns (Camus et al., 2009). The excluded phenotype reflects the intrinsic ability of the host's immune system to engage a T-cell mediated immune response, which is then curtailed by the tumor and normally displayed as T cells localized around the tumor margins. On the other hand, immunosuppressed phenotypes suggest the absence of physical barriers and is displayed as a low degree of immune infiltrates.

In general, tumors that have favorable prognoses have a dense T lymphocyte infiltrate. The main tools for immune-based classification of these tumors are the haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining and immunohistochemistry techniques. Both of these approaches achieve the spatial resolution and quantification necessary to classify tumor-infiltrating immune cells. Bulk tissue gene expression techniques are also used to document immune-infiltration criteria (Newman et al., 2015). Apart from the presence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), the expression of PD-L1 on other immune or cancer cells is also another characteristic of hot tumors (Hegde et al., 2016). The opposite is true of cold tumors, which will typically lack PD-L1 and MHC-I expression as a sign of immunologically ignorant tissues. However, it is important to appreciate that the Immunoscore is not meant to replace other parameters of patient stratification, but to aide in the guidance of this practice.

3.3 Cytokines in cancer therapy

A recurring theme in this thesis has been how secreted factors like cytokines modulate growth and maturation of healthy cells, while helping coordinate all sorts of immune responses. Since these small molecular messengers are often released during defined periods of time, they enable the communication of cells in paracrine and autocrine ways over short distances. Following cytokine binding, target cells expressing the appropriate cytokine receptor will undergo intracellular signal amplification that results in gene transcription changes. Notably, cytokines

participate in pro- and anti-inflammatory events that range from tumor control to mediating the development of therapy resistance. These opposing consequences are typically the result of different cytokine/receptor concentrations, the timing of exposure, and whether one or more cytokines are participating in the induction of said cellular function or fate.

Numerous cytokines interfere with tumor cell growth either directly by provoking antiproliferative and pro-apoptotic effects, or indirectly by stimulating immune cell cytotoxic activities (Conlon et al., 2019). These observations led to preclinical and clinical testing of recombinant cytokines as monotherapies or in combination therapies for tumor control. One example is the cytokine IL-2, which has been demonstrated to be clinically active against advanced renal cell carcinoma, and metastatic melanoma (Fyfe et al., 1995; Atkins et al., 1999). Another example is the use of IFNα in the clinic, which is approved for the treatment of melanoma, follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and AIDS-related Kaposi's sarcomas (Groopman et al., 1984; Solal-Celigny et al., 1993; Kirkwood et al., 1996). Although the clinical use of these cytokines marked a milestone for cancer immunotherapy, the low response rates and high toxicity associated with high-dose systemic administrations highlighted the limitations of these approaches. This is especially true when compared to other immunotherapies like targeted and ICI therapies (Waldmann, 2018).

The next generation of cytokine drugs are already being tested clinically, and their examination are mainly based on the following three approaches (Berraondo et al., 2019). First, improving the pharmacokinetics of systemically administered recombinant cytokines. Optimized

pharmacokinetics should increase the half-life of the drugs in circulation, avoid complete kidney filtration, and potentially lead to higher concentrations of drugs in TMEs. Second, improving local administration of drugs. This is an alternative approach to achieve higher local concentrations in TMEs, which can be accomplished by direct injection of recombinant proteins or by intratumoral gene therapy (Jackaman et al., 2003; Hu et al., 2018). Third, using already approved immunotherapies in combination with cytokine drugs.

3.3.1 Inhibiting immunosuppressive cytokines

Numerous cytokines improve the process of antigen priming and presentation, increase the amount of effector immune cells in the TME, and enhance cytotoxic effects. Conversely, what about the cytokines that have the opposite effects and are considered immunosuppressive? Pro-tumorigenic cytokines released by tumor or stromal cells in the TME, and their effects, can be neutralized by the use of antagonistic antibodies, and small molecule inhibitors. However, many of these cytokines have context-dependent roles and may exert pro- and anti-tumor activities depending on other elements also found in the TME. In fact, the next Chapter of my thesis presents data that supports the neutralization of IL-6, a canonically pro-inflammatory cytokine, to enhance the effect of other immunotherapies. The final portion of this Chapter will be dedicated to discussing the biology of IL-6 and its role in the treatment of cancer.

Other examples of typically immunosuppressive cytokines include tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF α) and transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β). TNF α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine mainly produced by myeloid cell lineages, although lymphocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and

adipocytes can also produce and secrete this molecule. TNF α antagonists were first developed to treat autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn's disease, among others (Palladino et al., 2003). More recently, infliximab, one TNF α antagonist, became included in the treatment regimens for corticosteroid-refractory adverse immune effects associated with ICI therapy (Haanen et al., 2017). Staying true to its contextual roles, TNF α depletion can hamper antitumor immune responses when combined with other immunotherapies, while it can also help overcome resistance to anti-PD-1 therapy in melanoma (van Horssen et al., 2006; Bertrand et al., 2017).

During the initial stages of tumorigenesis, TGF- β can inhibit cell-cycle progression and limit the growth of transformed cells. However, in later stages of disease there are also instances when tumor cells develop resistance to these anti-proliferative activities (Akhurst & Hata, 2012). TGF- β can also have impact on other TME cells like decreasing the activity of CD8⁺ lymphocytes and NK cells. Similar to TNF α , the activity of TGF- β inhibitors in combination with other immunotherapies is being clinically pursued (Knudson et al., 2018; Tauriello et al., 2018).

<u>3.4 IL-6 biology: from discovery to drug development of a complex cytokine</u>

In 1973, a group of researchers led by Tadamitsu Kishimoto reported that a soluble factor secreted by T cells was involved in the production of antibodies from B cells (Schimpl & Wecker, 1972; Kishimoto & Ishizaka, 1973). This soluble factor was later cloned as the human B-cell differentiation factor (BCDF) or B-cell stimulatory factor-2 (BSF-2) (Hirano et al., 1986). It was not until 1989 that molecules with different names and functions studied by various groups were

found to be identical to BSF-2, resulting in the consolidation of these identities into what is currently known to be IL-6 (Kishimoto, 1989; Tanaka et al., 2014). IL-6 activity is involved in several autoimmune diseases like rheumatoid arthritis, which prompted researchers and clinicians to better understand the biological role of IL-6 in these diseases and to develop IL-6 inhibitors as treatment options (Garbers et al., 2018; Kang et al., 2019).

In the late 90's, rheumatoid arthritis (RA) changed from a severely debilitating disease to a more manageable condition thanks to the advent of neutralizing antibodies against TNFa (Elliot et al., 1994). Around the same time, Kishimoto's group and others made interesting observations that IL-6 knockout (IL-6 KO) mice were completely protected from arthritis in specific disease models (Alonzi et al., 1998; Ohshima et al., 1998). These findings led to the development of the first humanized IL-6 receptor (IL-6R)-blocking antibody – tocilizumab – as an alternative strategy to treat RA (Sato et al., 1993; Tanaka et al., 2012). Approaches to design inhibitors that target the IL-6R were based on the knowledge that IL-6 signal transduction depended on the formation of hexameric complexes of IL-6, the IL-6R, and the glycoprotein 130 (gp130). Thus, it initially proved challenging to design inhibitors to target all the binding regions of this complex and impede signal transduction (Yawata et al., 1993). Targeting just the IL-6R was simpler since the concentrations of the receptor were shown to have less interpatient variability than concentrations of IL-6, which in theory could also help with selecting doses and timings of administration (Meyers et al., 1991). About 20 years later, tocilizumab (TCZ) is now approved for the treatment of RA and other conditions in more than 100 countries, and a handful of antibodies targeting IL-6 have also been developed since (Kishimoto, 2010; Choy et al., 2020).

3.4.1 IL-6 signaling

IL-6 is a 26 kDa protein made up of 184 amino acids that make four-helical turns. This cytokine is produced and secreted by many cell types which include activated immune cells like T- and B-lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, skeletal muscle cells, and hepatocytes (Choy & Rose-John, 2017). As suggested by its range of producers, IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine with functions in numerous organs and tissues, during homeostatic conditions and during infection, inflammation, and cancer (Heinrich et al., 1990; Scheller et al., 2011). For example, upon appropriate stimulation, like recognition of pathogens through TLRs, macrophages and dendritic cells can promptly synthesize and secrete IL-6. Additionally, lymphocytes not only secrete IL-6 but they also sense and respond to IL-6 presence. B cells stimulated by IL-6 differentiate into antibody producing plasma-cells, while it can also stimulate T-cell development into different subtypes of CD4⁺ T cells (Tanaka et al., 2014).

IL-6 binds to the IL-6R, an 80 kDa protein that is completely devoid of signaling ability. The IL-6 signaling cascade is only initiated when the IL-6–IL-6R complex binds to the membrane and signal transducer protein gp130 – also known as IL-6R subunit beta (Schaper & Rose-John, 2015). While IL-6R expression is restricted to hepatocytes, epithelial cells, and some immune cells, expression of gp130 is ubiquitous, which explains the pleiotropic functions of IL-6. To add to the signaling complexity of this cytokine, the IL-6R can also exist in a soluble form (sIL-6R). In both human and mice, sIL-6R is generated via cleavage of membrane-bound IL-6R (mIL-6R) by the proteases ADAM10 and ADAM17. In humans only, sIL-6R can also be generated by the translation of alternatively spliced *IL6R* mRNA (Lust et al., 1992; Riethmueller et al., 2017). Overall, it is believed

that hepatocytes and hematopoietic cells are the main sources of sIL-6R in mice (McFarland-Mancini et al., 2010).

IL-6 binds to both forms of the receptor with similar affinity and several modes of gp130 activation can be initiated after complex formation with either receptor. First, classic IL-6R signaling is mediated by IL-6–mIL-6R and gp130 complexes. Second, trans-signaling occurs when IL-6–sIL-6R complexes bind the membrane-bound gp130. Importantly, this mode of signaling can stimulate cells that lack expression of mIL-6R, since gp130 is universally expressed (Rose-John & Heinrich, 1994). Last and more recently described, IL-6 trans-presentation is the third mode of gp130 activation by IL-6. To date, this process is restricted to specialized DCs that present complexed IL-6–mIL-6R to gp130 expressing T cells, which results in priming of pathogenic T helper 17 cells (Heink et al., 2017).

Neutralization of IL-6 with antibodies inhibits both classic and trans-signaling, while anti-IL-6R antibodies can block all three modes of signaling. IL-6 trans-signaling can be selectively blocked by the soluble form of gp130 (sgp130), which binds to IL-6–sIL-6R complexes (Jostock et al., 2001). sgp130 can also bind IL-6–mIL-6R complexes, but in doing so, it only blocks IL-6 transpresentation and not classic signaling (Lamertz et al., 2018).

Once IL-6R signaling is initiated, two main pathways downstream of IL-6 are activated: the Janus kinase (JAK) signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) pathway, and the JAK-SH2 domain tyrosine phosphatase 2 (SHP2)-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway

(Schaper & Rose-John, 2015). In the cytoplasm JAK is constitutively bound to gp130, and when IL-6 binds to its receptor, JAK phosphorylates STAT3, which stimulates the formation of homodimers. Then, STAT3 homodimers translocate into the nucleus where they act as a transcription factor of genes such as *BCL2*, *BIRC5*, *MYC*, *NOTCH1*, cyclins and several matrix proteases (Kang et al., 2019). STAT3-dependent IL-6R signaling also generates a negative feedback loop that terminates JAK activation. Briefly, STAT3 induces suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) and SOCS3, which bind to activated JAK and phosphorylated gp130, respectively, and end their signaling activities (Babon et al., 2012).

3.4.2 IL-6 signaling inhibition in oncological indications

IL-6 has been shown to directly affect the proliferation of cancer cells through the engagement of several cellular processes. These include cell-cycle progression pathways in melanoma, where STAT3 upregulates the expression of cyclins like D1, D2, B1, and MYC, along with downregulation of CDK (Niu et al., 2002). Also, IL-6 can increase the expression of several survival proteins in breast cancer cells, such as Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Mcl-1, survivin or BIRC5, and XIAP (Gritsko et al., 2006). Since STAT3 is activated in many cancer types, specific inhibitors have been developed as anticancer agents for different parts of the STAT3 signaling pathway (Gu et al., 2020). STAT3 has several conserved functional domains that include an N-terminal, a coiled-domain, a DNAbinding domain (DBD), Src-homology-2 (SH2) domain, and a transactivation domain (TA). The DBD allows STAT3 to bind downstream of the target gene-promoters to induce expression of such target genes. The SH2 domain facilitates protein-protein interactions with tyrosine phosphorylated proteins, which makes this domain critical for the formation of STAT3 dimers

(Abroun et al., 2015). Both STAT3 antagonists OPB-31121 and OPB-51602, target the SH2 domain of STAT3 and clinical trials of these drugs were conducted in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma and with non-small cell lung cancer, respectively; although harmful side effects have been associated with both compounds (Okusaka et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2015). Additionally, despite the molecular understating of STAT3 and the vast evidence implicating STAT3 in cancer progression, there is a lack of clinically available drugs that directly target this transcription factor (Gu et al., 2020).

Under most homeostatic conditions, the concentration of IL-6 in the circulation is around 1-5 pg/mL, while some pathologies can induce an increase to the ng/mL range (Calabrese & Rose-John, 2014). The levels of IL-6 can range from 100-500 pg/mL in numerous cancer types, which prompted the use of monoclonal anti-IL-6 antibodies in patients with prostate cancer and renal cell carcinoma (Rossi et al., 2010; Fizazi et al., 2012). These observations, the lack of clinically approved specific-downstream signaling inhibitors, and the advent of ICIs have generated many new hypotheses to broadly target IL-6 inhibition. Specifically, combining the limited efficacy of ICIs in some cancer types with general blockade of IL-6. For example, there are also accounts of increased IL-6 secretion from primary stellate cells in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients (Mace et al., 2018). In this same study, the authors report that IL-6 blockade combined with PD-L1 blockade promote neoplastic control through increased T cell infiltration into the tumors of PDAC bearing mice. This and a handful of other studies in solid malignancies, serve as pre-clinical evidence that blockade of IL-6 signaling may enhance the efficacy of other immunotherapies (Li et al., 2018; Tsukamoto et al., 2018).

Over the last decade, our research group has expanded the knowledge of IL-6 in disease, particularly its role in hematologic malignancies and therapeutic targeting in this context. For example, using a model of Burkitt's lymphoma, Gilbert and Hemann were able to show that TME derived IL-6 aided in lymphoma cell survival following treatment with doxorubicin (Gilbert & Hemann, 2010). It was also reported that IL-6 could either promote or inhibit lymphoma progression depending on the developmental stage of this malignancy (Gilbert & Hemann, 2012). These and other results highlight the impact of the TME on therapeutic outcome, particularly how paracrine secreted signals like IL-6 allow for the survival and persistence of tumor cells that eventually fuel relapse (Bent et al., 2016).

Inspired by these observations, and considering how cytotoxic chemotherapy rarely generates durable anti-tumor immune responses in patients, I embarked into studying the role of IL-6 in anticancer immunity stimulated by immunotherapies. The next chapter of my thesis presents the body of work on how production of IL-6 by the TME regulates the therapeutic efficacy of doxorubicin against a mouse model of Ph⁺ B-ALL. Importantly, we show that resistance against doxorubicin promoted by IL-6 is due to suppression of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell immune responses.

Thesis summary

Overall, the studies described above suggest that unleashing immune responses against tumors is one of the best approaches for clinical management of cancer patients. Genetic and cellular alterations of transformed cells provide the immune system with delicate cues to recognize nonself and generate T-cell responses that eradicate cancer cells, ensuing in a dance of tumor control and immune escape. Many immunomodulatory strategies have been recently developed to capitalize on and potentiate these pre-existing anticancer immune responses. However, even when T-cell responses occur and are reinvigorated by treatment, they rarely provide long-lasting protective immunity. These dynamics and a better understanding of T-cell inhibitory signals have spotlighted tumor microenvironments as culprits and perpetrators of many mechanisms that confer resistance against immune responses. In the following Chapter, I will outline our efforts to uncover and eliminate tumor microenvironment derived elements that mediate protection of cancer cells against therapy. These studies add to the growing bodies of work that attempt to manipulate and enhance antitumor immunity to generate long-lasting immune responses in cancer patients.

References

Abou Dalle I, Jabbour E, Short NJ, Ravandi F. Treatment of Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2019 Jan 24;20(1):4.

Abroun S, Saki N, Ahmadvand M, Asghari F, Salari F, Rahim F. STATs: An Old Story, Yet Mesmerizing. Cell J. 2015 Fall;17(3):395-411.

Ahlmann M, Hempel G. The effect of cyclophosphamide on the immune system: implications for clinical cancer therapy. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 2016 Oct;78(4):661-71.

Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 2000 Mar 9;404(6774):193-7.

Akhurst RJ, Hata A. Targeting the TGF β signalling pathway in disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2012 Oct;11(10):790-811.

Al-Drees MA, Yeo JH, Boumelhem BB, Antas VI, Brigden KW, Colonne CK, Fraser ST. Making Blood: The Haematopoietic Niche throughout Ontogeny. Stem Cells Int. 2015;2015:571893.

Alloatti A, Kotsias F, Magalhaes JG, Amigorena S. Dendritic cell maturation and crosspresentation: timing matters! Immunol Rev. 2016 Jul;272(1):97-108.

Alonzi T, Fattori E, Lazzaro D, Costa P, Probert L, Kollias G, De Benedetti F, Poli V, Ciliberto G. Interleukin 6 is required for the development of collagen-induced arthritis. J Exp Med. 1998 Feb 16;187(4):461-8.

Altan-Bonnet G, Mukherjee R. Cytokine-mediated communication: a quantitative appraisal of immune complexity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2019 Apr;19(4):205-217.

American Cancer Society, cancer facts and figures 2021. https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-figures/cancer-facts-figures-2021.html

Angell H, Galon J. From the immune contexture to the Immunoscore: the role of prognostic and predictive immune markers in cancer. Curr Opin Immunol. 2013 Apr;25(2):261-7.

Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, André F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007 Sep;13(9):1050-9.

Appelbaum FR. Acute Leukemias in Adults. Abeloffs Clinical Oncology. 2020

Artis D, Spits H. The biology of innate lymphoid cells. Nature. 2015 Jan 15;517(7534):293-301.

Atkins MB, Lotze MT, Dutcher JP, Fisher RI, Weiss G, Margolin K, Abrams J, Sznol M, Parkinson D, Hawkins M, Paradise C, Kunkel L, Rosenberg SA. High-dose recombinant interleukin 2 therapy for patients with metastatic melanoma: analysis of 270 patients treated between 1985 and 1993. J Clin Oncol. 1999 Jul;17(7):2105-16.

Aur RJ, Simone J, Hustu HO, Walters T, Borella L, Pratt C, Pinkel D. Central nervous system therapy and combination chemotherapy of childhood lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 1971 Mar;37(3):272-81.

Awan FT, Byrd JC. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Abeloffs Clinical Oncology. 2020

Babon JJ, Kershaw NJ, Murphy JM, Varghese LN, Laktyushin A, Young SN, Lucet IS, Norton RS, Nicola NA. Suppression of cytokine signaling by SOCS3: characterization of the mode of inhibition and the basis of its specificity. Immunity. 2012 Feb 24;36(2):239-50.

Bae EA, Seo H, Kim IK, Jeon I, Kang CY. Roles of NKT cells in cancer immunotherapy. Arch Pharm Res. 2019 Jul;42(7):543-548.

Bajénoff M, Egen JG, Qi H, Huang AY, Castellino F, Germain RN. Highways, byways and breadcrumbs: directing lymphocyte traffic in the lymph node. Trends Immunol. 2007 Aug;28(8):346-52.

Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2012 Dec 1;125(Pt 23):5591-6.

Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, Pulendran B, Palucka K. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2000;18:767-811.

Baumann H, Gauldie J. The acute phase response. Immunol Today. 1994 Feb;15(2):74-80.

Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, Sharpe AH. Coinhibitory Pathways in Immunotherapy for Cancer. Annu Rev Immunol. 2016 May 20;34:539-73.

Beavis PA, Stagg J, Darcy PK, Smyth MJ. CD73: a potent suppressor of antitumor immune responses. Trends Immunol. 2012 May;33(5):231-7.

Bejarano L, Jordāo MJC, Joyce JA. Therapeutic Targeting of the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Discov. 2021 Apr;11(4):933-959.

Benlagha K, Kyin T, Beavis A, Teyton L, Bendelac A. A thymic precursor to the NK T cell lineage. Science. 2002 Apr 19;296(5567):553-5.

Bent EH, Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. A senescence secretory switch mediated by PI3K/AKT/mTOR activation controls chemoprotective endothelial secretory responses. Genes Dev. 2016 Aug 15;30(16):1811-21.

Bernt KM, Hunger SP. Current concepts in pediatric Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Front Oncol. 2014 Mar 25;4:54.

Berraondo P, Sanmamed MF, Ochoa MC, Etxeberria I, Aznar MA, Pérez-Gracia JL, Rodríguez-Ruiz ME, Ponz-Sarvise M, Castañón E, Melero I. Cytokines in clinical cancer immunotherapy. Br J Cancer. 2019 Jan;120(1):6-15.

Bertrand F, Montfort A, Marcheteau E, Imbert C, Gilhodes J, Filleron T, Rochaix P, Andrieu-Abadie N, Levade T, Meyer N, Colacios C, Ségui B. TNFα blockade overcomes resistance to anti-PD-1 in experimental melanoma. Nat Commun. 2017 Dec 22;8(1):2256.

Bhome R, Goh RW, Bullock MD, Pillar N, Thirdborough SM, Mellone M, Mirnezami R, Galea D, Veselkov K, Gu Q, Underwood TJ, Primrose JN, De Wever O, Shomron N, Sayan AE, Mirnezami AH. Exosomal microRNAs derived from colorectal cancer-associated fibroblasts: role in driving cancer progression. Aging (Albany NY). 2017 Dec 28;9(12):2666-2694.

Binnewies M, Roberts EW, Kersten K, Chan V, Fearon DF, Merad M, Coussens LM, Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Hedrick CC, Vonderheide RH, Pittet MJ, Jain RK, Zou W, Howcroft TK, Woodhouse EC, Weinberg RA, Krummel MF. Understanding the tumor immune microenvironment (TIME) for effective therapy. Nat Med. 2018 May;24(5):541-550.

Blackadar CB. Historical review of the causes of cancer. World J Clin Oncol. 2016;7(1):54-86.

Bloomfield CD, Goldman AI, Alimena G, Berger R, Borgström GH, Brandt L, Catovsky D, de la Chapelle A, Dewald GW, Garson OM, Garwicz S, Golomb HM, Hossfeld DK, Lawler SD, Mitelman F, Nilsson P, Pierre RV, Philip P, Prigogina E, Rowley JD, Sakurai M, Sandberg AA, Secker Walker LM, Tricot G, Van Den Berghe H, Van Orshoven A, Vuopio P, Whang-Peng J. Chromosomal abnormalities identify high-risk and low-risk patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 1986 Feb;67(2):415-20.

Bloy N, Garcia P, Laumont CM, Pitt JM, Sistigu A, Stoll G, Yamazaki T, Bonneil E, Buqué A, Humeau J, Drijfhout JW, Meurice G, Walter S, Fritsche J, Weinschenk T, Rammensee HG, Melief C, Thibault P, Perreault C, Pol J, Zitvogel L, Senovilla L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic stress and death of cancer cells: Contribution of antigenicity vs adjuvanticity to immunosurveillance. Immunol Rev. 2017 Nov;280(1):165-174.

Borregaard N. Neutrophils, from marrow to microbes. Immunity. 2010 Nov 24;33(5):657-70.

Borst J, Ahrends T, Bąbała N, Melief CJM, Kastenmüller W. CD4⁺ T cell help in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018 Oct;18(10):635-647.

Böttcher JP, Bonavita E, Chakravarty P, Blees H, Cabeza-Cabrerizo M, Sammicheli S, Rogers NC, Sahai E, Zelenay S, Reis e Sousa C. NK Cells Stimulate Recruitment of cDC1 into the Tumor Microenvironment Promoting Cancer Immune Control. Cell. 2018 Feb 22;172(5):1022-1037.e14.

Boulos N, Mulder HL, Calabrese CR, Morrison JB, Rehg JE, Relling MV, Sherr CJ, Williams RT. Chemotherapeutic agents circumvent emergence of dasatinib-resistant BCR-ABL kinase mutations in a precise mouse model of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2011 Mar 31;117(13):3585-95.

Boutros C, Tarhini A, Routier E, Lambotte O, Ladurie FL, Carbonnel F, Izzeddine H, Marabelle A, Champiat S, Berdelou A, Lanoy E, Texier M, Libenciuc C, Eggermont AM, Soria JC, Mateus C, Robert C. Safety profiles of anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies alone and in combination. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016 Aug;13(8):473-86.

Brown GD, Willment JA, Whitehead L. C-type lectins in immunity and homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018 Jun;18(6):374-389.

Brunner MC, Chambers CA, Chan FK, Hanke J, Winoto A, Allison JP. CTLA-4-Mediated inhibition of early events of T cell proliferation. J Immunol. 1999 May 15;162(10):5813-20.

Buitenkamp TD, Izraeli S, Zimmermann M, Forestier E, Heerema NA, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Pieters R, Korbijn CM, Silverman LB, Schmiegelow K, Liang DC, Horibe K, Arico M, Biondi A, Basso G, Rabin KR, Schrappe M, Cario G, Mann G, Morak M, Panzer-Grümayer R, Mondelaers V, Lammens T, Cavé H, Stark B, Ganmore I, Moorman AV, Vora A, Hunger SP, Pui CH, Mullighan CG, Manabe A, Escherich G, Kowalczyk JR, Whitlock JA, Zwaan CM. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children with Down syndrome: a retrospective analysis from the Ponte di Legno study group. Blood. 2014 Jan 2;123(1):70-7.

Burger JA, Tedeschi A, Barr PM, Robak T, Owen C, Ghia P, Bairey O, Hillmen P, Bartlett NL, Li J, Simpson D, Grosicki S, Devereux S, McCarthy H, Coutre S, Quach H, Gaidano G, Maslyak Z, Stevens DA, Janssens A, Offner F, Mayer J, O'Dwyer M, Hellmann A, Schuh A, Siddiqi T, Polliack A, Tam CS, Suri D, Cheng M, Clow F, Styles L, James DF, Kipps TJ; RESONATE-2 Investigators. Ibrutinib as Initial Therapy for Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2015 Dec 17;373(25):2425-37.

Byrd JC, Murphy T, Howard RS, Lucas MS, Goodrich A, Park K, Pearson M, Waselenko JK, Ling G, Grever MR, Grillo-Lopez AJ, Rosenberg J, Kunkel L, Flinn IW. Rituximab using a thrice weekly dosing schedule in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma demonstrates clinical activity and acceptable toxicity. J Clin Oncol. 2001 Apr 15;19(8):2153-64.

Byrd JC, Peterson BL, Morrison VA, Park K, Jacobson R, Hoke E, Vardiman JW, Rai K, Schiffer CA, Larson RA. Randomized phase 2 study of fludarabine with concurrent versus sequential treatment with rituximab in symptomatic, untreated patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic

leukemia: results from Cancer and Leukemia Group B 9712 (CALGB 9712). Blood. 2003 Jan 1;101(1):6-14.

Calabrese LH, Rose-John S. IL-6 biology: implications for clinical targeting in rheumatic disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2014 Dec;10(12):720-7.

Campos-Sanchez E, Toboso-Navasa A, Romero-Camarero I, Barajas-Diego M, Sanchez-García I, Cobaleda C. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia and developmental biology: a crucial interrelationship. Cell Cycle. 2011 Oct 15;10(20):3473-86.

Camus M, Tosolini M, Mlecnik B, Pagès F, Kirilovsky A, Berger A, Costes A, Bindea G, Charoentong P, Bruneval P, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Galon J. Coordination of intratumoral immune reaction and human colorectal cancer recurrence. Cancer Res. 2009 Mar 15;69(6):2685-93.

Carragher DM, Rangel-Moreno J, Randall TD. Ectopic lymphoid tissues and local immunity. Semin Immunol. 2008 Feb;20(1):26-42.

Casares N, Pequignot MO, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Roux S, Chaput N, Schmitt E, Hamai A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Obeid M, Coutant F, Métivier D, Pichard E, Aucouturier P, Pierron G, Garrido C, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Caspase-dependent immunogenicity of doxorubicin-induced tumor cell death. J Exp Med. 2005 Dec 19;202(12):1691-701.

Cassetta L, Pollard JW. Targeting macrophages: therapeutic approaches in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2018 Dec;17(12):887-904.

Castoldi F, Vacchelli E, Zitvogel L, Maiuri MC, Pietrocola F, Kroemer G. Systemic autophagy in the therapeutic response to anthracycline-based chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2018 Oct 1;8(1):e1498285.

Chambers CA, Kuhns MS, Egen JG, Allison JP. CTLA-4-mediated inhibition in regulation of T cell responses: mechanisms and manipulation in tumor immunotherapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2001;19:565-94.

Chang RB, Beatty GL. The interplay between innate and adaptive immunity in cancer shapes the productivity of cancer immunosurveillance. J Leukoc Biol. 2020 Jul;108(1):363-376.

Chantry D, Vojtek A, Kashishian A, Holtzman DA, Wood C, Gray PW, Cooper JA, Hoekstra MF. p110delta, a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit that associates with p85 and is expressed predominantly in leukocytes. J Biol Chem. 1997 Aug 1;272(31):19236-41.

Chao MP, Jaiswal S, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Alizadeh AA, Gentles AJ, Volkmer J, Weiskopf K, Willingham SB, Raveh T, Park CY, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Calreticulin is the dominant pro-

phagocytic signal on multiple human cancers and is counterbalanced by CD47. Sci Transl Med. 2010 Dec 22;2(63):63ra94.

Chaplin DD. Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010 Feb;125(2 Suppl 2):S3-23.

Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. Immunity. 2013 Jul 25;39(1):1-10.

Chen H, Wang F, Zhang P, Zhang Y, Chen Y, Fan X, Cao X, Liu J, Yang Y, Wang B, Lei B, Gu L, Bai J, Wei L, Zhang R, Zhuang Q, Zhang W, Zhao W, He A. Management of cytokine release syndrome related to CAR-T cell therapy. Front Med. 2019 Oct;13(5):610-617.

Chen J, Huang X, Huang G, Chen Y, Chen L, Song H. Preconditioning chemotherapy with cisplatin enhances the antitumor activity of cytokine-induced killer cells in a murine melanoma model. Cancer Biother Radiopharm. 2012 Apr;27(3):210-20.

Chen YL, Chang MC, Cheng WF. Metronomic chemotherapy and immunotherapy in cancer treatment. Cancer Lett. 2017 Aug 1;400:282-292.

Cheson BD, Bennett JM, Grever M, Kay N, Keating MJ, O'Brien S, Rai KR. National Cancer Institute-sponsored Working Group guidelines for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: revised guidelines for diagnosis and treatment. Blood. 1996 Jun 15;87(12):4990-7.

Chissoe SL, Bodenteich A, Wang YF, Wang YP, Burian D, Clifton SW, Crabtree J, Freeman A, Iyer K, Jian L, Ma Y, McLaury HJ, Pan HQ, Sarhan OH, Toth S, Wang Z, Zhang G, Heisterkamp N, Groffen J, Roe BA. Sequence and analysis of the human ABL gene, the BCR gene, and regions involved in the Philadelphia chromosomal translocation. Genomics. 1995 May 1;27(1):67-82.

Choy E, Rose-John S. Interleukin-6 as a Multifunctional Regulator: Inflammation, Immune Response, and Fibrosis. Journal of Scleroderma and Related Disorders. 2017;2(2_suppl).

Choy EH, De Benedetti F, Takeuchi T, Hashizume M, John MR, Kishimoto T. Translating IL-6 biology into effective treatments. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2020 Jun;16(6):335-345.

Conlon KC, Miljkovic MD, Waldmann TA. Cytokines in the Treatment of Cancer. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2019 Jan;39(1):6-21.

Cortes JE, Kim DW, Pinilla-Ibarz J, le Coutre P, Paquette R, Chuah C, Nicolini FE, Apperley JF, Khoury HJ, Talpaz M, DiPersio J, DeAngelo DJ, Abruzzese E, Rea D, Baccarani M, Müller MC, Gambacorti-Passerini C, Wong S, Lustgarten S, Rivera VM, Clackson T, Turner CD, Haluska FG, Guilhot F, Deininger MW, Hochhaus A, Hughes T, Goldman JM, Shah NP, Kantarjian H; PACE Investigators. A phase 2 trial of ponatinib in Philadelphia chromosome-positive leukemias. N Engl J Med. 2013 Nov 7;369(19):1783-96. Cruz FM, Colbert JD, Merino E, Kriegsman BA, Rock KL. The Biology and Underlying Mechanisms of Cross-Presentation of Exogenous Antigens on MHC-I Molecules. Annu Rev Immunol. 2017 Apr 26;35:149-176.

Daley GQ, Van Etten RA, Baltimore D. Induction of chronic myelogenous leukemia in mice by the P210bcr/abl gene of the Philadelphia chromosome. Science. 1990 Feb 16;247(4944):824-30.

Daver N, Thomas D, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Garris R, Jabbour E, Garcia-Manero G, Borthakur G, Kadia T, Rytting M, Konopleva M, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S. Final report of a phase II study of imatinib mesylate with hyper-CVAD for the front-line treatment of adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Haematologica. 2015 May;100(5):653-61.

Davila ML, Riviere I, Wang X, Bartido S, Park J, Curran K, Chung SS, Stefanski J, Borquez-Ojeda O, Olszewska M, Qu J, Wasielewska T, He Q, Fink M, Shinglot H, Youssif M, Satter M, Wang Y, Hosey J, Quintanilla H, Halton E, Bernal Y, Bouhassira DC, Arcila ME, Gonen M, Roboz GJ, Maslak P, Douer D, Frattini MG, Giralt S, Sadelain M, Brentjens R. Efficacy and toxicity management of 19-28z CAR T cell therapy in B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Sci Transl Med. 2014 Feb 19;6(224):224ra25.

De Palma M, Biziato D, Petrova TV. Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. 2017 Aug;17(8):457-474.

De Smet K, Contreras R. Human antimicrobial peptides: defensins, cathelicidins and histatins. Biotechnol Lett. 2005 Sep;27(18):1337-47.

Demaria O, Cornen S, Daëron M, Morel Y, Medzhitov R, Vivier E. Harnessing innate immunity in cancer therapy. Nature. 2019 Oct;574(7776):45-56.

DeNardo DG, Ruffell B. Macrophages as regulators of tumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2019 Jun;19(6):369-382.

Deutsch E, Chargari C, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G. Optimising efficacy and reducing toxicity of anticancer radioimmunotherapy. Lancet Oncol. 2019 Aug;20(8):e452-e463.

Devaud C, Yong CS, John LB, Westwood JA, Duong CP, House CM, Denoyer D, Li J, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH. Foxp3 expression in macrophages associated with RENCA tumors in mice. PLoS One. 2014 Sep 29;9(9):e108670.

Dinarello CA. Historical insights into cytokines. Eur J Immunol. 2007 Nov;37 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S34-45.

Ding ZC, Lu X, Yu M, Lemos H, Huang L, Chandler P, Liu K, Walters M, Krasinski A, Mack M, Blazar BR, Mellor AL, Munn DH, Zhou G. Immunosuppressive myeloid cells induced by

chemotherapy attenuate antitumor CD4+ T-cell responses through the PD-1-PD-L1 axis. Cancer Res. 2014 Jul 1;74(13):3441-53.

Dondelinger Y, Declercq W, Montessuit S, Roelandt R, Goncalves A, Bruggeman I, Hulpiau P, Weber K, Sehon CA, Marquis RW, Bertin J, Gough PJ, Savvides S, Martinou JC, Bertrand MJ, Vandenabeele P. MLKL compromises plasma membrane integrity by binding to phosphatidylinositol phosphates. Cell Rep. 2014 May 22;7(4):971-81.

Dores GM, Devesa SS, Curtis RE, Linet MS, Morton LM. Acute leukemia incidence and patient survival among children and adults in the United States, 2001-2007. Blood. 2012 Jan 5;119(1):34-43.

Doulatov S, Notta F, Laurenti E, Dick JE. Hematopoiesis: a human perspective. Cell Stem Cell. 2012 Feb 3;10(2):120-36.

Druker BJ, Sawyers CL, Kantarjian H, Resta DJ, Reese SF, Ford JM, Capdeville R, Talpaz M. Activity of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in the blast crisis of chronic myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the Philadelphia chromosome. N Engl J Med. 2001**a** Apr 5;344(14):1038-42.

Druker BJ, Talpaz M, Resta DJ, Peng B, Buchdunger E, Ford JM, Lydon NB, Kantarjian H, Capdeville R, Ohno-Jones S, Sawyers CL. Efficacy and safety of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2001**b** Apr 5;344(14):1031-7.

Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E, Ohno S, Segal GM, Fanning S, Zimmermann J, Lydon NB. Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. Nat Med. 1996 May;2(5):561-6.

Dührsen U, Hossfeld DK. Stromal abnormalities in neoplastic bone marrow diseases. Ann Hematol. 1996 Aug;73(2):53-70.

Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: from immunosurveillance to tumor escape. Nat Immunol. 2002 Nov;3(11):991-8.

Eibel H, Kraus H, Sic H, Kienzler AK, Rizzi M. B cell biology: an overview. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2014 May;14(5):434.

Eichhorst BF, Busch R, Hopfinger G, Pasold R, Hensel M, Steinbrecher C, Siehl S, Jäger U, Bergmann M, Stilgenbauer S, Schweighofer C, Wendtner CM, Döhner H, Brittinger G, Emmerich B, Hallek M; German CLL Study Group. Fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide versus fludarabine alone in first-line therapy of younger patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2006 Feb 1;107(3):885-91.
Eichhorst BF, Busch R, Stilgenbauer S, Stauch M, Bergmann MA, Ritgen M, Kranzhöfer N, Rohrberg R, Söling U, Burkhard O, Westermann A, Goede V, Schweighofer CD, Fischer K, Fink AM, Wendtner CM, Brittinger G, Döhner H, Emmerich B, Hallek M; German CLL Study Group (GCLLSG). First-line therapy with fludarabine compared with chlorambucil does not result in a major benefit for elderly patients with advanced chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2009 Oct 15;114(16):3382-91.

El Fakih R, Jabbour E, Ravandi F, Hassanein M, Anjum F, Ahmed S, Kantarjian H. Current paradigms in the management of Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults. Am J Hematol. 2018 Feb;93(2):286-295.

Elias L, Stock-Novack D, Head DR, Grever MR, Weick JK, Chapman RA, Godwin JE, Metz EN, Appelbaum FR. A phase I trial of combination fludarabine monophosphate and chlorambucil in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a Southwest Oncology Group study. Leukemia. 1993 Mar;7(3):361-5.

Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Kalden JR, Antoni C, Smolen JS, Leeb B, Breedveld FC, Macfarlane JD, Bijl H, Woody JN. Randomised double-blind comparison of chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor alpha (cA2) versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet. 1994 Oct 22;344(8930):1105-10.

Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, Park D, Woodson RI, Ostankovich M, Sharma P, Lysiak JJ, Harden TK, Leitinger N, Ravichandran KS. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal to promote phagocytic clearance. Nature. 2009 Sep 10;461(7261):282-6.

ElTanbouly MA, Noelle RJ. Rethinking peripheral T cell tolerance: checkpoints across a T cell's journey. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021 Apr;21(4):257-267.

Eroglu Z, Kim DW, Wang X, Camacho LH, Chmielowski B, Seja E, Villanueva A, Ruchalski K, Glaspy JA, Kim KB, Hwu WJ, Ribas A. Long term survival with cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 blockade using tremelimumab. Eur J Cancer. 2015 Nov;51(17):2689-97.

Faderl S, Kantarjian HM, Thomas DA, Cortes J, Giles F, Pierce S, Albitar M, Estrov Z. Outcome of Philadelphia chromosome-positive adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2000 Jan;36(3-4):263-73.

Faderl S, O'Brien S, Pui CH, Stock W, Wetzler M, Hoelzer D, Kantarjian HM. Adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: concepts and strategies. Cancer. 2010 Mar 1;116(5):1165-76.

Fares J, Fares MY, Khachfe HH, Salhab HA, Fares Y. Molecular principles of metastasis: a hallmark of cancer revisited. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2020 Mar 12;5(1):28.

Fearon DT. The carcinoma-associated fibroblast expressing fibroblast activation protein and escape from immune surveillance. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014 Mar;2(3):187-93.

Feng L, Sun X, Csizmadia E, Han L, Bian S, Murakami T, Wang X, Robson SC, Wu Y. Vascular CD39/ENTPD1 directly promotes tumor cell growth by scavenging extracellular adenosine triphosphate. Neoplasia. 2011 Mar;13(3):206-16.

Fielding AK, Rowe JM, Richards SM, Buck G, Moorman AV, Durrant IJ, Marks DI, McMillan AK, Litzow MR, Lazarus HM, Foroni L, Dewald G, Franklin IM, Luger SM, Paietta E, Wiernik PH, Tallman MS, Goldstone AH. Prospective outcome data on 267 unselected adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia confirms superiority of allogeneic transplantation over chemotherapy in the pre-imatinib era: results from the International ALL Trial MRC UKALLXII/ECOG2993. Blood. 2009 May 7;113(19):4489-96.

Fizazi K, De Bono JS, Flechon A, Heidenreich A, Voog E, Davis NB, Qi M, Bandekar R, Vermeulen JT, Cornfeld M, Hudes GR. Randomised phase II study of siltuximab (CNTO 328), an anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibody, in combination with mitoxantrone/prednisone versus mitoxantrone/prednisone alone in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Eur J Cancer. 2012 Jan;48(1):85-93.

Flinn IW, Neuberg DS, Grever MR, Dewald GW, Bennett JM, Paietta EM, Hussein MA, Appelbaum FR, Larson RA, Moore DF Jr, Tallman MS. Phase III trial of fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide compared with fludarabine for patients with previously untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia: US Intergroup Trial E2997. J Clin Oncol. 2007 Mar 1;25(7):793-8.

Flores-Figueroa E, Gutiérrez-Espíndola G, Montesinos JJ, Arana-Trejo RM, Mayani H. In vitro characterization of hematopoietic microenvironment cells from patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. Leuk Res. 2002 Jul;26(7):677-86.

Forrester JV, Xu H, Lambe T, Cornall R. Immune privilege or privileged immunity? Mucosal Immunol. 2008 Sep;1(5):372-81.

Forte D, Krause DS, Andreeff M, Bonnet D, Méndez-Ferrer S. Updates on the hematologic tumor microenvironment and its therapeutic targeting. Haematologica. 2019 Oct;104(10):1928-1934.

Frame JM, McGrath KE, Palis J. Erythro-myeloid progenitors: "definitive" hematopoiesis in the conceptus prior to the emergence of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood Cells Mol Dis. 2013 Dec;51(4):220-5.

Frederick DT, Piris A, Cogdill AP, Cooper ZA, Lezcano C, Ferrone CR, Mitra D, Boni A, Newton LP, Liu C, Peng W, Sullivan RJ, Lawrence DP, Hodi FS, Overwijk WW, Lizée G, Murphy GF, Hwu P, Flaherty KT, Fisher DE, Wargo JA. BRAF inhibition is associated with enhanced melanoma antigen expression and a more favorable tumor microenvironment in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2013 Mar 1;19(5):1225-31.

Friedman AD. Transcriptional regulation of granulocyte and monocyte development. Oncogene. 2002 May 13;21(21):3377-90.

Fucikova J, Kralikova P, Fialova A, Brtnicky T, Rob L, Bartunkova J, Spísek R. Human tumor cells killed by anthracyclines induce a tumor-specific immune response. Cancer Res. 2011 Jul 15;71(14):4821-33.

Fucikova J, Moserova I, Truxova I, Hermanova I, Vancurova I, Partlova S, Fialova A, Sojka L, Cartron PF, Houska M, Rob L, Bartunkova J, Spisek R. High hydrostatic pressure induces immunogenic cell death in human tumor cells. Int J Cancer. 2014 Sep 1;135(5):1165-77.

Fukumura D, Xavier R, Sugiura T, Chen Y, Park EC, Lu N, Selig M, Nielsen G, Taksir T, Jain RK, Seed B. Tumor induction of VEGF promoter activity in stromal cells. Cell. 1998 Sep 18;94(6):715-25.

Fyfe G, Fisher RI, Rosenberg SA, Sznol M, Parkinson DR, Louie AC. Results of treatment of 255 patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma who received high-dose recombinant interleukin-2 therapy. J Clin Oncol. 1995 Mar;13(3):688-96.

Gabrilovich DI, Nagaraj S. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009 Mar;9(3):162-74.

Gago da Graça C, van Baarsen LGM, Mebius RE. Tertiary Lymphoid Structures: Diversity in Their Development, Composition, and Role. J Immunol. 2021 Jan 15;206(2):273-281.

Gajewski TF, Corrales L, Williams J, Horton B, Sivan A, Spranger S. Cancer Immunotherapy Targets Based on Understanding the T Cell-Inflamed Versus Non-T Cell-Inflamed Tumor Microenvironment. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1036:19-31.

Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017 Feb;17(2):97-111.

Galluzzi L, Humeau J, Buqué A, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunostimulation with chemotherapy in the era of immune checkpoint inhibitors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2020**a** Dec;17(12):725-741.

Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, Alnemri ES, Altucci L, Amelio I, Andrews DW, Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli M, Antonov AV, Arama E, Baehrecke EH, Barlev NA, Bazan NG, Bernassola F, Bertrand MJM, Bianchi K, Blagosklonny MV, Blomgren K, Borner C, Boya P, Brenner C, Campanella M, Candi E, Carmona-Gutierrez D, Cecconi F, Chan FK, Chandel NS, Cheng EH, Chipuk JE, Cidlowski JA, Ciechanover A, Cohen GM, Conrad M, Cubillos-Ruiz JR, Czabotar PE, D'Angiolella V, Dawson TM, Dawson VL, De Laurenzi V, De Maria R, Debatin KM, DeBerardinis RJ, Deshmukh M, Di Daniele N, Di Virgilio F, Dixit VM, Dixon SJ, Duckett CS, Dynlacht BD, El-Deiry WS, Elrod JW, Fimia GM, Fulda S, García-Sáez AJ, Garg AD, Garrido C, Gavathiotis E, Golstein P, Gottlieb E, Green DR, Greene LA, Gronemeyer H, Gross A, Hajnoczky

G, Hardwick JM, Harris IS, Hengartner MO, Hetz C, Ichijo H, Jäättelä M, Joseph B, Jost PJ, Juin PP, Kaiser WJ, Karin M, Kaufmann T, Kepp O, Kimchi A, Kitsis RN, Klionsky DJ, Knight RA, Kumar S, Lee SW, Lemasters JJ, Levine B, Linkermann A, Lipton SA, Lockshin RA, López-Otín C, Lowe SW, Luedde T, Lugli E, MacFarlane M, Madeo F, Malewicz M, Malorni W, Manic G, Marine JC, Martin SJ, Martinou JC, Medema JP, Mehlen P, Meier P, Melino S, Miao EA, Molkentin JD, Moll UM, Muñoz-Pinedo C, Nagata S, Nuñez G, Oberst A, Oren M, Overholtzer M, Pagano M, Panaretakis T, Pasparakis M, Penninger JM, Pereira DM, Pervaiz S, Peter ME, Piacentini M, Pinton P, Prehn JHM, Puthalakath H, Rabinovich GA, Rehm M, Rizzuto R, Rodrigues CMP, Rubinsztein DC, Rudel T, Ryan KM, Sayan E, Scorrano L, Shao F, Shi Y, Silke J, Simon HU, Sistigu A, Stockwell BR, Strasser A, Szabadkai G, Tait SWG, Tang D, Tavernarakis N, Thorburn A, Tsujimoto Y, Turk B, Vanden Berghe T, Vandenabeele P, Vander Heiden MG, Villunger A, Virgin HW, Vousden KH, Vucic D, Wagner EF, Walczak H, Wallach D, Wang Y, Wells JA, Wood W, Yuan J, Zakeri Z, Zhivotovsky B, Zitvogel L, Melino G, Kroemer G. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. Cell Death Differ. 2018 Mar;25(3):486-541.

Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Warren S, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, Martinez AB, Chan TA, Coukos G, Demaria S, Deutsch E, Draganov D, Edelson RL, Formenti SC, Fucikova J, Gabriele L, Gaipl US, Gameiro SR, Garg AD, Golden E, Han J, Harrington KJ, Hemminki A, Hodge JW, Hossain DMS, Illidge T, Karin M, Kaufman HL, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Lasarte JJ, Loi S, Lotze MT, Manic G, Merghoub T, Melcher AA, Mossman KL, Prosper F, Rekdal Ø, Rescigno M, Riganti C, Sistigu A, Smyth MJ, Spisek R, Stagg J, Strauss BE, Tang D, Tatsuno K, van Gool SW, Vandenabeele P, Yamazaki T, Zamarin D, Zitvogel L, Cesano A, Marincola FM. Consensus guidelines for the definition, detection and interpretation of immunogenic cell death. J Immunother Cancer. 2020**b** Mar;8(1):e000337.

Galon J, Bruni D. Approaches to treat immune hot, altered and cold tumours with combination immunotherapies. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2019 Mar;18(3):197-218.

Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, Tosolini M, Camus M, Berger A, Wind P, Zinzindohoué F, Bruneval P, Cugnenc PH, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pagès F. Type, density, and location of immune cells within human colorectal tumors predict clinical outcome. Science. 2006 Sep 29;313(5795):1960-4.

Galon J, Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, Berger A, Lagorce C, Lugli A, Zlobec I, Hartmann A, Bifulco C, Nagtegaal ID, Palmqvist R, Masucci GV, Botti G, Tatangelo F, Delrio P, Maio M, Laghi L, Grizzi F, Asslaber M, D'Arrigo C, Vidal-Vanaclocha F, Zavadova E, Chouchane L, Ohashi PS, Hafezi-Bakhtiari S, Wouters BG, Roehrl M, Nguyen L, Kawakami Y, Hazama S, Okuno K, Ogino S, Gibbs P, Waring P, Sato N, Torigoe T, Itoh K, Patel PS, Shukla SN, Wang Y, Kopetz S, Sinicrope FA, Scripcariu V, Ascierto PA, Marincola FM, Fox BA, Pagès F. Towards the introduction of the 'Immunoscore' in the classification of malignant tumours. J Pathol. 2014 Jan;232(2):199-209.

Garbers C, Heink S, Korn T, Rose-John S. Interleukin-6: designing specific therapeutics for a complex cytokine. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2018 Jun;17(6):395-412.

Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, Bratton DL, Oldenborg PA, Michalak M, Henson PM. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. Cell. 2005 Oct 21;123(2):321-34.

Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Breckpot K, Brough D, Chaurio R, Cirone M, Coosemans A, Coulie PG, De Ruysscher D, Dini L, de Witte P, Dudek-Peric AM, Faggioni A, Fucikova J, Gaipl US, Golab J, Gougeon ML, Hamblin MR, Hemminki A, Herrmann M, Hodge JW, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Krysko DV, Land WG, Madeo F, Manfredi AA, Mattarollo SR, Maueroder C, Merendino N, Multhoff G, Pabst T, Ricci JE, Riganti C, Romano E, Rufo N, Smyth MJ, Sonnemann J, Spisek R, Stagg J, Vacchelli E, Vandenabeele P, Vandenberk L, Van den Eynde BJ, Van Gool S, Velotti F, Zitvogel L, Agostinis P. Molecular and Translational Classifications of DAMPs in Immunogenic Cell Death. Front Immunol. 2015 Nov 20;6:588.

Garg AD, Krysko DV, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P. Hypericin-based photodynamic therapy induces surface exposure of damage-associated molecular patterns like HSP70 and calreticulin. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012 Feb;61(2):215-221.

Gasteiger G, Rudensky AY. Interactions between innate and adaptive lymphocytes. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014 Sep;14(9):631-9.

Geenen V. The thymus and the science of self. Semin Immunopathol. 2021 Feb;43(1):5-14.

Geiger H, Denkinger M, Schirmbeck R. Hematopoietic stem cell aging. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014 Aug;29:86-92.

Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Science. 2010 Feb 5;327(5966):656-61.

Germain RN. T-cell development and the CD4-CD8 lineage decision. Nat Rev Immunol. 2002 May;2(5):309-22.

Gewirtz DA. A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin. Biochem Pharmacol. 1999 Apr 1;57(7):727-41.

Geyer MB, Hsu M, Devlin SM, Tallman MS, Douer D, Park JH. Overall survival among older US adults with ALL remains low despite modest improvement since 1980: SEER analysis. Blood. 2017 Mar 30;129(13):1878-1881.

Giannopoulos K, Schmitt M, Kowal M, Wlasiuk P, Bojarska-Junak A, Chen J, Rolinski J, Dmoszynska A. Characterization of regulatory T cells in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncol Rep. 2008 Sep;20(3):677-82.

Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. Context-specific roles for paracrine IL-6 in lymphomagenesis. Genes Dev. 2012 Aug 1;26(15):1758-68.

Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. DNA damage-mediated induction of a chemoresistant niche. Cell. 2010 Oct 29;143(3):355-66.

Gleissner B, Gökbuget N, Bartram CR, Janssen B, Rieder H, Janssen JW, Fonatsch C, Heyll A, Voliotis D, Beck J, Lipp T, Munzert G, Maurer J, Hoelzer D, Thiel E; German Multicenter Trials of Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Study Group. Leading prognostic relevance of the BCR-ABL translocation in adult acute B-lineage lymphoblastic leukemia: a prospective study of the German Multicenter Trial Group and confirmed polymerase chain reaction analysis. Blood. 2002 Mar 1;99(5):1536-43.

Gökbuget N, Kneba M, Raff T, Trautmann H, Bartram CR, Arnold R, Fietkau R, Freund M, Ganser A, Ludwig WD, Maschmeyer G, Rieder H, Schwartz S, Serve H, Thiel E, Brüggemann M, Hoelzer D; German Multicenter Study Group for Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia and molecular failure display a poor prognosis and are candidates for stem cell transplantation and targeted therapies. Blood. 2012 Aug 30;120(9):1868-76.

Goodnow CC, Sprent J, Fazekas de St Groth B, Vinuesa CG. Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. Nature. 2005 Jun 2;435(7042):590-7.

Gordon S. Phagocytosis: An Immunobiologic Process. Immunity. 2016 Mar 15;44(3):463-475.

Green DR, Ferguson T, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic and tolerogenic cell death. Nat Rev Immunol. 2009 May;9(5):353-63.

Gregersen PK, Behrens TW. Genetics of autoimmune diseases--disorders of immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Genet. 2006 Dec;7(12):917-28.

Grever MR, Kopecky KJ, Coltman CA, Files JC, Greenberg BR, Hutton JJ, Talley R, Von Hoff DD, Balcerzak SP. Fludarabine monophosphate: a potentially useful agent in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol. 1988;30(5-6):457-9.

Gritsko T, Williams A, Turkson J, Kaneko S, Bowman T, Huang M, Nam S, Eweis I, Diaz N, Sullivan D, Yoder S, Enkemann S, Eschrich S, Lee JH, Beam CA, Cheng J, Minton S, Muro-Cacho CA, Jove R. Persistent activation of stat3 signaling induces survivin gene expression and confers resistance to apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2006 Jan 1;12(1):11-9.

Groopman JE, Gottlieb MS, Goodman J, Mitsuyasu RT, Conant MA, Prince H, Fahey JL, Derezin M, Weinstein WM, Casavante C, Rothman J, Rudnick SA. Recombinant alpha-2 interferon therapy for Kaposi's sarcoma associated with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Ann Intern Med. 1984 May;100(5):671-6.

Gu Y, Mohammad IS, Liu Z. Overview of the STAT-3 signaling pathway in cancer and the development of specific inhibitors. Oncol Lett. 2020 Apr;19(4):2585-2594.

Gubin MM, Artyomov MN, Mardis ER, Schreiber RD. Tumor neoantigens: building a framework for personalized cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. 2015 Sep;125(9):3413-21.

Haanen JBAG, Carbonnel F, Robert C, Kerr KM, Peters S, Larkin J, Jordan K; ESMO Guidelines Committee. Management of toxicities from immunotherapy: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017 Jul 1;28(suppl_4):iv119-iv142.

Hallek M, Cheson BD, Catovsky D, Caligaris-Cappio F, Dighiero G, Döhner H, Hillmen P, Keating MJ, Montserrat E, Rai KR, Kipps TJ; International Workshop on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a report from the International Workshop on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia updating the National Cancer Institute-Working Group 1996 guidelines. Blood. 2008 Jun 15;111(12):5446-56.

Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2012 Mar 20;21(3):309-22.

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011 Mar 4;144(5):646-74.

Harrison CJ. Cytogenetics of paediatric and adolescent acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol 2009;144:147-56.

Hasegawa H, Matsumoto T. Mechanisms of Tolerance Induction by Dendritic Cells In Vivo. Front Immunol. 2018 Feb 26;9:350.

Haso W, Lee DW, Shah NN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Pastan IH, Dimitrov DS, Morgan RA, FitzGerald DJ, Barrett DM, Wayne AS, Mackall CL, Orentas RJ. Anti-CD22-chimeric antigen receptors targeting B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2013 Feb 14;121(7):1165-74.

Hato T, Dagher PC. How the Innate Immune System Senses Trouble and Causes Trouble. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015 Aug 7;10(8):1459-69.

Hegde PS, Karanikas V, Evers S. The Where, the When, and the How of Immune Monitoring for Cancer Immunotherapies in the Era of Checkpoint Inhibition. Clin Cancer Res. 2016 Apr 15;22(8):1865-74.

Heink S, Yogev N, Garbers C, Herwerth M, Aly L, Gasperi C, Husterer V, Croxford AL, Möller-Hackbarth K, Bartsch HS, Sotlar K, Krebs S, Regen T, Blum H, Hemmer B, Misgeld T, Wunderlich TF, Hidalgo J, Oukka M, Rose-John S, Schmidt-Supprian M, Waisman A, Korn T. Transpresentation of IL-6 by dendritic cells is required for the priming of pathogenic $T_H 17$ cells. Nat Immunol. 2017 Jan;18(1):74-85.

Heinrich PC, Castell JV, Andus T. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. Biochem J. 1990 Feb 1;265(3):621-36.

Henke E, Nandigama R, Ergün S. Extracellular Matrix in the Tumor Microenvironment and Its Impact on Cancer Therapy. Front Mol Biosci. 2020 Jan 31;6:160.

Hernández ÁP, Juanes-Velasco P, Landeira-Viñuela A, Bareke H, Montalvillo E, Góngora R, Fuentes M. Restoring the Immunity in the Tumor Microenvironment: Insights into Immunogenic Cell Death in Onco-Therapies. Cancers (Basel). 2021 Jun 5;13(11):2821.

Hirano T, Yasukawa K, Harada H, Taga T, Watanabe Y, Matsuda T, Kashiwamura S, Nakajima K, Koyama K, Iwamatsu A, Tsunasawa S, Sakiyama F, Matsui H, Takahara Y, Taniguchi T, Kishimoto T. Complementary DNA for a novel human interleukin (BSF-2) that induces B lymphocytes to produce immunoglobulin. Nature. 1986 Nov 6-12;324(6092):73-6.

Ho YH, Del Toro R, Rivera-Torres J, Rak J, Korn C, García-García A, Macías D, González-Gómez C, Del Monte A, Wittner M, Waller AK, Foster HR, López-Otín C, Johnson RS, Nerlov C, Ghevaert C, Vainchenker W, Louache F, Andrés V, Méndez-Ferrer S. Remodeling of Bone Marrow Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niches Promotes Myeloid Cell Expansion during Premature or Physiological Aging. Cell Stem Cell. 2019 Sep 5;25(3):407-418.e6.

Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, Gonzalez R, Robert C, Schadendorf D, Hassel JC, Akerley W, van den Eertwegh AJ, Lutzky J, Lorigan P, Vaubel JM, Linette GP, Hogg D, Ottensmeier CH, Lebbé C, Peschel C, Quirt I, Clark JI, Wolchok JD, Weber JS, Tian J, Yellin MJ, Nichol GM, Hoos A, Urba WJ. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2010 Aug 19;363(8):711-23.

Holohan C, Van Schaeybroeck S, Longley DB, Johnston PG. Cancer drug resistance: an evolving paradigm. Nat Rev Cancer. 2013 Oct;13(10):714-26.

Honigberg LA, Smith AM, Sirisawad M, Verner E, Loury D, Chang B, Li S, Pan Z, Thamm DH, Miller RA, Buggy JJ. The Bruton tyrosine kinase inhibitor PCI-32765 blocks B-cell activation and is efficacious in models of autoimmune disease and B-cell malignancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Jul 20;107(29):13075-80.

Hoteit M, Oneissi Z, Reda R, Wakim F, Zaidan A, Farran M, Abi-Khalil E, El-Sibai M. Cancer immunotherapy: A comprehensive appraisal of its modes of application. Oncol Lett. 2021 Sep;22(3):655.

Hu J, Sun C, Bernatchez C, Xia X, Hwu P, Dotti G, Li S. T-cell Homing Therapy for Reducing Regulatory T Cells and Preserving Effector T-cell Function in Large Solid Tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2018 Jun 15;24(12):2920-2934.

Hu Y, Turner MJ, Shields J, Gale MS, Hutto E, Roberts BL, Siders WM, Kaplan JM. Investigation of the mechanism of action of alemtuzumab in a human CD52 transgenic mouse model. Immunology. 2009 Oct;128(2):260-70.

Huang PW, Chang JW. Immune checkpoint inhibitors win the 2018 Nobel Prize. Biomed J. 2019 Oct;42(5):299-306.

Hughes CE, Nibbs RJB. A guide to chemokines and their receptors. FEBS J. 2018 Aug;285(16):2944-2971.

Hui E, Cheung J, Zhu J, Su X, Taylor MJ, Wallweber HA, Sasmal DK, Huang J, Kim JM, Mellman I, Vale RD. T cell costimulatory receptor CD28 is a primary target for PD-1-mediated inhibition. Science. 2017 Mar 31;355(6332):1428-1433.

Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. N Engl J Med 2015**a**; 373:1541–1552.

Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Redefining ALL classification: toward detecting high-risk ALL and implementing precision medicine. Blood. 2015**b** Jun 25;125(26):3977-87.

Iacobucci I, Mullighan CG. Genetic Basis of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2017 Mar 20;35(9):975-983.

Ikuta K, Weissman IL. Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 Feb 15;89(4):1502-6.

Imai C, Mihara K, Andreansky M, Nicholson IC, Pui CH, Geiger TL, Campana D. Chimeric receptors with 4-1BB signaling capacity provoke potent cytotoxicity against acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Leukemia. 2004 Apr;18(4):676-84.

Inoue S, Setoyama Y, Odaka A. Doxorubicin treatment induces tumor cell death followed by immunomodulation in a murine neuroblastoma model. Exp Ther Med. 2014 Mar;7(3):703-708.

Ishida Y, Agata Y, Shibahara K, Honjo T. Induced expression of PD-1, a novel member of the immunoglobulin gene superfamily, upon programmed cell death. EMBO J. 1992 Nov;11(11):3887-95.

Ivanova NB, Dimos JT, Schaniel C, Hackney JA, Moore KA, Lemischka IR. A stem cell molecular signature. Science. 2002 Oct 18;298(5593):601-4.

Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Nat Immunol. 2015 Apr;16(4):343-53.

Jabbour E, Kantarjian H. Immunotherapy in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: the role of monoclonal antibodies. Blood Advances. 2016;1(3):260–4.

Jabbour E, O'Brien S, Ravandi F, Kantarjian H. Monoclonal antibodies in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015 Jun 25;125(26):4010-6.

Jackaman C, Bundell CS, Kinnear BF, Smith AM, Filion P, van Hagen D, Robinson BW, Nelson DJ. IL-2 intratumoral immunotherapy enhances CD8+ T cells that mediate destruction of tumor cells and tumor-associated vasculature: a novel mechanism for IL-2. J Immunol. 2003 Nov 15;171(10):5051-63.

Jaglowski SM, Alinari L, Lapalombella R, Muthusamy N, Byrd JC. The clinical application of monoclonal antibodies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2010 Nov 11;116(19):3705-14.

Jain N, Roberts KG, Jabbour E, Patel K, Eterovic AK, Chen K, Zweidler-McKay P, Lu X, Fawcett G, Wang SA, Konoplev S, Harvey RC, Chen IM, Payne-Turner D, Valentine M, Thomas D, Garcia-Manero G, Ravandi F, Cortes J, Kornblau S, O'Brien S, Pierce S, Jorgensen J, Shaw KR, Willman CL, Mullighan CG, Kantarjian H, Konopleva M. Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a high-risk subtype in adults. Blood. 2017 Feb 2;129(5):572-581.

Jain RK. Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. Science. 2005 Jan 7;307(5706):58-62.

Ji H, Ehrlich LI, Seita J, Murakami P, Doi A, Lindau P, Lee H, Aryee MJ, Irizarry RA, Kim K, Rossi DJ, Inlay MA, Serwold T, Karsunky H, Ho L, Daley GQ, Weissman IL, Feinberg AP. Comprehensive methylome map of lineage commitment from haematopoietic progenitors. Nature. 2010 Sep 16;467(7313):338-42.

Jiang M, Chen P, Wang L, Li W, Chen B, Liu Y, Wang H, Zhao S, Ye L, He Y, Zhou C. cGAS-STING, an important pathway in cancer immunotherapy. J Hematol Oncol. 2020 Jun 22;13(1):81.

Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012 Jul 13;12(8):557-69.

Johnson LA. In Sickness and in Health: The Immunological Roles of the Lymphatic System. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Apr 24;22(9):4458.

Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol. 2012;30:531-64.

Jostock T, Müllberg J, Ozbek S, Atreya R, Blinn G, Voltz N, Fischer M, Neurath MF, Rose-John S. Soluble gp130 is the natural inhibitor of soluble interleukin-6 receptor transsignaling responses. Eur J Biochem. 2001 Jan;268(1):160-7.

Joyce JA. Therapeutic targeting of the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2005 Jun;7(6):513-20.

Jung S, Unutmaz D, Wong P, Sano G, De los Santos K, Sparwasser T, Wu S, Vuthoori S, Ko K, Zavala F, Pamer EG, Littman DR, Lang RA. In vivo depletion of CD11c+ dendritic cells abrogates priming of CD8+ T cells by exogenous cell-associated antigens. Immunity. 2002 Aug;17(2):211-20.

Kang S, Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. Targeting Interleukin-6 Signaling in Clinic. Immunity. 2019 Apr 16;50(4):1007-1023.

Kantarjian H, Thomas D, O'Brien S, Cortes J, Giles F, Jeha S, Bueso-Ramos CE, Pierce S, Shan J, Koller C, Beran M, Keating M, Freireich EJ. Long-term follow-up results of hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone (Hyper-CVAD), a dose-intensive regimen, in adult acute lymphocytic leukemia. Cancer. 2004 Dec 15;101(12):2788-801.

Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Tolllike receptors. Nat Immunol. 2010 May;11(5):373-84.

Keating MJ, Chiorazzi N, Messmer B, Damle RN, Allen SL, Rai KR, Ferrarini M, Kipps TJ. Biology and treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2003:153-75.

Keating MJ, Kantarjian H, O'Brien S, Koller C, Talpaz M, Schachner J, Childs CC, Freireich EJ, McCredie KB. Fludarabine: a new agent with marked cytoreductive activity in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1991 Jan;9(1):44-9.

Keating MJ, O'Brien S, Albitar M, Lerner S, Plunkett W, Giles F, Andreeff M, Cortes J, Faderl S, Thomas D, Koller C, Wierda W, Detry MA, Lynn A, Kantarjian H. Early results of a chemoimmunotherapy regimen of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab as initial therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2005 Jun 20;23(18):4079-88.

Kendall G, Little MP, Wakeford R. Numbers and proportions of leukemias in young people and adults induced by radiation of natural origin. Leuk Res. 2011 Aug;35(8):1039-43.

Kepp O, Senovilla L, Vitale I, Vacchelli E, Adjemian S, Agostinis P, Apetoh L, Aranda F, Barnaba V, Bloy N, Bracci L, Breckpot K, Brough D, Buqué A, Castro MG, Cirone M, Colombo MI, Cremer I, Demaria S, Dini L, Eliopoulos AG, Faggioni A, Formenti SC, Fučíková J, Gabriele L, Gaipl US, Galon J, Garg A, Ghiringhelli F, Giese NA, Guo ZS, Hemminki A, Herrmann M, Hodge JW, Holdenrieder S, Honeychurch J, Hu HM, Huang X, Illidge TM, Kono K, Korbelik M, Krysko DV, Loi S, Lowenstein PR, Lugli E, Ma Y, Madeo F, Manfredi AA, Martins I, Mavilio D, Menger L, Merendino N, Michaud M, Mignot G, Mossman KL, Multhoff G, Oehler R, Palombo F, Panaretakis T, Pol J, Proietti E, Ricci JE, Riganti C, Rovere-Querini P, Rubartelli A, Sistigu A, Smyth MJ, Sonnemann J, Spisek R, Stagg J, Sukkurwala AQ, Tartour E, Thorburn A, Thorne SH, Vandenabeele P, Velotti F, Workenhe ST, Yang H, Zong WX, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Consensus guidelines for the detection of immunogenic cell death. Oncoimmunology. 2014 Dec 13;3(9):e955691.

Kerbel RS, Shaked Y. The potential clinical promise of 'multimodality' metronomic chemotherapy revealed by preclinical studies of metastatic disease. Cancer Lett. 2017 Aug 1;400:293-304.

Khallouf H, Märten A, Serba S, Teichgräber V, Büchler MW, Jäger D, Schmidt J. 5-Fluorouracil and interferon-α immunochemotherapy enhances immunogenicity of murine pancreatic cancer through upregulation of NKG2D ligands and MHC class I. J Immunother. 2012 Apr;35(3):245-53.

Kimbrell DA, Beutler B. The evolution and genetics of innate immunity. Nat Rev Genet. 2001 Apr;2(4):256-67.

Kirkwood JM, Strawderman MH, Ernstoff MS, Smith TJ, Borden EC, Blum RH. Interferon alfa-2b adjuvant therapy of high-risk resected cutaneous melanoma: the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Trial EST 1684. J Clin Oncol. 1996 Jan;14(1):7-17.

Kishimoto T, Ishizaka K. Regulation of antibody response in vitro. VII. Enhancing soluble factors for IgG and IgE antibody response. J Immunol. 1973 Oct;111(4):1194-205.

Kishimoto T. IL-6: from its discovery to clinical applications. Int Immunol. 2010 May;22(5):347-52.

Kishimoto T. The biology of interleukin-6. Blood. 1989 Jul;74(1):1-10.

Kitada S, Andersen J, Akar S, Zapata JM, Takayama S, Krajewski S, Wang HG, Zhang X, Bullrich F, Croce CM, Rai K, Hines J, Reed JC. Expression of apoptosis-regulating proteins in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: correlations with In vitro and In vivo chemoresponses. Blood. 1998 May 1;91(9):3379-89.

Klein L, Kyewski B, Allen PM, Hogquist KA. Positive and negative selection of the T cell repertoire: what thymocytes see (and don't see). Nat Rev Immunol. 2014 Jun;14(6):377-91.

Knudson AG Jr. Mutation and cancer: statistical study of retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1971 Apr;68(4):820-3.

Knudson KM, Hicks KC, Luo X, Chen JQ, Schlom J, Gameiro SR. M7824, a novel bifunctional anti-PD-L1/TGFβ Trap fusion protein, promotes anti-tumor efficacy as monotherapy and in combination with vaccine. Oncoimmunology. 2018 Feb 14;7(5):e1426519. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, Stetler-Stevenson M, Phan GQ, Hughes MS, Sherry RM, Yang JC, Kammula US, Devillier L, Carpenter R, Nathan DA, Morgan RA, Laurencot C, Rosenberg SA. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokine-associated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptortransduced T cells. Blood. 2012 Mar 22;119(12):2709-20.

Kochenderfer JN, Rosenberg SA. Treating B-cell cancer with T cells expressing anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2013 May;10(5):267-76.

Kok L, Masopust D, Schumacher TN. The precursors of CD8⁺ tissue resident memory T cells: from lymphoid organs to infected tissues. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021 Sep 3:1–11.

Kondo M, Weissman IL, Akashi K. Identification of clonogenic common lymphoid progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Cell. 1997 Nov 28;91(5):661-72.

Krackhardt AM, Harig S, Witzens M, Broderick R, Barrett P, Gribben JG. T-cell responses against chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells: implications for immunotherapy. Blood. 2002 Jul 1;100(1):167-73.

Kuka M, Iannacone M. Viral subversion of B cell responses within secondary lymphoid organs. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018 Apr;18(4):255-265.

Kumar BV, Connors TJ, Farber DL. Human T Cell Development, Localization, and Function throughout Life. Immunity. 2018 Feb 20;48(2):202-213.

Lacey SF, Xu J, Ruella M, Barrett DM, Kulikovskaya I, Ambrose DE, Patel PR, Reich T, Scholler J, Nazimuddin F, Fraietta JA, Maude SL, Gill SI, Levine BL, Nobles CL, Bushman FD, Orlando E, Grupp SA, June CH, Melenhorst JJ. Cars in Leukemia: Relapse with Antigen-Negative Leukemia Originating from a Single B Cell Expressing the Leukemia-Targeting CAR. Blood. 2016;128(22):281.

Ladoire S, Arnould L, Apetoh L, Coudert B, Martin F, Chauffert B, Fumoleau P, Ghiringhelli F. Pathologic complete response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy of breast carcinoma is associated with the disappearance of tumor-infiltrating foxp3+ regulatory T cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2008 Apr 15;14(8):2413-20.

Lamertz L, Rummel F, Polz R, Baran P, Hansen S, Waetzig GH, Moll JM, Floss DM, Scheller J. Soluble gp130 prevents interleukin-6 and interleukin-11 cluster signaling but not intracellular autocrine responses. Sci Signal. 2018 Oct 2;11(550):eaar7388.

Leduc C, Adam J, Louvet E, Sourisseau T, Dorvault N, Bernard M, Maingot E, Faivre L, Cassin-Kuo MS, Boissier E, Dessoliers MC, Robin A, Casiraghi O, Even C, Temam S, Olaussen KA, Soria JC, Postel-Vinay S. TPF induction chemotherapy increases PD-L1 expression in tumour cells and

immune cells in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. ESMO Open. 2018 Jan 9;3(1):e000257.

Lee DW, Kochenderfer JN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Cui YK, Delbrook C, Feldman SA, Fry TJ, Orentas R, Sabatino M, Shah NN, Steinberg SM, Stroncek D, Tschernia N, Yuan C, Zhang H, Zhang L, Rosenberg SA, Wayne AS, Mackall CL. T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet. 2015 Feb 7;385(9967):517-528.

Lee EY, Muller WJ. Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010 Oct;2(10):a003236.

Lee MY, Jeon JW, Sievers C, Allen CT. Antigen processing and presentation in cancer immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer. 2020 Aug;8(2):e001111.

Lewis SM, Williams A, Eisenbarth SC. Structure and function of the immune system in the spleen. Sci Immunol. 2019 Mar 1;4(33):eaau6085.

Li G, Liang X, Lotze MT. HMGB1: The Central Cytokine for All Lymphoid Cells. Front Immunol. 2013 Mar 20;4:68.

Li J, Xu J, Yan X, Jin K, Li W, Zhang R. Targeting Interleukin-6 (IL-6) Sensitizes Anti-PD-L1 Treatment in a Colorectal Cancer Preclinical Model. Med Sci Monit. 2018 Aug 8;24:5501-5508.

Linabery AM, Ross JA. Trends in childhood cancer incidence in the U.S. (19922004). Cancer 2008;112:416-32.

Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol. 2013 May;14(6):e218-28.

Liu-Dumlao T, Kantarjian H, Thomas DA, O'Brien S, Ravandi F. Philadelphia-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: current treatment options. Curr Oncol Rep. 2012 Oct;14(5):387-94.

Lu L, Barbi J, Pan F. The regulation of immune tolerance by FOXP3. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017 Nov;17(11):703-717.

Luckheeram RV, Zhou R, Verma AD, Xia B. CD4⁺T cells: differentiation and functions. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:925135.

Lugo TG, Pendergast AM, Muller AJ, Witte ON. Tyrosine kinase activity and transformation potency of bcr-abl oncogene products. Science. 1990 Mar 2;247(4946):1079-82.

Lust JA, Donovan KA, Kline MP, Greipp PR, Kyle RA, Maihle NJ. Isolation of an mRNA encoding a soluble form of the human interleukin-6 receptor. Cytokine. 1992 Mar;4(2):96-100.

Ma Y, Aymeric L, Locher C, Mattarollo SR, Delahaye NF, Pereira P, Boucontet L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Casares N, Lasarte JJ, Matsuzaki G, Ikuta K, Ryffel B, Benlagha K, Tesnière A, Ibrahim N, Déchanet-Merville J, Chaput N, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Contribution of IL-17-producing gamma delta T cells to the efficacy of anticancer chemotherapy. J Exp Med. 2011 Mar 14;208(3):491-503.

Mace TA, Shakya R, Pitarresi JR, Swanson B, McQuinn CW, Loftus S, Nordquist E, Cruz-Monserrate Z, Yu L, Young G, Zhong X, Zimmers TA, Ostrowski MC, Ludwig T, Bloomston M, Bekaii-Saab T, Lesinski GB. IL-6 and PD-L1 antibody blockade combination therapy reduces tumour progression in murine models of pancreatic cancer. Gut. 2018 Feb;67(2):320-332.

Man LM, Morris AL, Keng M. New Therapeutic Strategies in Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2017 Jun;12(3):197-206.

Marar C, Starich B, Wirtz D. Extracellular vesicles in immunomodulation and tumor progression. Nat Immunol. 2021 May;22(5):560-570.

Martínez-Jiménez F, Muiños F, Sentís I, Deu-Pons J, Reyes-Salazar I, Arnedo-Pac C, Mularoni L, Pich O, Bonet J, Kranas H, Gonzalez-Perez A, Lopez-Bigas N. A compendium of mutational cancer driver genes. Nat Rev Cancer. 2020 Oct;20(10):555-572.

Martins I, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Menger L, Michaud M, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Surface-exposed calreticulin in the interaction between dying cells and phagocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Oct;1209:77-82.

Maude SL, Frey N, Shaw PA, Aplenc R, Barrett DM, Bunin NJ, Chew A, Gonzalez VE, Zheng Z, Lacey SF, Mahnke YD, Melenhorst JJ, Rheingold SR, Shen A, Teachey DT, Levine BL, June CH, Porter DL, Grupp SA. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2014 Oct 16;371(16):1507-17.

Maude SL, Teachey DT, Porter DL, Grupp SA. CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2015 Jun 25;125(26):4017-23.

Maury S, Chevret S, Thomas X, Heim D, Leguay T, Huguet F, Chevallier P, Hunault M, Boissel N, Escoffre-Barbe M, Hess U, Vey N, Pignon JM, Braun T, Marolleau JP, Cahn JY, Chalandon Y, Lhéritier V, Beldjord K, Béné MC, Ifrah N, Dombret H; for GRAALL. Rituximab in B-Lineage Adult Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016 Sep 15;375(11):1044-53.

McFarland-Mancini MM, Funk HM, Paluch AM, Zhou M, Giridhar PV, Mercer CA, Kozma SC, Drew AF. Differences in wound healing in mice with deficiency of IL-6 versus IL-6 receptor. J Immunol. 2010 Jun 15;184(12):7219-28.

McGranahan N, Swanton C. Clonal Heterogeneity and Tumor Evolution: Past, Present, and the Future. Cell. 2017 Feb 9;168(4):613-628.

McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, O'Garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015 Feb;15(2):87-103.

Meads MB, Gatenby RA, Dalton WS. Environment-mediated drug resistance: a major contributor to minimal residual disease. Nat Rev Cancer. 2009 Sep;9(9):665-74.

Méndez-Ferrer S, Bonnet D, Steensma DP, Hasserjian RP, Ghobrial IM, Gribben JG, Andreeff M, Krause DS. Bone marrow niches in haematological malignancies. Nat Rev Cancer. 2020 May;20(5):285-298.

Meyer JA, Wang J, Hogan LE, Yang JJ, Dandekar S, Patel JP, Tang Z, Zumbo P, Li S, Zavadil J, Levine RL, Cardozo T, Hunger SP, Raetz EA, Evans WE, Morrison DJ, Mason CE, Carroll WL. Relapse-specific mutations in NT5C2 in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2013 Mar;45(3):290-4.

Meyers FJ, Gumerlock PH, Kawasaki ES, Wang AM, deVere White RW, Erlich HA. Bladder cancer. Human leukocyte antigen II, interleukin-6, and interleukin-6 receptor expression determined by the polymerase chain reaction. Cancer. 1991 Apr 15;67(8):2087-95.

Miller JF. The golden anniversary of the thymus. Nat Rev Immunol. 2011 May 27;11(7):489-95.

Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Cairo G, Gianni L. Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev. 2004 Jun;56(2):185-229.

Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Berger A, Bindea G, Meatchi T, Bruneval P, Trajanoski Z, Fridman WH, Pagès F, Galon J. Histopathologic-based prognostic factors of colorectal cancers are associated with the state of the local immune reaction. J Clin Oncol. 2011 Feb 20;29(6):610-8.

Mohseni M, Uludag H, Brandwein JM. Advances in biology of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and therapeutic implications. Am J Blood Res. 2018 Dec 10;8(4):29-56.

Mullighan CG, Goorha S, Radtke I, Miller CB, Coustan-Smith E, Dalton JD, Girtman K, Mathew S, Ma J, Pounds SB, Su X, Pui CH, Relling MV, Evans WE, Shurtleff SA, Downing JR. Genome-wide analysis of genetic alterations in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nature. 2007 Apr 12;446(7137):758-64.

Mullighan CG, Zhang J, Kasper LH, Lerach S, Payne-Turner D, Phillips LA, Heatley SL, Holmfeldt L, Collins-Underwood JR, Ma J, Buetow KH, Pui CH, Baker SD, Brindle PK, Downing JR. CREBBP mutations in relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Nature. 2011 Mar 10;471(7337):235-9.

Musella M, Galassi C, Manduca N, Sistigu A. The Yin and Yang of Type I IFNs in Cancer Promotion and Immune Activation. Biology (Basel). 2021 Sep 1;10(9):856.

Neelapu SS, Tummala S, Kebriaei P, Wierda W, Gutierrez C, Locke FL, Komanduri KV, Lin Y, Jain N, Daver N, Westin J, Gulbis AM, Loghin ME, de Groot JF, Adkins S, Davis SE, Rezvani K, Hwu P, Shpall EJ. Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy - assessment and management of toxicities. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2018 Jan;15(1):47-62.

Neely HR, Flajnik MF. Emergence and Evolution of Secondary Lymphoid Organs. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 2016 Oct 6;32:693-711.

Nemazee D. Mechanisms of central tolerance for B cells. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017 May;17(5):281-294.

Newman AM, Liu CL, Green MR, Gentles AJ, Feng W, Xu Y, Hoang CD, Diehn M, Alizadeh AA. Robust enumeration of cell subsets from tissue expression profiles. Nat Methods. 2015 May;12(5):453-7.

Nguyen K, Devidas M, Cheng SC, La M, Raetz EA, Carroll WL, Winick NJ, Hunger SP, Gaynon PS, Loh ML; Children's Oncology Group. Factors influencing survival after relapse from acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Children's Oncology Group study. Leukemia. 2008 Dec;22(12):2142-50.

Nishio M, Endo T, Tsukada N, Ohata J, Kitada S, Reed JC, Zvaifler NJ, Kipps TJ. Nurselike cells express BAFF and APRIL, which can promote survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells via a paracrine pathway distinct from that of SDF-1alpha. Blood. 2005 Aug 1;106(3):1012-20.

Niu G, Bowman T, Huang M, Shivers S, Reintgen D, Daud A, Chang A, Kraker A, Jove R, Yu H. Roles of activated Src and Stat3 signaling in melanoma tumor cell growth. Oncogene. 2002 Oct 10;21(46):7001-10.

Nowell PC, Hungerford DA. Chromosome studies on normal and leukemic human leukocytes. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1960 Jul;25:85-109.

O'Brien SG, Guilhot F, Larson RA, Gathmann I, Baccarani M, Cervantes F, Cornelissen JJ, Fischer T, Hochhaus A, Hughes T, Lechner K, Nielsen JL, Rousselot P, Reiffers J, Saglio G, Shepherd J, Simonsson B, Gratwohl A, Goldman JM, Kantarjian H, Taylor K, Verhoef G, Bolton AE, Capdeville R, Druker BJ; IRIS Investigators. Imatinib compared with interferon and low-dose cytarabine for newly diagnosed chronic-phase chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2003 Mar 13;348(11):994-1004.

Obeid M, Panaretakis T, Joza N, Tufi R, Tesniere A, van Endert P, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Calreticulin exposure is required for the immunogenicity of gamma-irradiation and UVC light-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 2007**a** Oct;14(10):1848-50.

Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, Castedo M, Mignot G, Panaretakis T, Casares N, Métivier D, Larochette N, van Endert P, Ciccosanti F, Piacentini M,

Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007**b** Jan;13(1):54-61.

Ohshima S, Saeki Y, Mima T, Sasai M, Nishioka K, Nomura S, Kopf M, Katada Y, Tanaka T, Suemura M, Kishimoto T. Interleukin 6 plays a key role in the development of antigen-induced arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 Jul 7;95(14):8222-6.

Ohuchida K, Mizumoto K, Murakami M, Qian LW, Sato N, Nagai E, Matsumoto K, Nakamura T, Tanaka M. Radiation to stromal fibroblasts increases invasiveness of pancreatic cancer cells through tumor-stromal interactions. Cancer Res. 2004 May 1;64(9):3215-22.

Okusaka T, Ueno H, Ikeda M, Mitsunaga S, Ozaka M, Ishii H, Yokosuka O, Ooka Y, Yoshimoto R, Yanagihara Y, Okita K. Phase 1 and pharmacological trial of OPB-31121, a signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 inhibitor, in patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatol Res. 2015 Dec;45(13):1283-91.

Olson OC, Kim H, Quail DF, Foley EA, Joyce JA. Tumor-Associated Macrophages Suppress the Cytotoxic Activity of Antimitotic Agents. Cell Rep. 2017 Apr 4;19(1):101-113.

Osawa M, Hanada K, Hamada H, Nakauchi H. Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science. 1996 Jul 12;273(5272):242-5.

Oshi M, Tokumaru Y, Asaoka M, Yan L, Satyananda V, Matsuyama R, Matsuhashi N, Futamura M, Ishikawa T, Yoshida K, Endo I, Takabe K. M1 Macrophage and M1/M2 ratio defined by transcriptomic signatures resemble only part of their conventional clinical characteristics in breast cancer. Sci Rep. 2020 Oct 6;10(1):16554.

Pagès F, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Bindea G, Ou FS, Bifulco C, Lugli A, Zlobec I, Rau TT, Berger MD, Nagtegaal ID, Vink-Börger E, Hartmann A, Geppert C, Kolwelter J, Merkel S, Grützmann R, Van den Eynde M, Jouret-Mourin A, Kartheuser A, Léonard D, Remue C, Wang JY, Bavi P, Roehrl MHA, Ohashi PS, Nguyen LT, Han S, MacGregor HL, Hafezi-Bakhtiari S, Wouters BG, Masucci GV, Andersson EK, Zavadova E, Vocka M, Spacek J, Petruzelka L, Konopasek B, Dundr P, Skalova H, Nemejcova K, Botti G, Tatangelo F, Delrio P, Ciliberto G, Maio M, Laghi L, Grizzi F, Fredriksen T, Buttard B, Angelova M, Vasaturo A, Maby P, Church SE, Angell HK, Lafontaine L, Bruni D, El Sissy C, Haicheur N, Kirilovsky A, Berger A, Lagorce C, Meyers JP, Paustian C, Feng Z, Ballesteros-Merino C, Dijkstra J, van de Water C, van Lent-van Vliet S, Knijn N, Muşină AM, Scripcariu DV, Popivanova B, Xu M, Fujita T, Hazama S, Suzuki N, Nagano H, Okuno K, Torigoe T, Sato N, Furuhata T, Takemasa I, Itoh K, Patel PS, Vora HH, Shah B, Patel JB, Rajvik KN, Pandya SJ, Shukla SN, Wang Y, Zhang G, Kawakami Y, Marincola FM, Ascierto PA, Sargent DJ, Fox BA, Galon J. International validation of the consensus Immunoscore for the classification of colon cancer: a prognostic and accuracy study. Lancet. 2018 May 26;391(10135):2128-2139.

Palladino MA, Bahjat FR, Theodorakis EA, Moldawer LL. Anti-TNF-alpha therapies: the next generation. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2003 Sep;2(9):736-46.

Palmer S, Hanson CA, Zent CS, Porrata LF, Laplant B, Geyer SM, Markovic SN, Call TG, Bowen DA, Jelinek DF, Kay NE, Shanafelt TD. Prognostic importance of T and NK-cells in a consecutive series of newly diagnosed patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2008 May;141(5):607-14.

Palomino DC, Marti LC. Chemokines and immunity. Einstein (Sao Paulo). 2015 Jul-Sep;13(3):469-73.

Palucka AK, Coussens LM. The Basis of Oncoimmunology. Cell. 2016 Mar 10;164(6):1233-1247.

Parkin J, Cohen B. An overview of the immune system. Lancet. 2001 Jun 2;357(9270):1777-89.

Perez-Andreu V, Roberts KG, Harvey RC, Yang W, Cheng C, Pei D, Xu H, Gastier-Foster J, E S, Lim JY, Chen IM, Fan Y, Devidas M, Borowitz MJ, Smith C, Neale G, Burchard EG, Torgerson DG, Klussmann FA, Villagran CR, Winick NJ, Camitta BM, Raetz E, Wood B, Yue F, Carroll WL, Larsen E, Bowman WP, Loh ML, Dean M, Bhojwani D, Pui CH, Evans WE, Relling MV, Hunger SP, Willman CL, Mullighan CG, Yang JJ. Inherited GATA3 variants are associated with Ph-like childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and risk of relapse. Nat Genet. 2013 Dec;45(12):1494-8.

Phan VT, Wu X, Cheng JH, Sheng RX, Chung AS, Zhuang G, Tran C, Song Q, Kowanetz M, Sambrone A, Tan M, Meng YG, Jackson EL, Peale FV, Junttila MR, Ferrara N. Oncogenic RAS pathway activation promotes resistance to anti-VEGF therapy through G-CSF-induced neutrophil recruitment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013 Apr 9;110(15):6079-84.

Podhorecka M, Dmoszynska A, Rolinski J, Wasik E. T type 1/type 2 subsets balance in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia--the three-color flow cytometry analysis. Leuk Res. 2002 Jul;26(7):657-60.

Pol J, Vacchelli E, Aranda F, Castoldi F, Eggermont A, Cremer I, Sautès-Fridman C, Fucikova J, Galon J, Spisek R, Tartour E, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L. Trial Watch: Immunogenic cell death inducers for anticancer chemotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2015 Mar 2;4(4):e1008866.

Postow MA, Callahan MK, Wolchok JD. Immune Checkpoint Blockade in Cancer Therapy. J Clin Oncol. 2015 Jun 10;33(17):1974-82.

Postow MA, Sidlow R, Hellmann MD. Immune-Related Adverse Events Associated with Immune Checkpoint Blockade. N Engl J Med. 2018 Jan 11;378(2):158-168.

Pui CH, Robison LL, Look AT. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet. 2008 Mar 22;371(9617):1030-43.

Puttini M, Coluccia AM, Boschelli F, Cleris L, Marchesi E, Donella-Deana A, Ahmed S, Redaelli S, Piazza R, Magistroni V, Andreoni F, Scapozza L, Formelli F, Gambacorti-Passerini C. In vitro and

in vivo activity of SKI-606, a novel Src-Abl inhibitor, against imatinib-resistant Bcr-Abl+ neoplastic cells. Cancer Res. 2006 Dec 1;66(23):11314-22.

Qian CN, Tan MH, Yang JP, Cao Y. Revisiting tumor angiogenesis: vessel co-option, vessel remodeling, and cancer cell-derived vasculature formation. Chin J Cancer. 2016 Jan 8;35:10.

Raetz EA, Bhatla T. Where do we stand in the treatment of relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia? Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2012;2012:129-36.

Rai KR, Peterson BL, Appelbaum FR, Kolitz J, Elias L, Shepherd L, Hines J, Threatte GA, Larson RA, Cheson BD, Schiffer CA. Fludarabine compared with chlorambucil as primary therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2000 Dec 14;343(24):1750-7.

Ramalho-Santos M, Yoon S, Matsuzaki Y, Mulligan RC, Melton DA. "Stemness": transcriptional profiling of embryonic and adult stem cells. Science. 2002 Oct 18;298(5593):597-600.

Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. Blood. 2012 Aug 16;120(7):1412-21.

Ramsay AG, Johnson AJ, Lee AM, Gorgün G, Le Dieu R, Blum W, Byrd JC, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia T cells show impaired immunological synapse formation that can be reversed with an immunomodulating drug. J Clin Invest. 2008 Jul;118(7):2427-37.

Randall TD, Carragher DM, Rangel-Moreno J. Development of secondary lymphoid organs. Annu Rev Immunol. 2008;26:627-50.

Randolph GJ, Ivanov S, Zinselmeyer BH, Scallan JP. The Lymphatic System: Integral Roles in Immunity. Annu Rev Immunol. 2017 Apr 26;35:31-52.

Ratajczak W, Niedźwiedzka-Rystwej P, Tokarz-Deptuła B, Deptuła W. Immunological memory cells. Cent Eur J Immunol. 2018;43(2):194-203.

Rathinam VA, Vanaja SK, Fitzgerald KA. Regulation of inflammasome signaling. Nat Immunol. 2012 Mar 19;13(4):333-42.

Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science. 2018 Mar 23;359(6382):1350-1355.

Ribas A. Adaptive Immune Resistance: How Cancer Protects from Immune Attack. Cancer Discov. 2015 Sep;5(9):915-9.

Rieder H, Ludwig WD, Gassmann W, Maurer J, Janssen JW, Gökbuget N, Schwartz S, Thiel E, Löffler H, Bartram CR, Hoelzer D, Fonatsch C. Prognostic significance of additional chromosome abnormalities in adult patients with Philadelphia chromosome positive acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 1996 Dec;95(4):678-91.

Rieger MA, Schroeder T. Hematopoiesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012 Dec 1;4(12):a008250.

Ries LAG, Smith MA, Gurney JG, Linet M, Tamra T, Young JL, Bunin GR (eds). Cancer Incidence and Survival among Children and Adolescents: United States SEER Program 1975-1995, National Cancer Institute, SEER Program. NIH Pub. No. 99-4649. Bethesda, MD, 1999.

Riethmueller S, Somasundaram P, Ehlers JC, Hung CW, Flynn CM, Lokau J, Agthe M, Düsterhöft S, Zhu Y, Grötzinger J, Lorenzen I, Koudelka T, Yamamoto K, Pickhinke U, Wichert R, Becker-Pauly C, Rädisch M, Albrecht A, Hessefort M, Stahnke D, Unverzagt C, Rose-John S, Tholey A, Garbers C. Proteolytic Origin of the Soluble Human IL-6R In Vivo and a Decisive Role of N-Glycosylation. PLoS Biol. 2017 Jan 6;15(1):e2000080.

Roberts AW, Davids MS, Pagel JM, Kahl BS, Puvvada SD, Gerecitano JF, Kipps TJ, Anderson MA, Brown JR, Gressick L, Wong S, Dunbar M, Zhu M, Desai MB, Cerri E, Heitner Enschede S, Humerickhouse RA, Wierda WG, Seymour JF. Targeting BCL2 with Venetoclax in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2016 Jan 28;374(4):311-22.

Rosales C, Uribe-Querol E. Phagocytosis: A Fundamental Process in Immunity. Biomed Res Int. 2017;2017:9042851.

Rose-John S, Heinrich PC. Soluble receptors for cytokines and growth factors: generation and biological function. Biochem J. 1994 Jun 1;300 (Pt 2):281-90.

Rossi JF, Négrier S, James ND, Kocak I, Hawkins R, Davis H, Prabhakar U, Qin X, Mulders P, Berns B. A phase I/II study of siltuximab (CNTO 328), an anti-interleukin-6 monoclonal antibody, in metastatic renal cell cancer. Br J Cancer. 2010 Oct 12;103(8):1154-62.

Roth DB. V(D)J Recombination: Mechanism, Errors, and Fidelity. Microbiol Spectr. 2014 Dec;2(6):10.1128/microbiolspec.MDNA3-0041-2014.

Rozman C, Montserrat E, Viñolas N. Serum immunoglobulins in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Natural history and prognostic significance. Cancer. 1988 Jan 15;61(2):279-83.

Saglio G, Kim DW, Issaragrisil S, le Coutre P, Etienne G, Lobo C, Pasquini R, Clark RE, Hochhaus A, Hughes TP, Gallagher N, Hoenekopp A, Dong M, Haque A, Larson RA, Kantarjian HM; ENESTnd Investigators. Nilotinib versus imatinib for newly diagnosed chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2010 Jun 17;362(24):2251-9.

Sahai E, Astsaturov I, Cukierman E, DeNardo DG, Egeblad M, Evans RM, Fearon D, Greten FR, Hingorani SR, Hunter T, Hynes RO, Jain RK, Janowitz T, Jorgensen C, Kimmelman AC, Kolonin MG, Maki RG, Powers RS, Puré E, Ramirez DC, Scherz-Shouval R, Sherman MH, Stewart S, Tlsty TD, Tuveson DA, Watt FM, Weaver V, Weeraratna AT, Werb Z. A framework for advancing our understanding of cancer-associated fibroblasts. Nat Rev Cancer. 2020 Mar;20(3):174-186.

Salah A, Wang H, Li Y, Ji M, Ou WB, Qi N, Wu Y. Insights Into Dendritic Cells in Cancer Immunotherapy: From Bench to Clinical Applications. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2021 Jun 28;9:686544.

Salmon H, Remark R, Gnjatic S, Merad M. Host tissue determinants of tumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer. 2019 Apr;19(4):215-227.

Salvaris R, Fedele PL. Targeted Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia. J Pers Med. 2021 Jul 25;11(8):715.

Sanchez-Perez L, Suryadevara CM, Choi BD, Reap EA, Sampson JH. Leveraging chemotherapyinduced lymphopenia to potentiate cancer immunotherapy. Oncoimmunology. 2014 Jul 3;3(7):e944054.

Sanmamed MF, Chen L. A Paradigm Shift in Cancer Immunotherapy: From Enhancement to Normalization. Cell. 2018 Oct 4;175(2):313-326.

Santiago R, Vairy S, Sinnett D, Krajinovic M, Bittencourt H. Novel therapy for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2017 Aug;18(11):1081-1099.

Sato K, Tsuchiya M, Saldanha J, Koishihara Y, Ohsugi Y, Kishimoto T, Bendig MM. Reshaping a human antibody to inhibit the interleukin 6-dependent tumor cell growth. Cancer Res. 1993 Feb 15;53(4):851-6.

Sattler M, Griffin JD. Mechanisms of transformation by the BCR/ABL oncogene. Int J Hematol. 2001 Apr;73(3):278-91.

Savoldo B, Ramos CA, Liu E, Mims MP, Keating MJ, Carrum G, Kamble RT, Bollard CM, Gee AP, Mei Z, Liu H, Grilley B, Rooney CM, Heslop HE, Brenner MK, Dotti G. CD28 costimulation improves expansion and persistence of chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in lymphoma patients. J Clin Invest. 2011 May;121(5):1822-6.

Schaaf MB, Garg AD, Agostinis P. Defining the role of the tumor vasculature in antitumor immunity and immunotherapy. Cell Death Dis. 2018 Jan 25;9(2):115.

Schadendorf D, Hodi FS, Robert C, Weber JS, Margolin K, Hamid O, Patt D, Chen TT, Berman DM, Wolchok JD. Pooled Analysis of Long-Term Survival Data From Phase II and Phase III Trials of Ipilimumab in Unresectable or Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2015 Jun 10;33(17):1889-94.

Schaper F, Rose-John S. Interleukin-6: Biology, signaling and strategies of blockade. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2015 Oct;26(5):475-87.

Scheller J, Chalaris A, Schmidt-Arras D, Rose-John S. The pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2011 May;1813(5):878-88.

Schimpl A, Wecker E. Replacement of T-cell function by a T-cell product. Nat New Biol. 1972 May 3;237(70):15-7.

Schito L, Rey S. Hypoxia: Turning vessels into vassals of cancer immunotolerance. Cancer Lett. 2020 Sep 1;487:74-84.

Schlegel P, Lang P, Zugmaier G, Ebinger M, Kreyenberg H, Witte KE, Feucht J, Pfeiffer M, Teltschik HM, Kyzirakos C, Feuchtinger T, Handgretinger R. Pediatric posttransplant relapsed/refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia shows durable remission by therapy with the T-cell engaging bispecific antibody blinatumomab. Haematologica. 2014 Jul;99(7):1212-9.

Schultz KR, Bowman WP, Aledo A, Slayton WB, Sather H, Devidas M, Wang C, Davies SM, Gaynon PS, Trigg M, Rutledge R, Burden L, Jorstad D, Carroll A, Heerema NA, Winick N, Borowitz MJ, Hunger SP, Carroll WL, Camitta B. Improved early event-free survival with imatinib in Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a children's oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2009 Nov 1;27(31):5175-81.

Seifert L, Werba G, Tiwari S, Giao Ly NN, Nguy S, Alothman S, Alqunaibit D, Avanzi A, Daley D, Barilla R, Tippens D, Torres-Hernandez A, Hundeyin M, Mani VR, Hajdu C, Pellicciotta I, Oh P, Du K, Miller G. Radiation Therapy Induces Macrophages to Suppress T-Cell Responses Against Pancreatic Tumors in Mice. Gastroenterology. 2016 Jun;150(7):1659-1672.e5.

Shah NN, Stetler-Stevenson M, Yuan CM, Shalabi H, Yates B, Delbrook C, Zhang L, Lee DW, Stroncek D, Mackall CL, Fry TJ. Minimal Residual Disease Negative Complete Remissions Following Anti-CD22 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) in Children and Young Adults with Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL). Blood. 2016;128(22):650.

Shah S, Schrader KA, Waanders E, Timms AE, Vijai J, Miething C, Wechsler J, Yang J, Hayes J, Klein RJ, Zhang J, Wei L, Wu G, Rusch M, Nagahawatte P, Ma J, Chen SC, Song G, Cheng J, Meyers P, Bhojwani D, Jhanwar S, Maslak P, Fleisher M, Littman J, Offit L, Rau-Murthy R, Fleischut MH, Corines M, Murali R, Gao X, Manschreck C, Kitzing T, Murty VV, Raimondi S, Kuiper RP, Simons A, Schiffman JD, Onel K, Plon SE, Wheeler D, Ritter D, Ziegler DS, Tucker K, Sutton R, Chenevix-Trench G, Li J, Huntsman DG, Hansford S, Senz J, Walsh T, Lee M, Hahn CN, Roberts K, King MC, Lo SM, Levine RL, Viale A, Socci ND, Nathanson KL, Scott HS, Daly M, Lipkin SM, Lowe SW, Downing JR, Altshuler D, Sandlund JT, Horwitz MS, Mullighan CG, Offit K. A recurrent germline PAX5 mutation confers susceptibility to pre-B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2013 Oct;45(10):1226-1231.

Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. Cell. 2015 Apr 9;161(2):205-14.

Shojaei F, Wu X, Malik AK, Zhong C, Baldwin ME, Schanz S, Fuh G, Gerber HP, Ferrara N. Tumor refractoriness to anti-VEGF treatment is mediated by CD11b+Gr1+ myeloid cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2007 Aug;25(8):911-20.

Singh AK, McGuirk JP. CAR T cells: continuation in a revolution of immunotherapy. Lancet Oncol. 2020 Mar;21(3):e168-e178.

Sistigu A, Yamazaki T, Vacchelli E, Chaba K, Enot DP, Adam J, Vitale I, Goubar A, Baracco EE, Remédios C, Fend L, Hannani D, Aymeric L, Ma Y, Niso-Santano M, Kepp O, Schultze JL, Tüting T, Belardelli F, Bracci L, La Sorsa V, Ziccheddu G, Sestili P, Urbani F, Delorenzi M, Lacroix-Triki M, Quidville V, Conforti R, Spano JP, Pusztai L, Poirier-Colame V, Delaloge S, Penault-Llorca F, Ladoire S, Arnould L, Cyrta J, Dessoliers MC, Eggermont A, Bianchi ME, Pittet M, Engblom C, Pfirschke C, Préville X, Uzè G, Schreiber RD, Chow MT, Smyth MJ, Proietti E, André F, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Cancer cell-autonomous contribution of type I interferon signaling to the efficacy of chemotherapy. Nat Med. 2014 Nov;20(11):1301-9.

Smith CC, Selitsky SR, Chai S, Armistead PM, Vincent BG, Serody JS. Alternative tumour-specific antigens. Nat Rev Cancer. 2019 Aug;19(8):465-478.

Smith MA, Seibel NL, Altekruse SF, Ries LA, Melbert DL, O'Leary M, Smith FO, Reaman GH. Outcomes for children and adolescents with cancer: challenges for the twenty-first century. J Clin Oncol. 2010 May 20;28(15):2625-34.

Solal-Celigny P, Lepage E, Brousse N, Reyes F, Haioun C, Leporrier M, Peuchmaur M, Bosly A, Parlier Y, Brice P, Coiffier B, Gisselbrecht C. Recombinant interferon alfa-2b combined with a regimen containing doxorubicin in patients with advanced follicular lymphoma. Groupe d'Etude des Lymphomes de l'Adulte. N Engl J Med. 1993 Nov 25;329(22):1608-14.

Spangrude GJ, Heimfeld S, Weissman IL. Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science. 1988 Jul 1;241(4861):58-62.

Spisek R, Charalambous A, Mazumder A, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Dhodapkar MV. Bortezomib enhances dendritic cell (DC)-mediated induction of immunity to human myeloma via exposure of cell surface heat shock protein 90 on dying tumor cells: therapeutic implications. Blood. 2007 Jun 1;109(11):4839-45.

Strati P, Shanafelt TD. Monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis and early-stage chronic lymphocytic leukemia: diagnosis, natural history, and risk stratification. Blood. 2015 Jul 23;126(4):454-62.

Sullivan-Chang L, O'Donnell RT, Tuscano JM. Targeting CD22 in B-cell malignancies: current status and clinical outlook. BioDrugs. 2013 Aug;27(4):293-304.

Sun L, Wang X, Saredy J, Yuan Z, Yang X, Wang H. Innate-adaptive immunity interplay and redox regulation in immune response. Redox Biol. 2020 Oct;37:101759.

Sznol M, Powderly JD, Smith DC, Brahmer JR, Drake CG, McDermott DF, Lawrence DP, Wolchok JD, Topalian SL, Lowy I. Safety and antitumor activity of biweekly MDX-1106 (Anti-PD-1, BMS-936558/ONO-4538) in patients with advanced refractory malignancies. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(15_suppl):2506.

Tacar O, Sriamornsak P, Dass CR. Doxorubicin: an update on anticancer molecular action, toxicity and novel drug delivery systems. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2013 Feb;65(2):157-70.

Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2014 Sep 4;6(10):a016295.

Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. Therapeutic targeting of the interleukin-6 receptor. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2012;52:199-219.

Tang J, Shalabi A, Hubbard-Lucey VM. Comprehensive analysis of the clinical immuno-oncology landscape. Ann Oncol. 2018 Jan 1;29(1):84-91.

Tauriello DVF, Palomo-Ponce S, Stork D, Berenguer-Llergo A, Badia-Ramentol J, Iglesias M, Sevillano M, Ibiza S, Cañellas A, Hernando-Momblona X, Byrom D, Matarin JA, Calon A, Rivas EI, Nebreda AR, Riera A, Attolini CS, Batlle E. TGFβ drives immune evasion in genetically reconstituted colon cancer metastasis. Nature. 2018 Feb 22;554(7693):538-543.

Taylor AW. Ocular Immune Privilege and Transplantation. Front Immunol. 2016 Feb 8;7:37.

Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. Blood Cancer J. 2017 Jun 30;7(6):e577.

Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Boige V, Kepp O, Martins I, Ghiringhelli F, Aymeric L, Michaud M, Apetoh L, Barault L, Mendiboure J, Pignon JP, Jooste V, van Endert P, Ducreux M, Zitvogel L, Piard F, Kroemer G. Immunogenic death of colon cancer cells treated with oxaliplatin. Oncogene. 2010 Jan 28;29(4):482-91.

Thapa P, Farber DL. The Role of the Thymus in the Immune Response. Thorac Surg Clin. 2019 May;29(2):123-131.

Thomas DA, Faderl S, Cortes J, O'Brien S, Giles FJ, Kornblau SM, Garcia-Manero G, Keating MJ, Andreeff M, Jeha S, Beran M, Verstovsek S, Pierce S, Letvak L, Salvado A, Champlin R, Talpaz M, Kantarjian H. Treatment of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphocytic leukemia with hyper-CVAD and imatinib mesylate. Blood. 2004 Jun 15;103(12):4396-407. Togashi Y, Shitara K, Nishikawa H. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunosuppression - implications for anticancer therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2019 Jun;16(6):356-371.

Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, Dombret H, Fielding AK, Heffner L, Larson RA, Neumann S, Foà R, Litzow M, Ribera JM, Rambaldi A, Schiller G, Brüggemann M, Horst HA, Holland C, Jia C, Maniar T, Huber B, Nagorsen D, Forman SJ, Kantarjian HM. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol. 2015 Jan;16(1):57-66.

Treviño LR, Yang W, French D, Hunger SP, Carroll WL, Devidas M, Willman C, Neale G, Downing J, Raimondi SC, Pui CH, Evans WE, Relling MV. Germline genomic variants associated with childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2009 Sep;41(9):1001-5.

Tsukamoto H, Fujieda K, Miyashita A, Fukushima S, Ikeda T, Kubo Y, Senju S, Ihn H, Nishimura Y, Oshiumi H. Combined Blockade of IL6 and PD-1/PD-L1 Signaling Abrogates Mutual Regulation of Their Immunosuppressive Effects in the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Res. 2018 Sep 1;78(17):5011-5022.

Uchida J, Hamaguchi Y, Oliver JA, Ravetch JV, Poe JC, Haas KM, Tedder TF. The innate mononuclear phagocyte network depletes B lymphocytes through Fc receptor-dependent mechanisms during anti-CD20 antibody immunotherapy. J Exp Med. 2004 Jun 21;199(12):1659-69.

Vadasz Z, Peri R, Eiza N, Slobodin G, Balbir-Gurman A, Toubi E. The Expansion of CD25 high IL-10 high FoxP3 high B Regulatory Cells Is in Association with SLE Disease Activity. J Immunol Res. 2015;2015:254245.

Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, Sucker A, Hillen U, Foppen MHG, Goldinger SM, Utikal J, Hassel JC, Weide B, Kaehler KC, Loquai C, Mohr P, Gutzmer R, Dummer R, Gabriel S, Wu CJ, Schadendorf D, Garraway LA. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. Science. 2015 Oct 9;350(6257):207-211.

van den Eertwegh AJ, Versluis J, van den Berg HP, Santegoets SJ, van Moorselaar RJ, van der Sluis TM, Gall HE, Harding TC, Jooss K, Lowy I, Pinedo HM, Scheper RJ, Stam AG, von Blomberg BM, de Gruijl TD, Hege K, Sacks N, Gerritsen WR. Combined immunotherapy with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor-transduced allogeneic prostate cancer cells and ipilimumab in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: a phase 1 doseescalation trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012 May;13(5):509-17.

van Horssen R, Ten Hagen TL, Eggermont AM. TNF-alpha in cancer treatment: molecular insights, antitumor effects, and clinical utility. Oncologist. 2006 Apr;11(4):397-408.

Vanmeerbeek I, Sprooten J, De Ruysscher D, Tejpar S, Vandenberghe P, Fucikova J, Spisek R, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Garg AD. Trial watch: chemotherapy-induced immunogenic cell death in immuno-oncology. Oncoimmunology. 2020 Jan 9;9(1):1703449.

Varadé J, Magadán S, González-Fernández Á. Human immunology and immunotherapy: main achievements and challenges. Cell Mol Immunol. 2021 Apr;18(4):805-828.

Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie ANJ, Mebius RE, Powrie F, Spits H. Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On. Cell. 2018 Aug 23;174(5):1054-1066.

Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, Yokoyama WM, Ugolini S. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science. 2011 Jan 7;331(6013):44-9.

von Andrian UH, Mempel TR. Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. Nat Rev Immunol. 2003 Nov;3(11):867-78.

Waldmann TA. Cytokines in Cancer Immunotherapy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2018 Dec 3;10(12):a028472.

Wang H, Sun L, Su L, Rizo J, Liu L, Wang LF, Wang FS, Wang X. Mixed lineage kinase domain-like protein MLKL causes necrotic membrane disruption upon phosphorylation by RIP3. Mol Cell. 2014 Apr 10;54(1):133-146.

Wang Y, Liu J, Burrows PD, Wang JY. B Cell Development and Maturation. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2020;1254:1-22.

Wei SC, Levine JH, Cogdill AP, Zhao Y, Anang NAS, Andrews MC, Sharma P, Wang J, Wargo JA, Pe'er D, Allison JP. Distinct Cellular Mechanisms Underlie Anti-CTLA-4 and Anti-PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade. Cell. 2017 Sep 7;170(6):1120-1133.e17.

Weiss RB. The anthracyclines: will we ever find a better doxorubicin? Semin Oncol. 1992 Dec;19(6):670-86.

Westbrook CA, Hooberman AL, Spino C, Dodge RK, Larson RA, Davey F, Wurster-Hill DH, Sobol RE, Schiffer C, Bloomfield CD. Clinical significance of the BCR-ABL fusion gene in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Cancer and Leukemia Group B Study (8762). Blood. 1992 Dec 15;80(12):2983-90.

Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol. 2011 Jun;12(6):492-9.

Williams RT, den Besten W, Sherr CJ. Cytokine-dependent imatinib resistance in mouse BCR-ABL+, Arf-null lymphoblastic leukemia. Genes Dev. 2007 Sep 15;21(18):2283-7.

Williams RT, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Arf gene loss enhances oncogenicity and limits imatinib response in mouse models of Bcr-Abl-induced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Apr 25;103(17):6688-93.

Wing K, Onishi Y, Prieto-Martin P, Yamaguchi T, Miyara M, Fehervari Z, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. CTLA-4 control over Foxp3+ regulatory T cell function. Science. 2008 Oct 10;322(5899):271-5.

Wolchok JD, Chiarion-Sileni V, Gonzalez R, Rutkowski P, Grob JJ, Cowey CL, Lao CD, Wagstaff J, Schadendorf D, Ferrucci PF, Smylie M, Dummer R, Hill A, Hogg D, Haanen J, Carlino MS, Bechter O, Maio M, Marquez-Rodas I, Guidoboni M, McArthur G, Lebbé C, Ascierto PA, Long GV, Cebon J, Sosman J, Postow MA, Callahan MK, Walker D, Rollin L, Bhore R, Hodi FS, Larkin J. Overall Survival with Combined Nivolumab and Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. N Engl J Med. 2017 Oct 5;377(14):1345-1356.

Wong AL, Soo RA, Tan DS, Lee SC, Lim JS, Marban PC, Kong LR, Lee YJ, Wang LZ, Thuya WL, Soong R, Yee MQ, Chin TM, Cordero MT, Asuncion BR, Pang B, Pervaiz S, Hirpara JL, Sinha A, Xu WW, Yuasa M, Tsunoda T, Motoyama M, Yamauchi T, Goh BC. Phase I and biomarker study of OPB-51602, a novel signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3 inhibitor, in patients with refractory solid malignancies. Ann Oncol. 2015 May;26(5):998-1005.

Wu J, Waxman DJ. Immunogenic chemotherapy: Dose and schedule dependence and combination with immunotherapy. Cancer Lett. 2018 Apr 10;419:210-221.

Xu X, Huang S, Xiao X, Sun Q, Liang X, Chen S, Zhao Z, Huo Z, Tu S, Li Y. Challenges and Clinical Strategies of CAR T-Cell Therapy for Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Overview and Developments. Front Immunol. 2021 Feb 10;11:569117.

Yamauchi T, Nowak BJ, Keating MJ, Plunkett W. DNA repair initiated in chronic lymphocytic leukemia lymphocytes by 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide is inhibited by fludarabine and clofarabine. Clin Cancer Res. 2001 Nov;7(11):3580-9.

Yan N, Chen ZJ. Intrinsic antiviral immunity. Nat Immunol. 2012 Feb 16;13(3):214-22.

Yanai H, Ban T, Wang Z, Choi MK, Kawamura T, Negishi H, Nakasato M, Lu Y, Hangai S, Koshiba R, Savitsky D, Ronfani L, Akira S, Bianchi ME, Honda K, Tamura T, Kodama T, Taniguchi T. HMGB proteins function as universal sentinels for nucleic-acid-mediated innate immune responses. Nature. 2009 Nov 5;462(7269):99-103.

Yang D, de Haan G. Inflammation and Aging of Hematopoietic Stem Cells in Their Niche. Cells. 2021 Jul 21;10(8):1849.

Yap JY, Wirasinha RC, Chan A, Howard DR, Goodnow CC, Daley SR. Indirect presentation in the thymus limits naive and regulatory T-cell differentiation by promoting deletion of self-reactive thymocytes. Immunology. 2018 Jul;154(3):522-532.

Yawata H, Yasukawa K, Natsuka S, Murakami M, Yamasaki K, Hibi M, Taga T, Kishimoto T. Structure-function analysis of human IL-6 receptor: dissociation of amino acid residues required for IL-6-binding and for IL-6 signal transduction through gp130. EMBO J. 1993 Apr;12(4):1705-12.

Yoneyama M, Onomoto K, Jogi M, Akaboshi T, Fujita T. Viral RNA detection by RIG-I-like receptors. Curr Opin Immunol. 2015 Feb;32:48-53.

Zitvogel L, Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Kroemer G. Immunological aspects of cancer chemotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Jan;8(1):59-73.

Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015 Jul;15(7):405-14.

Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immune parameters affecting the efficacy of chemotherapeutic regimens. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011 Mar;8(3):151-60.

Zitvogel L, Tesniere A, Kroemer G. Cancer despite immunosurveillance: immunoselection and immunosubversion. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006 Oct;6(10):715-27.

Chapter 2

Microenvironmental IL-6 inhibits anti-cancer immune

responses generated by cytotoxic chemotherapy

Chapter 2: Microenvironmental IL-6 inhibits anti-cancer immune responses generated by cytotoxic chemotherapy

Luis R. Millán-Barea^{1,2,3}, Eric H. Bent^{1,2,3}, Iris Zhuang^{1,2}, Daniel R. Goulet^{1,2}, Julia Fröse^{1,2}, and Michael T. Hemann^{1,2,*}

¹The David H. Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research, Cambridge, MA 02142, USA.

²Department of Biology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02142, USA.

³These authors contributed equally.

*Correspondence: <u>hemann@mit.edu</u> (M.T.H.).

**A version of this chapter has been published in Nature Communications and can be found on the following link: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-26407-4

Author contributions

E.H.B., and M.T.H. conceptualized the study. E.H.B., L.R.M.B., and M.T.H. designed the study. E.H.B., L.R.M.B., I.Z., D.R.G., and J.F. acquired the data. E.H.B., L.R.M.B., I.Z., D.R.G., and J.F., and M.T.H. interpreted and analyzed the data. E.H.B., L.R.M.B., and M.T.H. drafted the manuscript and figures. All authors revised, edited, and approved the final version of the manuscript and agree to be held accountable for personal contributions.

Abstract

Cytotoxic chemotherapeutics primarily function through DNA damage-induced tumor cell apoptosis, although the inflammation provoked by these agents can stimulate anti-cancer immune responses. The mechanisms that control these distinct effects and limit immunogenic responses to DNA-damage mediated cell death *in vivo* are currently unclear. Using a mouse model of BCR-ABL⁺ B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia, we show that chemotherapy-induced anti-cancer immunity is suppressed by the tumor microenvironment through production of the cytokine IL-6. The chemotherapeutic doxorubicin is curative in IL-6-deficient mice through the induction of CD8⁺ T-cell-mediated anti-cancer responses, while moderately extending lifespan in wild type tumor-bearing mice. We also show that IL-6 suppresses the effectiveness of immunecheckpoint inhibition with anti-PD-L1 blockade. Our results suggest that IL-6 is a key regulator of anti-cancer immune responses induced by genotoxic stress and that its inhibition can switch cancer cell clearance from primarily apoptotic to immunogenic, promoting and maintaining durable anti-tumor immune responses.

Introduction

Most conventional chemotherapeutics exert their cytotoxic mechanism of action by interfering with diverse proteins that affect DNA synthesis and replication. These cellular disruptions lead to the induction of genotoxic stress which results in DNA damage and ultimately in cell death (Longley & Johnston, 2005). Most cancers are initially treated with conventional chemotherapeutics, but complete tumor eradication is difficult to achieve with either targeted or cytotoxic agents. Persistent disease, frequently termed minimal residual disease, fuels eventual tumor relapse and treatment failure in many patients, underscoring a need to find ways to enhance the long-term efficacy of our front-line arsenal of cancer therapeutics.

Some of the most widely used chemotherapeutics, such as doxorubicin, have been suggested to induce anti-tumor immunity through the stimulation of immunogenic cell death (ICD) (Kroemer et al., 2013). The generation of anti-cancer immunity is a promising approach to target residual disease in cancer, and can result in durable tumor responses (Sharma & Allison, 2015; Palucka & Coussens, 2016). Lasting anti-cancer immune responses require both antigen recognition and adjuvant signals, such as those that result from cell stress or death (Galluzzi et al., 2017; Demaria et al., 2019). Immune-stimulating chemotherapies incite the release of pro-inflammatory signals, including damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), that indicate danger and act as immunologic adjuvants, provoking anti-tumor immunity. However, even in settings where tumor antigens are present, cytotoxic chemotherapy rarely generates durable anti-cancer immune responses. This suggests that any immune stimulus from genotoxic therapy is insufficient or ultimately suppressed. The mechanisms by which this occurs are not well understood.

141

BCR-ABL⁺ B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) is a treatment-refractory subtype of B-ALL with a ~50% 3-year overall survival following the use of cytotoxic chemotherapeutics in combination with targeted BCR-ABL kinase inhibitors (Pui et al., 2008; Terwilliger & Abdul-Hay, 2017). Most chemotherapy regimens for ALL include the anthracycline doxorubicin, which can promote ICD and has the potential to induce anti-tumor immunity (Pui et al., 2008; Kroemer et al., 2013; Terwilliger & Abdul-Hay, 2017). However, patients with BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL rarely experience immune-mediated cures after doxorubicin therapy. Immune evasion is a hallmark of cancer development (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Vinay et al., 2015), and occurs through tumor-intrinsic changes and alterations in the diverse immune and non-immune cell types that make up the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Hanahan & Coussens, 2012; Junttila & de Sauvage, 2013; Klemm & Joyce, 2015; Medler et al., 2015; Spranger et al., 2015). Which of these are essential for repressing immune responses to cytotoxic chemotherapy is of significant interest, and has both pre-clinical and clinical relevance.

Chemotherapy has the potential to overcome some of the barriers against an effective antitumor immune response by stimulating the production of cytokines, chemokines and other damage signals that recruit immune cells into the TME and prime innate and adaptive immune responses. However, immunogenic chemotherapy only disables some immune-evasive mechanisms. A promising therapeutic strategy is combining chemotherapy with blockade of immune checkpoint proteins and immunosuppressive cytokines and metabolites, such as IL-10, IDO and other chemokines that influence the activity of immune cells present in the

142

microenvironment (Smyth et al., 2016). Simultaneously targeting multiple TME evasive mechanisms may potentially improve the treatment of cancer.

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine frequently found in diverse TMEs. IL-6 is involved in the regulation of tissue repair, the acute-phase response (Kopf et al., 1994), and is indispensable for the initiation of both innate and adaptive immune responses in many contexts (Taniguchi & Karin, 2014; Hunter & Jones, 2015). IL-6 has been implicated in tumor development and resistance to therapy in diverse cancer types, including through its effects on the immune system (Gilbert & Hemann, 2010; Gilbert & Hemann, 2012; Tanaka et al., 2014; Bent et al., 2016; Flint et al., 2016; Li et al., 2018; Mace et al., 2018; Tsukamoto et al., 2018). In addition to its well-established proinflammatory effects, IL-6 has also been suggested to have pro-resolving and anti-inflammatory properties, and chronic IL-6 activity can stimulate immune suppressive signals and impair the generation of a robust immune response (Tanaka & Kishimoto, 2014; Taniguchi & Karin, 2014; Hunter & Jones, 2015; Kang et al., 2019). Consequently, the ultimate impact of IL-6 on the generation of anti-tumor immune responses *in vivo* remains unclear.

Our previous studies have identified that TME-derived IL-6 is acutely induced following chemotherapy treatment, activating cancer cell anti-apoptotic signaling and shielding lymphoma cells from cell death (Gilbert & Hemann, 2010; Bent et al., 2016). Here, we find that production of IL-6 by the TME regulates chemotherapy efficacy in ALL by inhibiting anti-leukemia immunity. Using a syngeneic mouse model of ALL, we show that the wild-type tumor microenvironment is immunosuppressive. The immunogenic-chemotherapeutic doxorubicin extends survival through the direct induction of tumor cell death in wild-type mice, similar to its impact in patients with B-ALL (Pui et al., 2008; Terwilliger & Abdul-Hay, 2017), but fails to promote durable anti-cancer immunity. Interestingly, we find that IL-6 knock-out (KO) mice treated with doxorubicin completely clear leukemic cells, with the majority of these mice undergoing T-cell-dependent anti-leukemia immune responses and developing lasting immunologic memory. Thus, the presence or absence of IL-6 dictates doxorubicin efficacy by shifting its mechanism of anti-cancer clearance, which becomes primarily immunogenic in the absence of IL-6. Our results suggest that the inhibition of IL-6 may be a broadly effective therapeutic strategy to promote durable responses to standard of care genotoxic drug regimens.

Results

Wild type B-ALL bearing mice are resistant to doxorubicin treatment

To explore the mediators of immune suppression and resistance to immunogenic chemotherapy, we used a transplantable syngeneic mouse model of BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL (Williams et al., 2006). Transplanted leukemia cells are found primarily in the bone marrow (BM), blood, and spleen, recapitulating the relevant tissue microenvironments in the human disease (Williams et al., 2007; Boulos et al., 2011). To investigate the response of this leukemia to immunogenic chemotherapy, wild type (WT) leukemia bearing recipients were treated with doxorubicin (DOX) and monitored for survival. Overall survival was extended in tumor bearing mice treated with doxorubicin, but all mice ultimately relapsed with chemoresistant disease (**Figure 2.1a**) – a phenotype that parallels treatment failure in the clinical setting (Williams et al., 2007; Boulos et al., 2011). To further investigate the immunogenicity of this model in its native tumor microenvironment, we
transplanted B-ALL tumor cells into Rag-2 KO recipient mice, which lack functional T- and B-cells. We found that lack of T- and B-cells did not significantly affect survival (**Figure 2.1b**). CD8⁺ T-cell depletion in WT mice failed to yield a statistically significant impairment in doxorubicin response but did show a small numerical difference in survival (**Supplementary Fig. 2.1a,b**). Taken together, these data suggest that the improved survival following treatment is primarily a direct cytotoxic effect of chemotherapy and is largely independent of sustained anti-leukemia immune responses.





Figure 2.1 | Doxorubicin extends survival of WT leukemic mice but elicits long-term disease elimination in the absence of IL-6. a, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT mice, either treated with doxorubicin (DOX) or untreated. n = 11 for WT-untreated, n = 15 for WTtreated. ***p = 0.0001. b, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT or immunodeficient Rag-2 KO mice, either treated with doxorubicin or untreated. n = 5 per cohort, except n = 4 for Rag-2 KO-untreated. c, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT or IL-6 KO mice, either treated with doxorubicin or untreated. n = 16 for WT-untreated, n = 20 for WT-treated, n = 25 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 30 for IL-6 KO-treated. Data from 4 independent experiments is shown. ****p<0.0001. **d**, A graph showing leukemia burden *in vivo* monitored by bioluminescence imaging. Leukemia burden in WT and IL-6 KO mice at various times before and after treatment. n = 10 per cohort. *p = 0.0115 by two-tailed Mann-Whitney test. e, Left, a graph showing the concentration of IL-6 present in the bone marrow of tumor-free or B-ALL bearing mice. n = 8 per cohort. Right, a graph showing mCherry⁺ B-ALL percentages in the bone marrow of tumor-free or B-ALL bearing mice, quantified by flow cytometry. n = 10 for WT-ALL-untreated, n = 5 for WT-PBS-untreated, n = 6 for IL-6 KO-ALL-untreated. Data is represented as mean \pm SEM. Shown are individual biological replicates. ***p = 0.0008, ****p<0.0001 by Ordinary one-way ANOVA test. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests were used to compare Kaplan-Meier survival curves. Boxplots show the median as the center lines, upper and lower quartiles as box limits, and whiskers represent maximum and minimum values. D2 = Day 2, D8 = Day 8.

IL-6 promotes resistance to cytotoxic therapy

We have previously shown that TME-derived IL-6 modulates resistance to genotoxic chemotherapy in a mouse model of Burkitt's lymphoma (Gilbert & Hemann, 2010; Bent et al., 2016). To understand the effect that loss of IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment has on leukemia response to chemotherapy in B-ALL, we transplanted leukemia cells into syngeneic IL-6 KO mice (Kopf et al., 1994) and treated these mice with doxorubicin. Surprisingly, we found that doxorubicin-treated mice lacking IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment live significantly longer than WT treated mice, with a majority of mice appearing to be cured of their disease (Figure **2.1c**). In the absence of treatment and shortly after treatment, we see no difference in leukemia tumor burden between WT or IL-6 KO mice. However, leukemic cell burden is significantly reduced in doxorubicin-treated IL-6 KO mice by 8 days after treatment (Figure 2.1d, and Supplementary Fig. 2.2a). Chemotherapy induction regimens against human B-ALL include corticosteroids, which have anti-inflammatory properties that could interfere with anti-tumor immune responses. Therefore, we administered doxorubicin and dexamethasone treatment on tumor bearing IL-6 deficient mice but failed to see any significant negative effect on anti-tumor immunity (Supplementary Fig. 2.1c). To determine how IL-6 is regulated by the presence of leukemic cells and whether leukemic cells or other microenvironmental cells are the primary source of IL-6 production, we transplanted B-ALL cells into WT and IL-6 KO hosts and harvested bone marrow samples to quantify the levels of IL-6 by ELISA. While B-ALL cells do not produce IL-6 themselves, they cause an upregulation in IL-6 production by the tumor microenvironment, regardless of comparable tumor burdens in both WT & IL-6 KO mice (Figure 2.1e).

Anthracyclines like doxorubicin are reported to induce cancer cell death programs that are immunogenic and prompt anti-tumorigenic host responses. To further characterize the dependence of our phenotype on ICD, we explored how doxorubicin regulates immunogenic DAMPs associated with ICD (Kroemer et al., 2013; Garg et al., 2015; Galluzzi et al., 2017; Garg & Agostinis, 2017). Analysis of CRT signal on the surface of treated leukemia cells shows that doxorubicin, but not imatinib, a BCR-ABL inhibitor which is not known to induce ICD, induces CRT surface exposure (**Supplementary Fig. 2.2b,d**). Unexpectedly, other classic hallmarks of ICD are not significantly induced after doxorubicin treatment in this model (**Supplementary Fig. 2.2c**).

IL-6 does not signal directly to leukemia cells to affect survival

We next sought to understand whether IL-6 could directly promote therapeutic resistance in B-ALL cells. IL-6 signals through a receptor complex composed of the membrane-embedded signal transducer gp130 and either transmembrane or soluble forms of the IL-6 receptor (Tanaka et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2019). Cells do not have to express the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) to engage in IL-6mediated signaling but can activate signaling from binding of soluble IL-6R (sIL-6R)-IL-6 complexes to gp130. The IL-6R was not detected on leukemia cells either *in vitro* (**Figure 2.2a**) or *in vivo* (**Figure 2.2b**), but is expressed on many stromal cells in the BM microenvironment (**Figure 2.2b**). To test whether IL-6 can directly mediate resistance to doxorubicin, we cultured leukemia cells in the presence of IL-6, sIL-6R, or both IL-6 and sIL-6R to simulate signaling through sIL-6R-IL-6 complexes. Surprisingly, none of these conditions altered the sensitivity of leukemic cells to doxorubicin (**Figure 2.2c**), suggesting that IL-6 does not directly promote resistance to doxorubicin in this system. We have previously shown that IL-6 regulates the production of a number of other cytokines and growth factors in the bone marrow (Gilbert & Hemann, 2012), leading to elevated levels of IL-10, IL-12, IL-15 and GM-CSF. To determine if these cytokines and growth factors can directly mediate resistance to doxorubicin, we cultured leukemia cells in the presence of these other cytokines. Interestingly, growth of leukemia cells in the presence of these cytokines or growth factors also had no impact on the cells' sensitivity to doxorubicin in vitro (Figure 2.2d). Co-culture of leukemia cells with bone marrow stromal cells from WT or IL-6 KO mice (Figure 2.2e) also did not have an effect on the cells' sensitivity to doxorubicin. These results suggest that the resistance conferred by IL-6 does not result from direct regulation of any soluble factor downstream of IL-6 signaling. We also do not observe significant levels of phosphorylated STAT3 (p-STAT3), a major signaling pathway downstream of the IL-6R, in leukemia cells in vivo before treatment (Figure 2.2f) or significant differences in gene expression downstream of STAT3 in leukemic cells grown in WT and IL-6 KO mice (see below). Interestingly, while stromal p-STAT3 levels increase in response to doxorubicin treatment, there are no differences in p-STAT3 levels between WT and IL-6 KO mice at the times tested (Figure 2.2f), although some change in pathway gene expression is noted (see below). To further understand the molecular mechanisms that mediate treatment resistance by IL-6, we performed immunoblot analysis of various IL-6 effectors from B-ALL bearing bone marrow lysates. Activation of S6 kinase (S6K), a target of PI3K/mTOR signaling, was not significantly changed by the absence of IL-6 nor exposure to doxorubicin treatment. Similarly, activation of ERK1/2, a target of Ras/MAPK signaling, remained unchanged regardless of treatment conditions (Supplementary Fig. 2.3a-d). Additionally, we were not able to detect release of the sIL-6R in co-culture of leukemia cells with bone-marrow stromal cells from WT or

IL-6 KO mice (**Supplementary Fig. 2.3e**). Thus, the therapeutic benefit we see *in vivo* appears to be independent of IL-6 activity directly on the cancer cells and most likely mediated by its impact on the stroma.

Figure 2.2



Figure 2.2 | IL-6 does not promote intrinsic B-ALL chemoresistance. a, A flow cytometry plot showing IL-6R expression on the surface of leukemic cells in vitro. Histograms for IL-6R and isotype control-stained cells are overlaid. b, A graph showing IL-6R expression in the bone marrow of leukemia-bearing mice pre- and post-doxorubicin (DOX) treatment. Data was quantified by flow cytometry. mCherry⁺ leukemia cells were used to distinguish stromal and leukemia cells. Median APC intensity from IL-6R stained cells minus isotype control-stained cells was calculated. Data from 2 independent experiments is shown, and represented as mean \pm SEM. n = 6 per cohort, except n = 7 for both IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin stroma and IL-6 KO-D2 postdoxorubicin leukemia samples. ****p<0.0001 by Ordinary one-way ANOVA test. c, A doseresponse curve showing leukemic cell viability in response to doxorubicin treatment in the presence or absence of IL-6 and/or sIL-6R. Viable cells were counted by flow cytometry 48 hours after the addition of doxorubicin. Data from 4 independent experiments is shown, and represented as mean \pm SEM. **d**, A dose-response curve showing leukemic cell viability in the presence or absence of cytokines previously observed to be regulated by IL-6. Cells were treated as in (c) with the indicated cytokines. e, A dose-response curve showing leukemic cell viability of cells co-cultured with bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) from WT or IL-6 KO mice in response to doxorubicin treatment as in (c). f, A graph showing p-STAT3 levels in the bone marrow of leukemia-bearing WT and IL-6 KO mice. There were no significant statistical comparisons between corresponding WT and IL-6 KO samples. Data is shown as in (b), from 2 independent experiments, and represented as mean \pm SEM. n = 7 per cohort, except n = 6 for both IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin stroma and IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin leukemia samples. *p = 0.011, ****p<0.0001 by Ordinary one-way ANOVA test. D2 = Day 2.

Doxorubicin induces immune cell infiltration into the leukemic bone marrow

ICD released immune-activating factors serve to recruit immune cells to sites of damage and activate downstream inflammatory signaling that can further recruit additional immune-cell subsets to the inflamed tissue, spurring anti-cancer immunity (Kroemer et al., 2013). To understand the role that doxorubicin has on immune cell recruitment to major sites of leukemia burden like the bone marrow and spleen, we profiled immune cell composition in leukemiabearing mice before and after doxorubicin treatment. Before treatment, T-cells make up a small portion of cells in the bone marrow (Figure 2.3a, Supplementary Fig. 2.3f, and Supplementary Table 2.1) but are much more prevalent in the spleen (Supplementary Table 2.2). This suggests that the bone marrow, which is the primary site of residual leukemia after treatment, may be a T-cell exclusionary microenvironment (Spranger, 2016). Interestingly, doxorubicin treatment selectively promotes T-cell influx into the bone marrow, but not the spleen, with increased cytotoxic and helper T-cell subsets observed in both WT and IL-6 KO mice (Figure 2.3b,c, and Supplementary Table 2.1). We find relatively low levels of CD3⁺–CD4⁺–CD25⁺ cells in the leukemic bone marrow (Figure 2.3d), a subset that includes T-regulatory (T-Reg) cells. These cell populations were subtly changed after doxorubicin treatment, suggesting that the T-cell recruitment promoted by doxorubicin is cell-type specific and that doxorubicin may increase the CTL/T-reg ratio in the bone marrow, a ratio that is positively associated with survival in multiple cancer types (Sato et al., 2005; Fridman et al., 2012).

Additionally, doxorubicin promotes increased CD11c⁺–MHC-II⁺ dendritic cell (**Figure 2.3e**) and F480⁻–CD11b⁺–Gr-1⁺ neutrophil infiltration in the bone marrow (**Figure 2.3f**). There are no major

changes in the overall percentages of CD11b⁺–Gr-1⁺ cells (**Figure 2.3g**). This latter population includes multiple mature and immature myeloid cell subsets which make up a major portion of the cells in the bone marrow. At these early timepoints after doxorubicin treatment, there is no significant difference in leukemic cell burden in the BM of IL-6 KO and WT mice (**Figure 2.3h**), suggesting that the DNA damage induced by this agent may not account for its entire antitumor activity. Collectively, these data indicate that the bone marrow is an exclusionary environment for leukemia-reactive T-cells. Doxorubicin treatment leads to increased dendritic and T-cell infiltration, potentially contributing to leukemia recognition and clearance in the right environmental context.

Figure 2.3



Figure 2.3 | Doxorubicin induces immune cell recruitment to the TME. a, A graph showing the percentages of T-cells (CD3⁺) in the bone marrow of leukemia-bearing mice pre- and postdoxorubicin (DOX) treatment. *p = 0.0142, ****p<0.0001. **b**, Graph showing the percentages of cytotoxic T-cells (CD3⁺-CD8⁺) as in (a). **p = 0.0099, ****p<0.0001. c, Graph showing the percentages of helper T-cells (CD3⁺–CD4⁺) as in (a). **p = 0.0044, ****p<0.0001. d, Graph showing the percentages of a subset of T-cells (CD3⁺-CD4⁺-CD25⁺) as in (a). n = 7 for WTuntreated, n = 8 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 7 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 8 IL-6 KO-D2 postdoxorubicin mice. Data from 3 independent experiments is shown. **p = 0.0059 between IL-6 KO samples, **p = 0.005 between treated WT and IL-6 KO samples. e, Graph showing the percentages of dendritic cells (CD11c⁺–MHC-II⁺) as in (a). *p = 0.019. f, Graph showing the percentages of neutrophils (F480⁻–CD11b⁺–Gr-1⁺) as in (a). *p = 0.0189, **p = 0.0029. g, Graph showing the percentages of myeloid-derived suppressor cells/monocytes (CD11b⁺–Gr-1⁺) as in (a). h, A graph showing mCherry⁺ B-ALL percentages in the bone marrow of leukemia-bearing mice pre- and post-doxorubicin treatment. All data was quantified by flow cytometry. Data is represented as a percent of DAPI-negative (live), mCherry-negative (non-leukemic) cells for immune populations. Data for all panels is represented as mean \pm SEM. n = 7 for WT-untreated, n = 11 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 7 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 10 IL-6 KO-D2 postdoxorubicin mice, and data from 4 independent experiments is shown; applies for all panels unless otherwise noted. Analyzed by two-tailed Student t-test. There were no significant statistical comparisons between 'untreated' and 'DOX treated' samples of different genetic backgrounds, unless shown. D2 = Day 2.

Leukemia clearance in IL-6 KO mice is dependent on T-cell mediated anti-tumor immune responses

The inability of IL-6 to directly promote doxorubicin resistance stands in contrast with the increased efficacy of doxorubicin chemotherapy in IL-6 KO mice. This increased efficacy, and the T-cell influx we see after doxorubicin treatment, led us to investigate whether IL-6 might affect therapeutic response through modulation of the immune system. To study the role of T-cells in the durable responses observed in IL-6 KO mice, we depleted T-cells through the injection of anti-CD4 and CD8 antibodies. While T-cell-depleted IL-6 KO mice exhibit similar initial responses to doxorubicin 2 days after treatment, these mice fail to fully clear their leukemic burden, rapidly relapse, and do not exhibit the long-term survival typically seen after doxorubicin treatment of IL-6 KO mice (Figure 2.4a,b). These results suggest that T-cell anti-tumor activities are essential for the profound responses to doxorubicin seen in IL-6 KO mice. Depletion of CD8⁺ or CD4⁺ cells alone recapitulated the effect seen with combined CD4- and CD8-depletion (Supplementary Fig. 2.1d,e), suggesting that long-term survival of doxorubicin-treated IL-6 KO mice is dependent on both CD8⁺ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) and CD4⁺ helper activity. These data indicate that doxorubicin has the potential to promote an anti-tumor immune response, likely in part through the recruitment of T-cells into the BM, but that this response is suppressed in WT mice through the production of IL-6. Next, to evaluate whether IL-6 KO mice develop lasting immunologic memory after doxorubicin treatment, we re-transplanted leukemia cells into previously cured IL-6 KO mice or naïve controls (Figure 2.4c) and monitored leukemia progression. Strikingly, previously cured mice were completely resistant to leukemia initiation upon tumor retransplantation (**Figure 2.4d,e**). These results suggest that IL-6 absence allows for the generation of lasting anti-cancer immunity that is mainly mediated by T-lymphocyte responses.





Figure 2.4 | T-cell dependent anti-tumor immunity develops after doxorubicin treatment of IL-6 KO leukemic mice. a, A graph showing leukemia burden *in vivo* monitored by bioluminescence imaging. CD4 and CD8 cells were depleted with antibodies and response to doxorubicin (DOX) treatment was followed. n = 5 per cohort. **b**, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic IL-6 KO mice treated as in (**a**). n = 6 for IL-6 KO-isotype, n = 5 for IL-6 KO-depleted. ******p = 0.0059 by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. **c**, IL-6 KO mice previously cured (living >80 days) by doxorubicin treatment were re-transplanted with leukemia cells and disease progression monitored by bioluminescence imaging in the absence of further treatment. **d**, A graph showing leukemia burden *in vivo* in control and re-transplanted leukemia bearing mice. n = 6 per cohort. **e**, A graph showing leukemic IL-6 KO mice as in (**e**), D16 after disease transplant in the absence of treatment. At this time point, n = 5 for IL-6 KO-naïve, n = 6 for IL-6 KO-re-transplant. ******p = 0.0043 by twotailed Mann-Whitney test. Boxplots show the median as the center lines, upper and lower quartiles as box limits, and whiskers represent maximum and minimum values. D8 = Day 8, D16 = Day 16.

IL-6 absence impacts diverse immune-modulatory pathways

To further investigate the differences between WT and IL-6 KO mice, B-ALL and stromal cells were sorted from the bone marrow and RNA-sequencing was performed (**Supplementary Fig. 2.4a**). DESeq2 was used to identify differentially expressed genes in the tumor and stroma of IL-6 KO mice relative to wild-type, and rank list genes by t-statistic. GSEA analysis of the pre-ranked list using the cancer 'Hallmarks' collection from MSigDB identified few differentially regulated sets, but showed the gain of inflammatory response genesets in IL-6 KO samples, suggesting a global difference in immune states between WT and IL-6 KO mice (**Supplementary Fig. 2.4b**). This elevated immune signature in tumor stroma seems to include increased expression of genes that are pathway components or recognized targets of IL-6 signaling, implying a potential compensatory response to decreased IL-6 pathway flux. The directionality of gene expression changes in these samples indicate that IL-6 KO leukemic mice are poised to generate an enhanced immune response, fitting our experimental data. Next, we analyzed underlying expression of enriched genesets identified by GSEA to determine if these inflammatory responses are more prominent in tumor or stroma samples. We found the most variance between IL-6 KO and WT mice pertained to the stroma samples, for both global normalized gene expression (**Supplementary Fig. 2.4c**) and for the genesets within the GSEA Hallmarks collection (**Supplementary Fig. 2.4d-g**). These results support our prior data indicating that the primary differences in IL-6 KO mice relative to WT arise from the bone marrow stroma. Rather than acting directly on tumor cells, IL-6 deficiency appears to alter the bone marrow stroma to broadly create a permissive immune microenvironment.

IL-6 deficiency synergizes with anti-PD-L1 therapy to treat leukemia

PD-1 and other immune-checkpoint proteins that play key roles in the suppression of anti-cancer immune responses are induced during T-cell activation (Pardoll, 2012). It is thought that these proteins exist to restore normal homeostasis after an immune stimulus, preventing hyperactive immune responses and autoimmunity (Wherry & Kurachi, 2015). Cancer cells often express high levels of inhibitory checkpoint ligands and exploit the presence of these proteins on T-cells to inhibit their activity. T-cells in the bone marrow of IL-6 KO mice have reduced surface expression of PD-1 (Figure 2.5a). Combination treatment of WT B-ALL-bearing mice with doxorubicin and PD-L1 antibody-blocking therapy reduced leukemia burden in a subset of mice (Figure 2.5b) and increased their survival (Figure 2.5c). These observations suggest that higher expression of PD-1 inhibitory signals present in IL-6 proficient microenvironments might contribute to the failure of immunogenic therapy. This model of B-ALL expresses high levels of the checkpoint ligand PD-L1 (Figure 2.5d), and PD-L1 expression has previously been implicated in B-ALL resistance to immune-stimulating therapy (Köhnke et al., 2015). To determine whether IL-6 loss could also enhance the efficacy of PD-L1 blockade and promote anti-leukemia immune responses, we treated WT and IL-6 KO leukemic mice with PD-L1 inhibitors and monitored disease progression and survival. While PD-L1 blockade exhibits modest efficacy in only a subset of WT mice, IL-6 KO mice undergo nearly complete leukemia eradication by 9 days after the initiation of PD-L1 blockade (Figure 2.5e). Almost all of the PD-L1-treated IL-6 KO mice underwent durable remissions and 80% remained alive without apparent disease more than 60 days after injection (Figure 2.5f). These data further suggest that production of IL-6 is a major barrier to the efficacy of immune-stimulating therapy in leukemia and that some, but not all, of its impact occurs through the regulation of T-cell PD-1 expression.

Figure 2.5



Figure 2.5 | Combination treatment with doxorubicin and PD-L1 inhibition increases mouse survival, while IL-6 inhibits the efficacy of PD-L1 inhibition. a, A graph showing CD3⁺T-cells–PD- 1^+ percentages in the bone marrow of tumor-free WT mice in the absence of treatment. *p = 0.032 by two-tailed Student t-test. **b**, A graph showing leukemia burden in vivo monitored by bioluminescence imaging. n = 10 per cohort, except n = 9 for both WT-untreated and WT- α PD-L1. **p = 0.0029 by two-tailed Mann-Whitney test. c, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT mice. n = 10 per cohort, except n = 5 for WT-untreated, n = 14 for WT- α PD-L1. **p = 0.0029 between WT-untreated and WT- α PD-L1 only, **p = 0.0071 between WT-doxorubicin only and WT-doxorubicin + α PD-L1, by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. **d**, A flow cytometry plot showing PD-L1 expression on the surface of leukemic cells in vitro. e, A graph showing leukemia burden in vivo monitored by bioluminescence imaging. n = 5 per cohort, except n = 4 for WTisotype. *p = 0.0317 by two-tailed Mann-Whitney test. f, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT and IL-6 KO mice. n = 5 per cohort, except n = 4 for WT-isotype. *p = 0.0126 by Logrank (Mantel-Cox) test. Boxplots show the median as the center lines, upper and lower quartiles as box limits, and whiskers represent maximum and minimum values. D8 = Day 8, D9 = Day 9.

Doxorubicin induced-immunity extends survival in tumor bearing mice treated with IL-6 receptor blockade

To determine the potential clinical relevance of our observations in IL-6 KO mice, we next examined the efficacy of doxorubicin treatment when combined with IL-6R blockade in WT animals bearing B-ALL. After optimizing the dosage and administration schedule of the IL-6R inhibitor (**Supplementary Fig. 2.5a**), we observed that combination treatment with doxorubicin

and inhibition of IL-6 signaling with therapeutic antibodies significantly extended the survival of WT mice (Figure 2.6a). Notably, 48 hours after doxorubicin treatment, leukemic cell death has started to occur in both 'anti-Isotype' and 'anti-IL-6R' treatment combination groups. However, a week after doxorubicin administration there is significantly more leukemic cell clearance in mice treated with IL-6 receptor blockade (Figure 2.6b). In contrast, MC38-bearing mice were refractory to combination therapy (Supplementary Fig. 2.5b).

Others have shown that signaling downstream of IL-6 is important for the development, progression, and therapy response of many cancers (Kang et al., 2019), including pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) (Lesina et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2013; Mace et al., 2018). Therefore, we assessed if the combination of cytotoxic chemotherapy and IL-6R blockade might also promote tumor control in a preclinical model of PDAC subcutaneously injected into WT mice. Once tumors were established, mice received combination treatment with doxorubicin and IL-6R therapeutic antibodies. Expression of IL-6R was detected in the stromal cells *in vivo* (**Supplementary Fig. 2.5c**). Consistent with our observations in B-ALL, combination treatment with doxorubicin treatment model of PDAC tumor growth (**Figure 2.6c,d**). Similarly, doxorubicin treatment had significant inhibition of PDAC tumor growth in IL-6 KO mice (**Figure 2.6e,f**). Intriguingly, p-STAT3 levels from bulk PDAC tumor samples do not significantly change between WT and IL-6 KO mice, nor in response to doxorubicin treatment at the times examined (**Supplementary Fig. 2.5d**).

Finally, we re-transplanted PDAC cells, 5 days after doxorubicin treatment, into the opposite flanks of PDAC-bearing IL-6 KO mice (**Supplementary Fig. 2.5e**). The PDAC tumors transplanted into previously doxorubicin-treated IL-6 KO animals showed reduced growth compared to the tumors transplanted into untreated IL-6 KO hosts (**Figure 2.6g,h**). These results suggest a role for IL-6 deficiency in maintaining an active and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. Thus, antibody-mediated inhibition of IL-6 signaling can promote durable responses to genotoxic chemotherapy in both hematopoietic and solid malignancies.





Figure 2.6 | Therapeutic IL-6 inhibition enhances the efficacy of doxorubicin treatment. a, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve of B-ALL-bearing mice. n = 15 for both doxorubicin (DOX) + Isotype and doxorubicin + α IL-6R treated, n = 10 for untreated, and n = 5 for α IL-6R only treated mice. **p = 0.0062 by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. b, A graph showing leukemia burden in WT mice treated with doxorubicin and either an IL-6R blocking antibody or isotype control. Tumor burden was monitored by bioluminescence imaging. n = 7 for doxorubicin + Isotype, n = 9 for doxorubicin + α IL-6R treated mice. ***p = 0.0002 by two-tailed Mann-Whitney test. **c**, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden in WT mice treated with doxorubicin and either an IL-6R blocking antibody or isotype control. n = 10 for Isotype only, n = 15 for α IL-6R only, n = 19 for doxorubicin + Isotype, and n = 22 for doxorubicin + α IL-6R. Data from 4 independent experiments. **p<0.035, ***p<0.005, ****p<0.0001. d, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden on day 18 for individual animals within the indicated treatment groups. Shown Ns are the individual biological replicates from (c). ****p<0.0001. e, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden in WT and IL-6 KO mice treated with doxorubicin or untreated. n = 10 per cohort, except n = 19 for WT-doxorubicin only. Data from 1 independent experiment. *p<0.05, **p<0.035, ****p<0.0001. f, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden on day 18 for individual animals within the indicated treatment groups. Shown Ns are the individual biological replicates from (e). ***p = 0.0003, ****p<0.0001. g, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden of secondary transplants (5 days after doxorubicin treatment) into IL-6 KO mice that had already received a primary PDAC transplant and were treated with doxorubicin or untreated. n = 10 per cohort. *p<0.05, **p<0.035. h, A graph showing PDAC tumor burden on day 8 for individual animals within the indicated treatment groups. Shown Ns are the individual biological replicates from (g). **p = 0.0039. Two-tailed Mann-Whitney tests were used to compare groups in panels (**c-h**), and data is represented as mean \pm SEM. Boxplots show the median as the center lines, upper and lower quartiles as box limits, and whiskers represent maximum and minimum values. D2 = Day 2, D8 = Day 8.

Discussion

Genotoxic chemotherapy primarily exerts its effects via DNA damage-induced cell death (Longley & Johnston, 2005). However, work from multiple labs has demonstrated that a subset of commonly used chemotherapeutics can also stimulate immunity in specific contexts (Kroemer et al., 2013; Galluzzi et al., 2017). Despite this, it remains unclear the extent to which immune responses contribute to the efficacy of cytotoxic chemotherapy and the contexts in which they do so. In both mice and humans, immunogenic chemotherapy rarely promotes lasting anti-tumor immune responses. While there are many examples of the TME regulating therapeutic efficacy *in vivo* (Klemm & Joyce, 2015), how the TME tunes the immune responses to immunogenic cell death (ICD) is poorly understood and of broad clinical relevance. Here, we show that IL-6 controls a mechanistic switch between primarily cytotoxic cell death and immune-mediated clearance of tumor cells after genotoxic chemotherapy treatment.

We used a mouse model of acute lymphoblastic leukemia that closely recapitulates the microenvironment and therapy responsiveness of the human disease (Williams et al., 2006) to investigate the mechanisms of immune suppression after treatment with immunogenic chemotherapy. We show that while doxorubicin modestly extends animal survival in WT mice, it does not generate robust anti-cancer immunity and mice ultimately fail to clear their leukemia

burden. In contrast, in the absence of IL-6, the majority of leukemic mice are cured after doxorubicin treatment in an immune-mediated fashion. This demonstrates that IL-6 is an important TME-derived paracrine factor that suppresses the generation of robust anti-tumor immunity. Consequently, we find that microenvironmental context not only impacts therapy responsiveness but alters the mechanism by which a commonly used clinical agent exerts its activity. This data indicates that the efficacy of conventional DNA-damaging therapies and their ability to induce anti-cancer immunity in human cancers may be limited by immunosuppressive factors in the TME, such as IL-6. These results highlight the role of the TME in the cancer cell's response to therapy and indicate how further study of the microenvironmental regulators of ICD could impact the clinical utility of cytotoxic chemotherapeutics.

We have previously shown that the bone marrow is a site of resistance to antibody-based therapy in double-hit lymphoma, where the immune-suppressive microenvironment impairs innate immune-mediated clearance of antibody bound cells (Pallasch et al., 2014). Interestingly, our findings here demonstrate that doxorubicin promotes T- and dendritic cell influx into the bone marrow, transforming it into a pro-immunogenic microenvironment. Major determinants of immunogenicity and ICD include the release of HMGB1 and surface exposure of CRT from dying cancer cells (Apetoh et al., 2007; Obeid et al., 2007). Doxorubicin treated leukemia cells induce CRT surface exposure and HMGB1 release in the TME is preserved although other mediators of immunogenicity in this system remain to be defined. While the pro-immunogenic conditions present after doxorubicin treatment are favorable for the clearance of leukemic cells, microenvironmental IL-6 production – which is increased by the presence of leukemic cells –

suppresses the expected anti-cancer immune responses. Thus, cancer-cell induced IL-6 release in designated microenvironments may help to disguise immunogenic cell death states.

Paracrine signals produced in the TME play a major role in defining the immune context of tumors and show great potential for therapeutic manipulation. IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine involved in the regulation of many processes including immune activation (Kang et al., 2019), but chronic IL-6 activity can also weaken the generation of an effective immune response (Hunter & Jones, 2015). For example, chronic STAT3 activity downstream of IL-6 can impair the generation of new adaptive immune responses (Kortylewski et al., 2005). In the context of ICD, IL-6 may impair anticancer immunity through the creation of a microenvironment in which an acute inflammatory stimulus from cell death is less likely to generate a productive immune response. Our data suggests multiple downstream effectors are likely active in mediating the profound regulation of anti-cancer immunity we see after cytotoxic therapy. While we detected no differences in p-STAT3 protein levels between IL-6 KO and WT leukemic and PDAC bearing mice at the times tested, our RNA-sequencing studies do show alterations in JAK/STAT pathway components in stroma from IL-6 KO mice. We also find higher T-cell PD-1 expression in the presence of IL-6 indicating a potentially more exhausted T-cell population. Future detailed interrogation of the effectors downstream of IL-6 will be necessary to elucidate the mechanisms underlying this significant clinical response.

While showing promising efficacy in a number of cancer types, immunotherapy can increase the activity of the immune system, causing a variety of inflammatory and auto-immune phenomena

that instigate significant morbidity. These immune related adverse events are commonly treated with steroids. However, there is concern that high-dose steroids may not fully help to alleviate the immune-related adverse events and additionally that they may blunt the anti-cancer effects of immunotherapies (Postow et al., 2018). This emphasizes the need to find alternatives for treating immune-related adverse consequences. The humanized monoclonal anti-IL-6R antibody, Tocilizumab, has been used to treat inflammatory toxicity associated with immune-checkpoint blockade and the cytokine release syndrome (CRS) associated with chimeric antigen receptor Tcell therapy (Le et al., 2018). Interestingly, our data suggest that IL-6 blockade may be able to decouple auto-immune and anti-cancer immune responses, potentially increasing anti-cancer immunity while treating auto-immune toxicity. This phenomenon has recently been reported for TNF-blockade as well (Perez-Ruiz et al., 2019).

Given the many mechanisms by which cancer can evade immune surveillance (Vinay et al., 2015; Palucka & Coussens, 2016), combination therapies that block multiple immune suppressive mechanisms will be essential to promote responses in the majority of tumors. Consistent with this idea, leukemic WT mice treated with doxorubicin and PD-L1 inhibitors are more readily able to clear their disease when compared to single-agent treated mice. Additionally, therapeutic IL-6R inhibitors can synergize with doxorubicin to eliminate leukemic cells from WT mice. Likewise, we show that this combination improves the response of PDAC tumors, suggesting that this phenomenon may extend to certain solid tumors. While IL-6 likely executes its immunesuppressive properties through the regulation of multiple immune processes, our data demonstrate that loss of IL-6 enhances the generation of anti-cancer immunity in response to multiple immune-stimulating therapies. IL-6 inhibition could help sustain the limited anti-cancer immune responses normally induced by cytotoxic agents in the clinic.

Here, we establish that three interventions, IL-6 inhibition, doxorubicin treatment, and PD-L1 blockade, each of which alone fails to promote lasting anti-leukemia immunity, achieve much more durable responses in combination. Importantly, we show that the state of the TME profoundly impacts both the efficacy and the primary mechanism of action of a commonly used cytotoxic agent. Taken together, these data suggest that combination therapy with immunogenic chemotherapy, manipulation of the tumor microenvironment through IL-6 inhibition, and checkpoint blockade is a promising therapeutic approach for treating human cancer.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Stefani Spranger, Tyler Jacks, Boyang Zhao, and Jesse Engreitz for their advice with experiments. We acknowledge the Vander Heiden laboratory for providing reagents. We also thank the entire Hemann laboratory for helpful discussions and reagents. This project was funded in part by the Ludwig Center for Molecular Oncology at MIT, the MIT Center for Precision Cancer Medicine, and the Koch Institute Support (core) Grant P30-CA14051 from the NCI. L.R. Millán-Barea is supported by the MIT Center for Precision Cancer Medicine, and E.H. Bent was supported by the National Institutes of Health Grant (T32GM007753). This work was also supported in part by NCI R01-CA233477, R01-CA226898 and NIH/NIAID R21AI151827 to M.T. Hemann.

Materials and methods

Cell culture and chemicals

B-ALL cells were grown at 37 °C, 5% CO₂, in 500 mL RPMI, 50 mL FBS, 10 mL glutamine, 5.5 mL β-ME (5 mM), and 5 mL Pen. Strep. Luciferase⁺ BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL male cells were a gift from Richard Williams (Williams et al., 2006). To make mCherry⁺ B-ALL cells, the MSCV-mCherry retroviral vector was transfected into Phoenix cells to produce retrovirus and B-ALL cells were infected in the presence of polybrene and sorted twice on a FACS-ArialII (Becton Dickinson) to get a pure mCherry⁺ population. PDAC and MC38 cells were grown at 37 °C, 5% CO₂, in 500 mL DMEM, 50 mL FBS, and 5 mL Pen. Strep. PDAC cells were a gift from Matthew Vander Heiden. MC38 or Colon 38 cells were acquired from the Developmental Therapeutics Program Tumor Repository at Frederick National Laboratory. All cell lines used regularly tested negative for *Mycoplasma* detection (MycoAlert Plus kit, Lonza).

Mice and transplantation

C57BL/6J (wild type) and C57BL/6J *II-6^{-/-}* mice, 6-8 week-old, were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (RRID: IMSR_JAX:000664, and IMSR_JAX:002650). 500,000 BCR-ABL⁺ B-ALL cells (mCherry⁺ or negative depending on the experiment) were injected via tail vein into C57BL6/J mice of the appropriate genotype. On day 8 post-injection, mice were treated via intraperitoneal injection with 10 mg/kg doxorubicin (LC Labs) dissolved in normal saline solution. Mice were sacrificed when moribund. When applicable, mice were treated for 7 days with 50 mg/kg imatinib by oral gavage and sacrificed when moribund. For re-transplantation experiments IL-6 KO mice previously cured of B-ALL by doxorubicin treatment were re-injected with 500,000 B-ALL cells

(>100 days after initial injection) and disease burden and survival were monitored. 500,000 MC38 or PDAC cells were injected via subcutaneous injection into the hind-flanks of C57BL6/J mice. 200,000 PDAC cells were used for re-transplantations into IL-6 KO mice previously treated with doxorubicin. Subcutaneous tumor burden was measured with electronic calipers using the following formula: $1/2 \times D \times d^2$; where 'D' is the major measurable axis and 'd' is the minor axis. Maximal tumor burden/size allowed was no larger than 1 cm in any direction and no deep ulceration. On a case-by-case basis, veterinary technicians allowed exceptions of tumor sizes larger than 1 cm if no deep ulceration was present and if mice seemed alert and responsive. Mice were bred in the SPF-animal facility in the Koch Institute and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Department of Comparative Medicine approved all procedures and animal handling in the work presented here. Animals were monitored carefully for fitness and sacrificed when moribund in accordance with institutional Committee on Animal Care (CAC) procedures. Both female and male sexes were used. Food (ProLab RMH 3000) and water were given ad libitum. Animals were housed at 68-72 °F, with a relative humidity of 30-70%, and a dark/light cycle of 12/12 hours.

Bioluminescence imaging

Leukemic mice were imaged 1 day before doxorubicin treatment, the day of treatment, 2 days post-treatment, and 8- or 9-days post-treatment depending on the experiment. 165 mg/kg luciferin was injected prior to imaging and mice were anaesthetized using isoflurane prior to imaging on the IVIS Spectrum-bioluminescence and fluorescence imaging system (Perkin Elmer), and analyzed with the Living Image software.

Immune profiling

Leukemic mice were sacrificed 8 days post-injection (untreated), 2 days after doxorubicin, or 7 days post-treatment for analysis of immune-cell infiltration in bone marrow and spleen. Bonemarrow cells from WT and IL-6 KO mice were extracted by crushing both femurs and tibias with mortar and pestle in RBC Lysing Buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, R7757) for 5 minutes and re-suspended in 3% FBS-PBS (FACS Stain buffer). Splenic cells were extracted by crushing the spleen between glass slides into RBC Lysing Buffer and following the same protocol as above. Cells were stained with combinations of the following conjugated antibodies: CD3-FITC (17A2, BioLegend #100204; 1:100), CD4-APC (RM4-5, BD Biosciences #561091; 1:100), CD4-APC-Cy7 (GK1.5, BioLegend #100414; 1:100), CD8-PE-Cy7 (53-6.7, BD Biosciences #552877; 1:100), CD25-APC-Cy7 (PC61, BioLegend #102026; 1:100), CD69–PerCP-Cy5.5 (H1.2F3, BioLegend #104522; 1:100), CD11c–FITC (HL3, BD Biosciences #553801; 1:100), CD103-PerCP-Cy5.5 (2E7, BioLegend #121416; 1:100), CD86-APC (GL-1, BioLegend #105012; 1:100), MHC-II-APC-Cy7 (M5/114.15.2, BioLegend #107628; 1:100), MHC-II-PerCP-Cy5.5 (M5/114.15.2, BioLegend #107626; 1:100), CD11b-PE-Cy7 (M1/70, BioLegend #101216; 1:100), F4/80-APC (BM8, BioLegend #123116; 1:100), Gr-1-FITC (RB6-8C5, eBioscience #50-991-9; 1:100), IL-6R-APC (D7715A7, BioLegend #115812; 1:100), PD-1–BV421 (29F.1A12, BioLegend #135217; 1:100), MHC-I–FITC (34-1-2S, Abcam #ab95572; 1:100), MHC-II-FITC (M5/114, Abcam #ab239229; 1:100), and PD-L1-PE-Cy7 (10F.9G2, BioLegend #124314; 1:100) for one hour at 4 °C. 3 μM DAPI was added to the last wash to determine live cells and samples were analyzed on LSR-II HTS flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson). For all flow cytometry experiments, FlowJo was used for analysis.

Cytokine dose response

B-ALL cells were plated at 10,000/well in a 96-well plate. Cells were treated with \geq 10 ng/mL IL-10, GM-CSF, IL-12, IL-15, VEGF, IL-6, sIL-6R, or IL-6 + sIL-6R (PeproTech) and doxorubicin (LC Labs) at 100 nM, 50 nM, 25 nM, 15 nM, 10 nM, 7.5 nM, 5 nM, 2.5 nM, 1 nM, 0.5 nM, and 0 nM concentrations. Cell count was obtained via flow cytometry FACS Calibur HTS (Becton Dickinson) with propidium iodide used to exclude dead cells.

Bone marrow co-culture

Bone-marrow cells from WT and IL-6 KO mice were extracted as described above, without the use of RBC lysis buffer. Extracted cells were plated in leukemia cell medium. Washes were performed until adherent cells became confluent at which point, they were transferred to 96-well plates, adhered for 24 hours and used for co-culture dose-response experiments as described above.

PDAC tumor dissociation

PDAC tumors harvested from euthanized mice were placed in 2.5 mL's of 1% FBS-RPMI and manually minced with blades. 5 mL's of digestion buffer was then added and samples were incubated for 30 minutes in a 37 °C water bath inside gentleMACS C tubes (Miltenyi Biotec, 130-096-334). Digestion buffer was prepared as follows: 1% FBS, 0.8M HEPES pH~7.5 (Invitrogen, 15630080), 1 mg/mL collagenase (Millipore Sigma, C2674), 4 U/mL DNAasel (New England Biolabs, M0303), in HBSS (Millipore Sigma, 55037C). MACS tubes were then agitated with a MACS dissociator (Miltenyi Biotec, 130-093-235) for 1 minute, and samples were quenched with 5 mL's

FBS. Samples were then filtered through 70 and 30 μ m filters (Miltenyi Biotec, 130-110-916 and 130-110-915, respectively), and spun at 1,200 rpm for 10 minutes. Samples were washed once with PBS by repeating spinning cycle, and finally resuspended as single cell suspensions in PBS.

p-STAT3 stain

Bone marrow and splenic cells from WT and IL-6 KO mice were extracted as described above, fixed in 3-4% paraformaldehyde, stained with primary p-STAT3 (Tyr705, D3A7, Cell Signaling Technology #4323S; 1:25) or IgG-isotype control (DA1E, Cell Signaling Technology #2975S; 1:25) at the same concentration. Alternatively, cells were fixed and permeabilized with a nuclear staining buffer set (Thermo Scientific, 00-5523-00), following manufacturer's instructions. Prior to fixing and permeabilization, staining of cell surfaces markers was performed with CD3–BV605 (17A2, BioLegend #100237; 1:100), and Zombie Aqua Fixable Viability Dye (BioLegend, 423102; 1:100). PhosSTOP 1X (Sigma-Aldrich, 4906837001) was used in every buffer. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using an LSR-II (Becton Dickinson) or LSR-Fortessa, and p-STAT3 levels were measured. Median FITC channel of isotype controls were subtracted from p-STAT3-stained samples to get p-STAT3 levels in a given cell population.

Western blot assays

Bone marrow cells from WT and IL-6 KO mice, untreated or doxorubicin treated, were harvested by centrifugation of dissected femur and tibia. Red blood cells were depleted from the bone marrow by a 5-minute incubation in red blood cell lysis buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, R7757). Red cell lysis was quenched with PBS. PhosSTOP 1X (Sigma-Aldrich, 4906837001) was used in every

buffer. A column with CD19 magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec, 130-121-301) was used to enrich for B-ALL cells (CD19⁺), and the CD19⁻ flowthrough was regarded as the stromal cells from the leukemic bone marrow. Tissue samples were homogenized in standard RIPA buffer, with a cocktail of protease (Thermo Scientific, 87786) and phosphatase inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich, 4906837001). Protein concentrations were measured using BCA (Fisher Scientific, 23225). Cell extracts with the same amount of protein were mixed with 6X reducing Laemmli buffer (Boston BioProducts, BP-111R), boiled at 95 °C for 5 min, and subjected to electrophoresis using 4-20% sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gels (Bio-Rad). Proteins were transferred to methanolactivated PVDF membranes (Millipore Sigma, IPFL00010) and blocked with TBST buffer (LI-COR Biosciences, 927-66003) for 1 hour at room temperature. Blots were incubated at 4 °C overnight with primary antibodies, followed by secondary antibodies conjugated with LI-COR fluorophores. Samples were scanned with an Odyssey CLx imaging system (LI-COR Biosciences). Anti-actin (13E5, Cell Signaling Technology #4970S; 1:1000), anti-S6K (R&D Systems #AF8964; 1:200), antip-S6K (Thr389, Cell Signaling Technology #9205S; 1:1000), anti-vinculin (E1E9V, Cell Signaling Technology #13901S; 1:1000), anti-ERK (W15133B, BioLegend #686902; 1:1000), and anti-p-ERK (Thr202/Tyr204, Cell Signaling Technology #9101S; 1:1000), anti-rat IRDye 680RD (LI-COR #926-68076; 1:5000), anti-rabbit IRDye 800CW (LI-COR #926-32211; 1:5000), anti-goat IRDye 680RD (LI-COR #926-68074; 1:5000), anti-rabbit IRDye 800CW (LI-COR #926-32213; 1:5000). Cropped and uncropped blot images are shown in (Supplementary Fig. 3a-d).
In vivo T-cell depletion and mouse antibody treatment

WT and IL-6 KO leukemic mice were IP-injected on days 3 and 4 post B-ALL transplantation and then every 3 days thereafter with 200 µg CD4 (GK1.5, BioXCell #BE0003-1) and 200 µg CD8 (2.43, BioXCell #BE0061) depletion antibodies dissolved in sterile PBS. IL-6R Ab (15A7, BioXCell #BE0047) was injected every other day (500 µg/mouse) starting 3 days after leukemia transplantation (unless noted otherwise). PD-L1 antibody, at 200 µg/mouse (10F.9G2, BioXCell #BE0101), was injected on Days 7, 10, and 13 after disease transplantation. Rat IgG2b (LTF-2, BioXCell #BE0090) was used as an isotype control. IL-6R Ab was injected every other day (200 µg/mouse) starting 4 days after PDAC or MC38 transplantation. Randomization of animal cohorts was performed before transplantation of disease and before start of any treatment. When able, the experimenter was blinded to the individual mice being examined, although this was not performed in all experiments. Cohorts of 5 mice per cage were used and key findings repeated in multiple independent experiments, as detailed in figure legends.

ELISA assays

B-ALL and bone marrow cells harvested from the same mouse, untreated or doxorubicin treated, were seeded in 6-well tissue culture plates for 24 hours. The cell culture plates were centrifuged, and the supernatants collected and stored at -80 °C until measuring of the cytokine levels. HMGB1 (Fisher Scientific, NBP262782), CXCL10 (Thermo Scientific, BMS6018), IL-6 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, 88-7064-88), sIL-6R (R&D Systems, MR600).

RNA isolation from tumor stroma

Cells were isolated from the bone marrow of wild-type and IL6-KO mice by centrifugation of dissected femur and tibia. Red blood cells were depleted from the bone marrow by a 5-minute incubation in red blood cell lysis buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, R7757). Red cell lysis was quenched with PBS. Cells were centrifuged at 500 x g for 5 minutes and supernatant was aspirated. Cells were resuspended in FACS buffer (PBS with 5 % FBS and 1 ug/mL DAPI). Cells were sorted on a FACS-AriallI (Becton Dickinson) running BD FACS Diva software. Stromal cells were isolated from B-ALL by gating for mCherry-negative cells following isolation of live singlets. Cells were collected and centrifuged at 500 x g, then supernatant was aspirated. Cells were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Cells were thawed on ice and RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Isolation Kit (Qiagen, 74134) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

RNA sequencing, data processing, and analysis

RNA libraries were prepared using the NEB Ultra II ribodepletion kit (E6310) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Libraries were sequenced using an Illumina NovaSeq 6000 to a depth of approximately 2x10⁷ single-ended reads per sample with a read length of 75 nucleotides. Reads were aligned to the mm10 genome, and transcript abundance was quantified using salmon (version 1.3.0). Salmon quant command was executed with the following flags: -- validateMappings --gcBias --seqBias. Read counts were normalized and differentially expressed genes were identified using the DESeq2 R package (version 1.28.1). The DESeq command was executed with default options. Genes with greater than 10 read counts were rank-listed by t-statistic, and GSEA analysis of the pre-ranked gene list was performed using the clusterProfiler R

package (version 3.16.1). The GSEA command was executed with the following options: eps = 0.0 and TERM2GENE = msigdb cancer hallmark gene set.

Statistics and reproducibility

GraphPad Prism9 software (GraphPad Software, Inc.) or Microsoft Excel were used to perform statistical analysis. Respective tests are indicated in the figure legends. Error bars represent mean \pm SEM, unless noted otherwise. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests were used to compare Kaplan-Meier survival curves. Immune infiltration between WT and IL-6 KO samples were analyzed by a twotailed Student's t-test. For all statistical tests, α was limited to 0.05 and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Boxplots show the median as the center lines, upper and lower quartiles as box limits, and whiskers represent maximum and minimum values. If present, outliers were included in the reported data.

Data availability

The gene expression datasets generated during the current study have been deposited in the National Center for Biotechnology Information Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) (Edgar et al., 2002), and are accessible through GEO Series with the following accession number: GSE184107 [https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/acc.cgi?acc=GSE184107].

Supplementary information

Supplementary figure 2.1



Supplementary Figure 2.1 | Doxorubicin and CD8/CD4 T-cell depletion treatments in WT and IL-6 KO mice. a, Flow cytometry analysis of peripheral blood samples from isotype control injected or T-cell depleted mice to confirm the efficacy of depletion. b, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT mice, treated with DOX and either CD8⁺ T-cell depleted or not-depleted. n = 5 per cohort. c, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic IL-6 KO mice, treated with DOX and/or dexamethasone (DEX). n = 5 per cohort. *p = 0.0128 between IL-6 KO-untreated and IL-6 KO-DOX + DEX, **p = 0.0016 between IL-6 KO-untreated and IL-6 KO-DOX only. d-e, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic IL-6 KO-DOX and either CD8⁺ T-cell depleted, CD4⁺ T-cell depleted, or not-depleted. n = 5 per cohort, except n = 10 for IL-6 KO-isotype. *p = 0.0249 in panel (e). Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) tests were used to compare Kaplan-Meier survival curves.

Supplementary figure 2.2



Supplementary Figure 2.2 | Doxorubicin treatments and characterization of immunogenic cell death markers in B-ALL bearing WT and IL-6 KO mice. a, IVIS images showing WT or IL-6 KO mice with leukemia burden, monitored by bioluminescent imaging. **b**, A flow cytometry plot showing calreticulin expression on the surface of leukemia cells cultured in vitro. Cells were treated with doses that induce similar killing between both drugs and stained 18 hours after treatment initiation. c, Left, a graph showing the concentration of HMGB-1 present in the bone marrow of B-ALL bearing mice. n = 3 per cohort. Right, a graph showing the concentration of CXCL10 in the bone marrow of B-ALL bearing mice. n = 5 per cohort, except n = 4 for IL-6 KO-DOX only. Data is represented as mean \pm SEM. Shown Ns are biological replicates from 1 independent experiment. ns>0.05 by Ordinary one-way ANOVA test. d, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing leukemic WT or IL-6 KO mice, either treated with imatinib or untreated. n = 10 per cohort. Data from 2 independent experiments is shown. Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. e, Above, a flow cytometry plot showing surface expression of MHC class I and II on leukemia cells pre-treatment in vitro. Histograms for MHC-II and isotype control-stained cells are overlaid. Below, a flow cytometry plot showing surface expression of MHC class I on leukemia cells after treatment with doxorubicin and/or rIL-6, in vitro. Data is representative of 2 independent experiments with 1 replicate per group, per experiment. D8 = Day 8.

Supplementary figure 2.3



Supplementary Figure 2.3 | IL-6 downstream signaling characterization and identification of immune infiltrates. a, ERK 1/2 activity as assessed by Western blot analysis 24 hours after DOX treatment in B-ALL and stroma samples from WT and IL-6 KO mice. b, S6K activity as assessed by Western blot analysis 24 hours after DOX treatment in B-ALL and stroma samples from WT and IL-6 KO mice. Representative blots of 4 biological replicates per sample for both (a) and (b). c-d, Full overlayed Western blots with marks of protein size for blots shown in (a) and (b), respectively. e, A graph showing the concentration of sIL-6R present in the bone marrow of WT B-ALL bearing mice. Data is represented as mean ± SEM. Shown Ns are biological replicates from 1 independent experiment. f, Flow cytometry analysis for the identification of T-cell subsets.

Supplementary figure 2.4



Supplementary Figure 2.4 | RNA-sequencing from bone marrow. a, Schematic outline of experiment to isolate bone marrow stromal and leukemia cells from WT and IL-6 KO mice for RNA-sequencing. 500,000 cells per mouse were injected and mice sacked 8 days later, bone marrow collected and mCherry⁺ leukemia cells, and mCherry⁻ stromal cells, sorted and RNA isolated for RNA-sequencing. b, GSEA analysis of differential gene expression in stroma from IL-6 KO relative to wild-type samples using the MSigDB GO cancer Hallmarks collection. All significant results (adjusted p-value<0.05) are included and sorted by normalized enrichment score, and rank-listed by t-statistic. Dot size corresponds to the fraction of the gene set in the leading-edge signal. Color corresponds to adjusted p-value. c, Euclidean distance between global normalized gene expression. d-g, Euclidean distance between mean sample gene expression for enriched gene sets within the GSEA GO Hallmarks collection.

Supplementary figure 2.5

Monitor disease progression without further treatment



Supplementary Figure 2.5 | α**IL-6R treatment optimization. a**, A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing WT mice that underwent treatment optimization with therapeutic antibodies against IL-6R. Treatment for all groups started on Day 3 after leukemia transplantation and continued for every other day. Mice on the 'DOX + delayed α IL-6R' group received inhibitor treatment starting on Day 7 after leukemia transplant and continued for every other day. n = 5 per cohort. *p = 0.0126 by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. b, A graph showing MC38 tumor burden in WT mice treated with DOX and either an IL-6R blocking antibody or isotype control. n = 5 per cohort. Data is represented as mean \pm SEM. c, A graph showing IL-6R expression percentages in the dissociated PDAC tumors from the indicated treatment groups. Data was quantified by flow cytometry, and is represented as mean \pm SEM. n = 9 per cohort, except n = 12 for DOX + α IL-6R. *p = 0.0339 by two-tailed Student t-test. d, A graph showing the total number of p-STAT3 positive cells per mg of PDAC tumor in the indicated treatment groups. Data was quantified by flow cytometry, and is represented as mean \pm SEM. n = 3 per cohort. **e**, Schematic outline of IL-6 KO mice previously treated with DOX, re-transplanted with PDAC cells, and then tumor burden progression monitored in the absence of further treatment. Data in panels (**b-d**) is represented as mean \pm SEM. D5 = Day 5, D10 = Day 10.

Supplementary table 2.1

Table BM	Untreated		D2 post-DOX	
Immune Cell Population in BM (Percent of mCherry- cells)	wт	IL-6 KO	WT	IL-6 KO
T Cells				
1) CD3+	3.36	2.94	7.84 ^a	8.10 ^b
2) CD3+ CD4+	1.80	1.42	3.22 ^c	3.40 ^d
3) CD3+ CD4+ CD69+	0.41	0.28	0.67	0.58 ^e
4) CD3+ CD4+ CD25+	0.15	0.11	0.13	0.19 ^f
5) CD3+ CD8+	0.40	0.50	2.62 ^g	3.18 ^h
6) CD3+ CD8+ CD69+	0.30	0.33	0.87 ⁱ	0.93 ^j
Dendritic Cells				
7) CD11c+ MHCII+	1.80	1.70	3.43	3.21 ^k
8) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b+	1.27	1.05	2.24 ^I	1.88
9) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b+ CD86+	0.51	0.46	0.77	0.67
10) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b-	0.96	0.76	1.91	1.37
11) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD86+	0.27	0.24	0.66	0.51
12) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD103+	0.51	0.41	0.64	0.82
13) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD103+ CD86+	0.22	0.17	0.26	0.38
Macrophages				
14) F480+ CD11b+ Gr-1-	1.60	1.65	1.19 ^m	1.32
15) F480+ CD11b+ Gr-1- MHCII+	0.25	0.20	0.48 ⁿ	0.42°
Neutrophils				
16) F480- CD11b+ Gr-1+	21.31	27.90	37.67 ^p	39.00 ^q

Supplementary Table 2.1 | Quantification of bone marrow immune infiltration before and after doxorubicin treatment. The average representation of immune cell subsets in the bone marrow of WT and IL-6 KO mice before and after treatment. Superscripts denote p<0.05 compared to untreated sample of the same genetic background. Analyzed by two-tailed Student t-test. Superscripts corresponding exact p-values: a = 0.0142, b<0.0001, c = 0.0044, d<0.0001, e = 0.0137, f = 0.0059, g = 0.0099, h<0.0001, i = 0.0032, j = 0.0018, k = 0.019, l = 0.0061, m = 0.0071, n = 0.0271, o = 0.0176, p = 0.0029, and q = 0.0189. Samples in group 4 have: n = 7 for WTuntreated, n = 8 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 7 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 8 IL-6 KO-D2 postdoxorubicin mice, and show data from 3 independent experiments. Samples in groups 1, 2, 5, 7, 14, and 16 have: n = 7 for WT-untreated, n = 11 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 7 for IL-6 KOuntreated, n = 10 IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin mice, and show data from 4 independent experiments. Samples in groups 3, 6, 8-13, and 15 have: n = 9 for WT-untreated, n = 10 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 9 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 8 IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin mice, and show data from 3 independent experiments. There were no significant statistical comparisons between 'untreated' and 'DOX treated' samples of different genetic backgrounds.

Supplementary table 2.2

Table Spleen	Untreated		D2 post-DOX	
Immune Cell Population in Spleen (Percent of mCherry- cells)	WT	IL-6 KO	WT	IL-6 KO
T Cells				
1) CD3+	17.30	17.42	19.18	19.34
2) CD3+ CD4+	9.74	9.08	9.85	9.53
3) CD3+ CD4+ CD69+	0.61	0.53	1.16ª	1.05 ^b
4) CD3+ CD4+ CD25+	0.54	0.51	0.58	0.67
5) CD3+ CD8+	5.52	6.32	6.90	7.59
6) CD3+ CD8+ CD69+	0.21	0.24	0.43 ^c	0.49 ^d
Dendritic Cells				
7) CD11c+ MHCII+	2.26	1.86	5.13 ^e	4.60 ^f
8) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b+	0.96	0.81	1.34 ^g	1.26 ^h
9) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b+ CD86+	0.41	0.37	0.60 ⁱ	0.61 ^j
10) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b-	1.32	1.08	3.95 ^k	3.09 ¹
11) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD86+	0.49	0.57	0.94 ^m	1.09
12) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD103+	0.58	0.52	1.24	1.55
13) CD11c+ MHCII+ CD11b- CD103+ CD86+	0.22	0.18	0.46	0.55
Macrophages				
14) F480+ CD11b+ Gr-1-	0.57	0.82	0.83 ⁿ	0.85
15) F480+ CD11b+ Gr-1- MHCII+	0.29	0.33	0.41°	0.44
Neutrophils				
16) F480- CD11b+ Gr-1+	2.04	2.19	0.82 ^p	0.81 ^q

Supplementary Table 2.2 | Quantification of spleen immune infiltration before and after doxorubicin treatment. The average representation of immune subsets in the spleen of WT and IL-6 KO mice before and after treatment. Superscripts denote p<0.05 compared to untreated sample of the same genetic background. Analyzed by two-tailed Student t-test. Superscripts corresponding exact p-values: a = 0.0244, b = 0.0062, c = 0.0235, d = 0.0028, e = 0.0014, f = 0.0003, g = 0.0034, h<0.0001, i = 0.002, j = 0.001, k = 0.0232, l = 0.0182, m = 0.0208, n = 0.0289, o = 0.0132, p = 0.002, and q = 0.0118. Samples in group 1, 2, 5, and 7 have: n = 12 for WTuntreated, n = 14 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 12 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 12 IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin mice, and show data from 4 independent experiments. Samples in groups 14, 15, and 16 have: n = 12 for WT-untreated, n = 13 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 12 for IL-6 KOuntreated, n = 12 IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin mice, and show data from 4 independent experiments. Samples in groups 3, 4, 6, and 8-13 have: n = 9 for WT-untreated, n = 10 for WT-D2 post-doxorubicin, n = 9 for IL-6 KO-untreated, n = 9 IL-6 KO-D2 post-doxorubicin mice, and show data from 3 independent experiments. There were no significant statistical comparisons between 'untreated' and 'DOX treated' samples of different genetic backgrounds.

References

Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, André F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007 Sep;13(9):1050-9.

Bent EH, Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. A senescence secretory switch mediated by PI3K/AKT/mTOR activation controls chemoprotective endothelial secretory responses. Genes Dev. 2016 Aug 15;30(16):1811-21.

Boulos N, Mulder HL, Calabrese CR, Morrison JB, Rehg JE, Relling MV, Sherr CJ, Williams RT. Chemotherapeutic agents circumvent emergence of dasatinib-resistant BCR-ABL kinase mutations in a precise mouse model of Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Blood. 2011 Mar 31;117(13):3585-95.

Demaria O, Cornen S, Daëron M, Morel Y, Medzhitov R, Vivier E. Harnessing innate immunity in cancer therapy. Nature. 2019 Oct;574(7776):45-56.

Edgar R, Domrachev M, Lash AE. Gene Expression Omnibus: NCBI gene expression and hybridization array data repository. Nucleic Acids Res. 2002 Jan 1;30(1):207-10.

Flint TR, Janowitz T, Connell CM, Roberts EW, Denton AE, Coll AP, Jodrell DI, Fearon DT. Tumor-Induced IL-6 Reprograms Host Metabolism to Suppress Anti-tumor Immunity. Cell Metab. 2016 Nov 8;24(5):672-684.

Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012 Mar 15;12(4):298-306.

Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2017 Feb;17(2):97-111.

Garg AD, Agostinis P. Cell death and immunity in cancer: From danger signals to mimicry of pathogen defense responses. Immunol Rev. 2017 Nov;280(1):126-148.

Garg AD, Galluzzi L, Apetoh L, Baert T, Birge RB, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Breckpot K, Brough D, Chaurio R, Cirone M, Coosemans A, Coulie PG, De Ruysscher D, Dini L, de Witte P, Dudek-Peric AM, Faggioni A, Fucikova J, Gaipl US, Golab J, Gougeon ML, Hamblin MR, Hemminki A, Herrmann M, Hodge JW, Kepp O, Kroemer G, Krysko DV, Land WG, Madeo F, Manfredi AA, Mattarollo SR, Maueroder C, Merendino N, Multhoff G, Pabst T, Ricci JE, Riganti C, Romano E, Rufo N, Smyth MJ, Sonnemann J, Spisek R, Stagg J, Vacchelli E, Vandenabeele P, Vandenberk L, Van den Eynde BJ, Van Gool S, Velotti F, Zitvogel L, Agostinis P. Molecular and Translational Classifications of DAMPs in Immunogenic Cell Death. Front Immunol. 2015 Nov 20;6:588. Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. Context-specific roles for paracrine IL-6 in lymphomagenesis. Genes Dev. 2012 Aug 1;26(15):1758-68.

Gilbert LA, Hemann MT. DNA damage-mediated induction of a chemoresistant niche. Cell. 2010 Oct 29;143(3):355-66.

Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell. 2012 Mar 20;21(3):309-22.

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 2011 Mar 4;144(5):646-74.

Hunter CA, Jones SA. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat Immunol. 2015 May;16(5):448-57.

Junttila MR, de Sauvage FJ. Influence of tumour micro-environment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. Nature. 2013 Sep 19;501(7467):346-54.

Kang S, Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. Targeting Interleukin-6 Signaling in Clinic. Immunity. 2019 Apr 16;50(4):1007-1023.

Klemm F, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of therapeutic response in cancer. Trends Cell Biol. 2015 Apr;25(4):198-213.

Köhnke T, Krupka C, Tischer J, Knösel T, Subklewe M. Increase of PD-L1 expressing B-precursor ALL cells in a patient resistant to the CD19/CD3-bispecific T cell engager antibody blinatumomab. J Hematol Oncol. 2015 Oct 8;8:111.

Kopf M, Baumann H, Freer G, Freudenberg M, Lamers M, Kishimoto T, Zinkernagel R, Bluethmann H, Köhler G. Impaired immune and acute-phase responses in interleukin-6-deficient mice. Nature. 1994 Mar 24;368(6469):339-42.

Kortylewski M, Kujawski M, Wang T, Wei S, Zhang S, Pilon-Thomas S, Niu G, Kay H, Mulé J, Kerr WG, Jove R, Pardoll D, Yu H. Inhibiting Stat3 signaling in the hematopoietic system elicits multicomponent antitumor immunity. Nat Med. 2005 Dec;11(12):1314-21.

Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Zitvogel L. Immunogenic cell death in cancer therapy. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31:51-72.

Le RQ, Li L, Yuan W, Shord SS, Nie L, Habtemariam BA, Przepiorka D, Farrell AT, Pazdur R. FDA Approval Summary: Tocilizumab for Treatment of Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell-Induced Severe or Life-Threatening Cytokine Release Syndrome. Oncologist. 2018 Aug;23(8):943-947. Lesina M, Kurkowski MU, Ludes K, Rose-John S, Treiber M, Klöppel G, Yoshimura A, Reindl W, Sipos B, Akira S, Schmid RM, Algül H. Stat3/Socs3 activation by IL-6 transsignaling promotes progression of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and development of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell. 2011 Apr 12;19(4):456-69.

Li J, Xu J, Yan X, Jin K, Li W, Zhang R. Targeting Interleukin-6 (IL-6) Sensitizes Anti-PD-L1 Treatment in a Colorectal Cancer Preclinical Model. Med Sci Monit. 2018 Aug 8;24:5501-5508.

Longley DB, Johnston PG. Molecular mechanisms of drug resistance. J Pathol. 2005 Jan;205(2):275-92.

Mace TA, Shakya R, Pitarresi JR, Swanson B, McQuinn CW, Loftus S, Nordquist E, Cruz-Monserrate Z, Yu L, Young G, Zhong X, Zimmers TA, Ostrowski MC, Ludwig T, Bloomston M, Bekaii-Saab T, Lesinski GB. IL-6 and PD-L1 antibody blockade combination therapy reduces tumour progression in murine models of pancreatic cancer. Gut. 2018 Feb;67(2):320-332.

Medler TR, Cotechini T, Coussens LM. Immune response to cancer therapy: mounting an effective antitumor response and mechanisms of resistance. Trends Cancer. 2015 Sep 1;1(1):66-75.

Obeid M, Tesniere A, Ghiringhelli F, Fimia GM, Apetoh L, Perfettini JL, Castedo M, Mignot G, Panaretakis T, Casares N, Métivier D, Larochette N, van Endert P, Ciccosanti F, Piacentini M, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Calreticulin exposure dictates the immunogenicity of cancer cell death. Nat Med. 2007 Jan;13(1):54-61.

Pallasch CP, Leskov I, Braun CJ, Vorholt D, Drake A, Soto-Feliciano YM, Bent EH, Schwamb J, Iliopoulou B, Kutsch N, van Rooijen N, Frenzel LP, Wendtner CM, Heukamp L, Kreuzer KA, Hallek M, Chen J, Hemann MT. Sensitizing protective tumor microenvironments to antibody-mediated therapy. Cell. 2014 Jan 30;156(3):590-602.

Palucka AK, Coussens LM. The Basis of Oncoimmunology. Cell. 2016 Mar 10;164(6):1233-1247.

Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012 Mar 22;12(4):252-64.

Perez-Ruiz E, Minute L, Otano I, Alvarez M, Ochoa MC, Belsue V, de Andrea C, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Perez-Gracia JL, Marquez-Rodas I, Llacer C, Alvarez M, de Luque V, Molina C, Teijeira A, Berraondo P, Melero I. Prophylactic TNF blockade uncouples efficacy and toxicity in dual CTLA-4 and PD-1 immunotherapy. Nature. 2019 May;569(7756):428-432.

Postow MA, Sidlow R, Hellmann MD. Immune-Related Adverse Events Associated with Immune Checkpoint Blockade. N Engl J Med. 2018 Jan 11;378(2):158-168.

Pui CH, Robison LL, Look AT. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet. 2008 Mar 22;371(9617):1030-43.

Sato E, Olson SH, Ahn J, Bundy B, Nishikawa H, Qian F, Jungbluth AA, Frosina D, Gnjatic S, Ambrosone C, Kepner J, Odunsi T, Ritter G, Lele S, Chen YT, Ohtani H, Old LJ, Odunsi K. Intraepithelial CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and a high CD8+/regulatory T cell ratio are associated with favorable prognosis in ovarian cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 Dec 20;102(51):18538-43.

Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. 2015 Apr 3;348(6230):56-61.

Smyth MJ, Ngiow SF, Ribas A, Teng MW. Combination cancer immunotherapies tailored to the tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2016 Mar;13(3):143-58.

Spranger S. Mechanisms of tumor escape in the context of the T-cell-inflamed and the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. Int Immunol. 2016 Aug;28(8):383-91.

Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic β -catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. Nature. 2015 Jul 9;523(7559):231-5.

Tanaka T, Kishimoto T. The biology and medical implications of interleukin-6. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014 Apr;2(4):288-94.

Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2014 Sep 4;6(10):a016295.

Taniguchi K, Karin M. IL-6 and related cytokines as the critical lynchpins between inflammation and cancer. Semin Immunol. 2014 Feb;26(1):54-74.

Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. Blood Cancer J. 2017 Jun 30;7(6):e577.

Tsukamoto H, Fujieda K, Miyashita A, Fukushima S, Ikeda T, Kubo Y, Senju S, Ihn H, Nishimura Y, Oshiumi H. Combined Blockade of IL6 and PD-1/PD-L1 Signaling Abrogates Mutual Regulation of Their Immunosuppressive Effects in the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Res. 2018 Sep 1;78(17):5011-5022.

Vinay DS, Ryan EP, Pawelec G, Talib WH, Stagg J, Elkord E, Lichtor T, Decker WK, Whelan RL, Kumara HMCS, Signori E, Honoki K, Georgakilas AG, Amin A, Helferich WG, Boosani CS, Guha G, Ciriolo MR, Chen S, Mohammed SI, Azmi AS, Keith WN, Bilsland A, Bhakta D, Halicka D, Fujii H, Aquilano K, Ashraf SS, Nowsheen S, Yang X, Choi BK, Kwon BS. Immune evasion in cancer: Mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies. Semin Cancer Biol. 2015 Dec;35 Suppl:S185-S198.

Wherry EJ, Kurachi M. Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015 Aug;15(8):486-99.

Williams RT, den Besten W, Sherr CJ. Cytokine-dependent imatinib resistance in mouse BCR-ABL+, Arf-null lymphoblastic leukemia. Genes Dev. 2007 Sep 15;21(18):2283-7.

Williams RT, Roussel MF, Sherr CJ. Arf gene loss enhances oncogenicity and limits imatinib response in mouse models of Bcr-Abl-induced acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006 Apr 25;103(17):6688-93.

Zhang Y, Yan W, Collins MA, Bednar F, Rakshit S, Zetter BR, Stanger BZ, Chung I, Rhim AD, di Magliano MP. Interleukin-6 is required for pancreatic cancer progression by promoting MAPK signaling activation and oxidative stress resistance. Cancer Res. 2013 Oct 15;73(20):6359-74.

Chapter 3

Discussion, limitations, and future directions

Chapter 3: Discussion, limitations, and future directions

Immunotherapy has emerged as the most promising new approach for managing cancer recurrence. Administration of immunotherapeutic agents can generate robust responses that stimulate the body's cytotoxic lymphocytes to eliminate tumor cells. During the initial phases of immune responses, antigens are captured by DCs, which mature and present antigen-derived peptides complexed to MHC molecules to T cells in lymph nodes. In turn, these T cells mature into effector antigen-specific T cells that migrate toward tumor microenvironments where they begin tumor elimination. However, normal immune regulation mechanisms that protect the host from immune damage are often hijacked by tumors to promote immunosuppression and promote escape from anticancer immune responses (Beatty & Gladney, 2015). Consequently, while numerous therapeutic strategies aimed at restoring the immune system's ability to eliminate malignant cells have been tested in preclinical and clinical settings, many of these interventions only produce limited clinical benefits in patients. Thus, there is an urgent need to develop better immunotherapeutic approaches.

Depending on the mechanisms of immune evasion exploited by cancers, distinct therapeutic strategies are required for restoring effective antitumor responses. In my thesis, using a physiologically relevant and immunocompetent mouse model of Philadelphia chromosome positive (Ph⁺) B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), we demonstrate that inhibiting IL-6 signaling in combination with doxorubicin treatment generates protective anticancer immune responses. Additionally, this combination approach overcomes one of the key obstacles for developing successful therapy regimens, as it prevents disease relapse of leukemia. Thus, we

provide preclinical evidence of combination immunotherapies that, if clinically evaluated, could improve the efficacy of already in-use powerful standard-of-care agents.

1.1 Conventional chemotherapy as immunotherapy: dose and schedule dependence

Certain chemotherapy agents, like doxorubicin, can kill tumor cells through immunogenic cell death (ICD) pathways, which operate by engaging robust innate and adaptive anticancer immune responses. However, tumor-independent toxicity from these agents can also be immunosuppressive, acting directly on cells from the immune system and limiting immune stimulation (Zitvogel et al., 2011). This immune suppression may result from doxorubicin and other conventional cytostatic chemotherapies being administered at maximum tolerated dose (MTD) schedules, which results in numerous co-morbidities. Therefore, metronomic treatment schedules, which deliver these chemotherapeutic agents at lower doses and more frequently, are an attractive approach to reduce toxicities, and strengthen and increase the duration of antitumor immune responses (Kareva et al., 2015).

Coupled with other immunomodulatory therapies, like agents that inhibit suppressive cytokines, metronomic dosing of chemotherapies could result in even more pronounced anticancer immune responses. This approach could prove useful because inclusion and combination of different immunotherapies may stimulate diverse antitumor immune responses. Our results support this approach, as we report enhanced efficacy of doxorubicin when administered in the absence of the cytokine IL-6. In our system, doxorubicin inhibits tumor growth both by its intrinsic tumor cell cytotoxicity and by converting immunologically "cold" bone marrow

microenvironments into "hot" niches that are abundantly infiltrated by many types of immune cells. In turn, as shown by our RNA sequencing data, IL-6 absence from these microenvironments results in engagement of multiple immune stimulatory pathways that potentiate doxorubicin's activity.

Notably, as shown in Chapter 2, changes in the treatment schedule for IL-6 inhibitor dosing did not result in significant enhancement of our phenotype. However, changes in the timing and dosing administration of doxorubicin could potentially translate into decreased overall drug toxicity and improve immune stimulation. Empirical testing to validate enhanced anticancer effects induced by these proposed metronomic doxorubicin-dosing schedules remains to be performed.

Toxic effects of ALL standard of care treatment

About 1-2% of children with ALL perish from therapy-induced toxic effects (Blanco et al., 2012). An increased risk of death is also seen for older patients and for those receiving more intensive therapy regimens. Additionally, the type of therapy and genetic factors that influence drug metabolism and activity can dictate toxic effects, which include lympho- and myelodysplasia, osteonecrosis, metabolic syndromes and obesity, central and peripheral nervous system toxicities, and cardiovascular impairments (Hunger & Mullighan, 2015). In particular, clinical use of anthracyclines like doxorubicin induces chronic cardiomyopathy and congestive heart failure in patients from all demographics (Minotti et al., 2004). Therefore, tailoring of drug exposure in treatment regimens is largely influenced by the specific toxic effects these agents can cause. In many occasions, these decisions are made at the expense of drug efficacy. Thus, as suggested from our results, therapy administration schedules may benefit from modified regimens centered on immune-modulating effects of immunotherapy rather than maximal direct cytotoxicity.

Toxic effects of immune checkpoint blockade

Among many new immunotherapies, immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) have seized the spotlight by showing remarkable clinical activity against numerous cancer types. However, increased activity of immune responses generated by ICI therapies often come at a cost, as they also stimulate inflammatory side effects or immune-related adverse events. These inflammatory adverse events most commonly involve the gastrointestinal tract, endocrine glands, skin, and liver, among other tissues and organs (Weber et al., 2017). The precise pathophysiology causing these events, and why do some patients develop them and some do not, is currently unclear (Postow et al., 2018). Regardless of these underlying mechanisms, immune-related adverse events are effectively treated by delaying administration of ICIs or by administering immunosuppressants, like oral glucocorticoids. Still, clinical practice remains variable as there are no consensus guidelines for appropriately managing these specific immune-related adverse events in patients.

Overall, in light of these observations, our data reveals new strategies for combinations of chemo- and immuno-therapies to treat cancer patients. Our results suggest that timing of administration of immunotherapies matters. Rather than waiting for adverse toxic events to

dictate drug exposure, concomitant administration of reduced-dose immunogenic-inducing therapies and immunosuppressive inhibitors might result in more effective tumor control and toxicity management in patients.

1.2 Immunogenic cell death induction and characterization

Doxorubicin and several other chemotherapeutics have the capacity to promote ICD. Key events in this programmed cell death pathway include tumor cell surface exposure of "eat-me" signals, like calreticulin (CRT), for dendritic cell (DC) engulfment and tumor antigen uptake; and postapoptotic release of the nuclear chromatin binding protein HMGB1, which helps in priming innate and adaptive immune responses by activating toll-like receptors (TLRs). Using our B-ALL mouse model, we detected upregulation of CRT by tumor cells after doxorubicin treatment.

Yet, not all ICD markers are seen in this setting. For example, HMGB1 concentrations in the tumor microenvironment (TME) did not change after doxorubicin treatment. Nonetheless, this agent clearly has ICD capacity in our system, given that doxorubicin treatment promotes immunity against live-tumor rechallenge. Thus, the extent to which all chemo-induced ICDs are accompanied by the established hallmarks of ICD remains to be addressed.

Key experiments remain to be performed to fully characterize the ICD roles of doxorubicin in our system. For example, a more extensive characterization of cell surface markers that present "do not eat-me" signals to antigen presenting cells (APCs) could be implemented. Surface markers like CD31, CD46, and CD47, have been shown to be downregulated during ICD induction, allowing phagocytosis to occur due to prevailing "eat-me" signals (Martins et al., 2010). Particularly, CD47 surface molecules counter phagocytic signals like CRT exposure. Thus, further characterization of these molecules, as well as the biomarkers that underlie their exposure, could unveil more mechanistic information of the role of doxorubicin in our system. Additionally, release of HMGB1 into the extracellular matrix of dying tumor cells should specifically trigger TLR4 expressed on DCs (Apetoh et al., 2007). TLR4 engagement controls tumor antigen processing and presentation. The role of this ICD pathway in our system, if any, could potentially be studied using $Tlr4^{-/-}$ mouse strains, and model antigens – discussed next.

1.3 Model antigens and immune responses: T cell and dendritic cell dynamics

Adaptive immune responses rely on interactions between T cell receptors (TCRs) and antigen peptides bound to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. However, these interactions are highly variable and complex due to polymorphisms on MHC encoding genes, copious antigenic peptides or epitopes, and heterogenous gene recombination events involved in the generation of TCRs. These complexities have made it very difficult to meticulously study TCR repertoires and to identify and track antigen-specific T cells in mice or humans. To circumvent these issues, mouse studies have heavily relied on model antigens and TCR transgenic mice to interrogate the interface of tumor-specific antigens (TSAs) and T cell adaptive responses (DuPage et al., 2012).

Contrived experimental setups with transgenic TCRs and model antigens allow for finer articulation of the particularities of T cell mediated immune responses (although this

experimental resolution comes at the expense of identifying naturally occurring antigen-TCR complexes). In most immune responses, activated and responsive T cells with antigen-specificities of interest are often scarce and represent a very small minority of total lymphocytes. Thus, the value of implementing these contrived approaches and restricting analysis to relevant antigen-specific T cells becomes clearer. For example, limiting analysis to precise antigen-TCR dynamics permits the interrogation of clone-specific proliferation, surface marker expression, and cytokine production; all without the interference of other activated cells from the same samples (Andersen et al., 2012; Bettini et al., 2012; Newell & Davis, 2014).

In my thesis, since we report T cells as the central effectors of immune responses after treatment with doxorubicin in the absence of IL-6, future experiments would benefit from contrived systems as described above. Using B-ALL cells that express model antigens would more feasibly allow for developing a deeper understanding of T cells dynamics in our system. This approach would allow for characterization of T cell mechanisms like activation, differentiation, tolerance, cytokine production, and cytotoxicity. For example, tumor antigen-specific endogenous CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells from different tissues, like draining lymph nodes, spleens, and bone marrows, could be tracked and characterized with respect to their cytokine release profiles and activation state. Importantly, these tools can also be employed for identifying and characterizing properties from CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ circulating and tissue resident memory T cells that are presumably generated after treatment with doxorubicin in our system (Renkema et al., 2014; Kok et al., 2021). Additionally, using B-ALL cells expressing model antigens and performing DC and tumor cell coculture assays, allows for the study of DC involvement and antigen presentation in our system. Briefly, these assays utilize tissue derived DCs fed with model-antigen expressing dying tumor cells. "Eat-me" signals from these dying tumor cells prompt DCs to engulf them or their cellular debris and prepare the known model antigens for presentation. Once presented on the surface of DCs, these antigens can be detected with fluorescently-conjugated antibodies that specifically bind model-antigen-MHC complexes. These assays would be useful to interrogate if ICD inducers allow for better model-antigen production, and for determining the role of genetic backgrounds (e.g., *II6*^{-/-} vs WT conditions) in DC antigen processing and presentation. Other markers of DC activation could also be characterized, like production and secretion of IL-2. Lastly, adoptive cell transfer of DCs loaded with tumor cell-derived model antigens can be performed to analyze their potential to elicit endogenous CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses *in vivo* (Wculek et al., 2019). However, this last approach is unable to assess and confirm the DCs abilities to physically reach sites of tumor cell death and cross-prime tumor derived antigens *in vivo*.

1.4 Transplantable versus autochthonous mouse models

Immunocompetent *in vivo* mouse cancer models have shifted the experimental paradigm of cancer as a cell-autonomous driven disease, and have enhanced our appreciation and investigation on how malignant and stromal cells interact to promote cancer progression. Particularly, there has been increasing interest in how cancer can be treated by targeting components of the TME, e.g., specifically targeting immune elements of the TME (Leach et al., 1996; Iwai et al., 2005). Additionally, accumulating evidence indicates that numerous types of

cancer therapies achieve long-term benefits by mobilizing host immune responses against malignant cells (Galluzzi et al., 2015).

Indeed, increased use of immunocompetent mouse models of cancer should allow for betterquality examination of immunosurveillance mechanisms during tumor progression (Zitvogel et al., 2016). The most common type of mouse models used in oncoimmunology are transplantable mouse models – like the B-ALL model used for this thesis work. Generally, these models consist of histocompatible cancer cell lines that are transplanted into immunocompetent inbred mice. In most cases, tumor cells are subcutaneously injected into the flanks of mice, as we performed for the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) model used for some of the experiments presented on Chapter 2. Occasionally, tumor cells are injected either orthotopically – which mimics tumor growth in their native TME – or systematically by intraperitoneal or intravenous injections. Arguably, intravenous systemic injections of hematologic models, like our B-ALL model, could also be considered as orthotopic injections since the disease homes-to and populates its normal environments within mice (e.g., bone marrow, spleen, and circulation).

Transplantable mouse models offer multiple advantages, like reduced experimental cost, technical simplicity, shortened tumor-growth kinetics, and synchronous growth of tumors. However, in general, mouse cancer models are affected by many limitations, like not being able to study human-derived molecules and cell populations, which may, in turn, limit translational potential to human settings. Limitations of transplantable mouse models also include: (1) reliance in cancer cell lines that are largely homogenous populations of cells with low mutational

burden compared to human cancers; (2) the use of cells that have been immunoedited and selected to evade immunosurveillance in their original host, which could make them intrinsically immune-tolerant cells; (3) tumor cell rapid growth kinetics that may exempt them from the chronic inflammatory microenvironment progression seen in human tumors, and many other features of natural carcinogenesis; (4) indirect effects of injections that may mediate some degree of immune activation regardless of tumor cells (Bonnotte et al., 2003). Nevertheless, transplantable mouse models have been instrumental for important discoveries in oncoimmunology and antitumor therapy designs.

Orthotopically transplanted tumors have key differences compared to other types of transplantation – particularly to those transplanted via subcutaneous injections. For example, orthotopically transplanted tumors more precisely resemble normal sites of tumor growth, their vascularization, and sensitivity to therapies. However, many of these features make orthotopically transplanted tumors more immunosuppressive, as in most cases they have less functional blood vessels that impair drug delivery and immune cell infiltration (Devaud et al., 2014).

Autochthonous tumors, generated in genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs), arise from transgenic expression of oncogenes and/or the inactivation of tumor suppressor genes by genetic recombination in developing mice. These mouse models provide important insights into the interactions between tumorigenesis and the host. For example, seminal studies using KP mouse models (mice with conditional expression of oncogenic *Kras* and concurrent loss of the tumor

suppressor *p53*) have fundamentally supported the immunosurveillance and immunoediting theories of cancer biology in the context of whole *in vivo* organisms (DuPage et al., 2011; DuPage et al., 2012). Broadly, and compared to other mouse models, GEMMs tend to more accurately reflect human tumors as they are highly heterogenous with respect to their onset, progression, and antigenic makeup.

Therefore, having discussed some of the advantages and limitations of transplantable models versus autochthonous models, ideal follow-up experiments for our observations presented in Chapter 2 should include the study of autochthonally-derived B-ALL tumorigenesis. This approach should allow for better characterization of immune effector roles during initiation, progression, and treatment of tumors. In fact, Claudia Huettner and colleagues, have already established the feasibility of this approach using autochthonous B-ALL mouse models induced by oncogenic BCR-ABL activity (Huettner et al., 2000). Others have also shown how tumor regression of autochthonous B-ALL mouse models is dependent on CD4⁺ lymphocyte activity (Rakhra et al., 2010). Additionally, use of GEMMs can also be combined with other tools, like expression of model antigens to further study and differentiate antigen-dependent and -independent mechanisms of immune responses.

1.5 Final remarks

Accumulating evidence demonstrates that ICD is critical for eliminating malignant tumors, and its induction stands out as a major therapeutic opportunity for successful cancer therapy in the clinic. Additionally, numerous studies substantiate how the efficacies of several ICD-inducing

agents are limited by robust immunosuppressive dynamics established in tumor microenvironments. Therefore, attaining greater knowledge of the immune system and regulation of its cellular and humoral components will allow for rational development of new therapeutics and therapeutic combinations to circumvent these immunosuppressive forces. In that regard, the results presented in this thesis demonstrate that loss of IL-6 enhances anticancer immune responses to multiple immune-stimulating therapies. Thus, we establish that IL-6 inhibition with doxorubicin treatment may potentially achieve long-term anti-leukemia immune responses in clinical patients. Ultimately, I am excited to witness how researchers and clinicians alike continue to harness the power of combining immune activating therapies to induce permanent cancer remission in patients.

References

Andersen RS, Kvistborg P, Frøsig TM, Pedersen NW, Lyngaa R, Bakker AH, Shu CJ, Straten Pt, Schumacher TN, Hadrup SR. Parallel detection of antigen-specific T cell responses by combinatorial encoding of MHC multimers. Nat Protoc. 2012 Apr 12;7(5):891-902.

Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, Mignot G, Maiuri MC, Ullrich E, Saulnier P, Yang H, Amigorena S, Ryffel B, Barrat FJ, Saftig P, Levi F, Lidereau R, Nogues C, Mira JP, Chompret A, Joulin V, Clavel-Chapelon F, Bourhis J, André F, Delaloge S, Tursz T, Kroemer G, Zitvogel L. Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Nat Med. 2007 Sep;13(9):1050-9.

Beatty GL, Gladney WL. Immune escape mechanisms as a guide for cancer immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2015 Feb 15;21(4):687-92.

Bettini ML, Bettini M, Vignali DA. T-cell receptor retrogenic mice: a rapid, flexible alternative to T-cell receptor transgenic mice. Immunology. 2012 Jul;136(3):265-72.

Blanco E, Beyene J, Maloney AM, Almeida R, Ethier MC, Winick N, Alexander S, Sung L. Nonrelapse mortality in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Leuk Lymphoma. 2012 May;53(5):878-85.

Bonnotte B, Gough M, Phan V, Ahmed A, Chong H, Martin F, Vile RG. Intradermal injection, as opposed to subcutaneous injection, enhances immunogenicity and suppresses tumorigenicity of tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2003 May 1;63(9):2145-9.

Devaud C, Westwood JA, John LB, Flynn JK, Paquet-Fifield S, Duong CP, Yong CS, Pegram HJ, Stacker SA, Achen MG, Stewart TJ, Snyder LA, Teng MW, Smyth MJ, Darcy PK, Kershaw MH. Tissues in different anatomical sites can sculpt and vary the tumor microenvironment to affect responses to therapy. Mol Ther. 2014 Jan;22(1):18-27.

DuPage M, Cheung AF, Mazumdar C, Winslow MM, Bronson R, Schmidt LM, Crowley D, Chen J, Jacks T. Endogenous T cell responses to antigens expressed in lung adenocarcinomas delay malignant tumor progression. Cancer Cell. 2011 Jan 18;19(1):72-85.

DuPage M, Mazumdar C, Schmidt LM, Cheung AF, Jacks T. Expression of tumour-specific antigens underlies cancer immunoediting. Nature. 2012 Feb 8;482(7385):405-9.

Galluzzi L, Buqué A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunological Effects of Conventional Chemotherapy and Targeted Anticancer Agents. Cancer Cell. 2015 Dec 14;28(6):690-714.

Huettner CS, Zhang P, Van Etten RA, Tenen DG. Reversibility of acute B-cell leukaemia induced by BCR-ABL1. Nat Genet. 2000 Jan;24(1):57-60.
Hunger SP, Mullighan CG. Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia in Children. N Engl J Med. 2015 Oct 15;373(16):1541-52.

Iwai Y, Terawaki S, Honjo T. PD-1 blockade inhibits hematogenous spread of poorly immunogenic tumor cells by enhanced recruitment of effector T cells. Int Immunol. 2005 Feb;17(2):133-44.

Kareva I, Waxman DJ, Lakka Klement G. Metronomic chemotherapy: an attractive alternative to maximum tolerated dose therapy that can activate anti-tumor immunity and minimize therapeutic resistance. Cancer Lett. 2015 Mar 28;358(2):100-106.

Kok L, Masopust D, Schumacher TN. The precursors of CD8⁺ tissue resident memory T cells: from lymphoid organs to infected tissues. Nat Rev Immunol. 2021 Sep 3:1–11.

Leach DR, Krummel MF, Allison JP. Enhancement of antitumor immunity by CTLA-4 blockade. Science. 1996 Mar 22;271(5256):1734-6.

Martins I, Kepp O, Galluzzi L, Senovilla L, Schlemmer F, Adjemian S, Menger L, Michaud M, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Surface-exposed calreticulin in the interaction between dying cells and phagocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010 Oct;1209:77-82.

Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, Cairo G, Gianni L. Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev. 2004 Jun;56(2):185-229.

Newell EW, Davis MM. Beyond model antigens: high-dimensional methods for the analysis of antigen-specific T cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2014 Feb;32(2):149-57.

Postow MA, Sidlow R, Hellmann MD. Immune-Related Adverse Events Associated with Immune Checkpoint Blockade. N Engl J Med. 2018 Jan 11;378(2):158-168.

Rakhra K, Bachireddy P, Zabuawala T, Zeiser R, Xu L, Kopelman A, Fan AC, Yang Q, Braunstein L, Crosby E, Ryeom S, Felsher DW. CD4(+) T cells contribute to the remodeling of the microenvironment required for sustained tumor regression upon oncogene inactivation. Cancer Cell. 2010 Nov 16;18(5):485-98.

Renkema KR, Li G, Wu A, Smithey MJ, Nikolich-Žugich J. Two separate defects affecting true naive or virtual memory T cell precursors combine to reduce naive T cell responses with aging. J Immunol. 2014 Jan 1;192(1):151-9.

Wculek SK, Amores-Iniesta J, Conde-Garrosa R, Khouili SC, Melero I, Sancho D. Effective cancer immunotherapy by natural mouse conventional type-1 dendritic cells bearing dead tumor antigen. J Immunother Cancer. 2019 Apr 8;7(1):100.

Weber JS, Hodi FS, Wolchok JD, Topalian SL, Schadendorf D, Larkin J, Sznol M, Long GV, Li H, Waxman IM, Jiang J, Robert C. Safety Profile of Nivolumab Monotherapy: A Pooled Analysis of Patients With Advanced Melanoma. J Clin Oncol. 2017 Mar;35(7):785-792.

Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G. Immune parameters affecting the efficacy of chemotherapeutic regimens. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2011 Mar;8(3):151-60.

Zitvogel L, Pitt JM, Daillère R, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Mouse models in oncoimmunology. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016 Dec;16(12):759-773.

Appendix A

Modeling inflammatory bowel disorders after treatment with

IL-6R inhibitors and doxorubicin

Appendix A: Modeling inflammatory bowel disorders after treatment with IL-6R inhibitors and doxorubicin

Doxorubicin treatment generates long lasting anti-tumor immunity in mice treated with IL-6 receptor inhibitors

After discovering that T-cells are the ultimate mediators of B-ALL elimination and long-lasting anti-cancer immunity in IL-6 KO mice (Figure 2.4), we wanted to test if cured-WT mice treated with IL-6R inhibitors and doxorubicin also experienced the generation of immunologic memory. To address if WT mice treated with doxorubicin and IL-6R inhibitors developed lasting immunologic memory after treatment, we re-transplanted leukemia cells into previously cured WT mice (Figure ApA.1a). As similarly seen with the previously cured IL-6 KO mice, previously cured WT mice were completely resistant to leukemia initiation upon tumor re-transplantation, as monitored by bioluminescent imaging (Figure ApA1.b). However, B-ALL re-transplanted WT mice did succumb short after re-transplantation, without any indication of tumor progression or tumor related symptoms like hind-leg paralysis (Figure ApA1.c). Nevertheless, mice did present symptoms of lethargy soon before becoming moribund.



Figure Appendix A.1 | WT mice develop anti-tumor immunity after combination treatment with doxorubicin and IL-6R inhibitors. a, WT mice previously cured (living >80 days) by IL-6R inhibitor and doxorubicin treatment were re-transplanted with leukemia cells and disease progression monitored by bioluminescence imaging in the absence of further treatment. **b,** A graph showing leukemia burden *in vivo* monitored by bioluminescence imaging. n = 5. **c,** A Kaplan-Meier survival curve showing untreated leukemic WT mice, same animals as in (**b**). n = 5.

Cured WT mice show signs of destructive autoimmunity upon tumor re-transplant

When mice became moribund, they were sacrificed and processed for tumor burden evaluation. As confirmed by flow cytometry, there was no detectable tumor burden in the bone marrow and spleen from these animals (data not shown). Additionally, we did not observe any discoloration of the bone marrow within the femurs and tibia of sacrificed animals, an indication of lack of disease (**Figure ApA.2a**). However, we did observe enlargement of the small intestine, resembling a solid growth or swelling (**Figure ApA.2b**). Upon further inspection, these animals presented with spleen sizes smaller than usual, a symptom of lymphopenia or lymphocytopenia (**Figure ApA.2c**). Lymphopenia is described as a state where there are reduced levels of lymphocytes in a living system, it is a common hematologic finding in sick animals, and is commonly associated with diverse autoimmune diseases (Schulze-Koops, 2004; Boes & Durham, 2017).

Crohn's disease (CrD) is found among the many autoimmune conditions that are associated with lymphopenia, as patients with CrD frequently present with low peripheral lymphocyte counts (Heimann et al., 1986). CrD is described as a chronic inflammatory disease that affects the gastrointestinal tract, and is characterized by focal or segmental transmural inflammation (Taxonera et al., 2012). Animal models to study disease pathogenesis of both acute and chronic intestinal inflammation have already been developed (Pizarro et al., 2003; DeVoss & Diehl, 2014; Cominelli et al., 2017). However, many of these models are characterized by colitis – inflammation of the colon – rather than directly involving the small intestine, as seen here with our results. Whether our observed phenotype could be deployed to model CrD or inflammatory bowel disease in mice remains to be empirically tested, especially since we would need proper and consistent diagnosis of both lymphopenia and CrD in our system.

Figure Appendix A.2



References

Boes KM, Durham AC, Zachary JF. Chapter 13 - Bone Marrow, Blood Cells, and the Lymphoid/Lymphatic System. In: Pathologic Basis of Veterinary Disease. Sixth Edition. Maryland Heights, Missouri: Mosby; 2017. p. 724–804.

Cominelli F, Arseneau KO, Rodriguez-Palacios A, Pizarro TT. Uncovering Pathogenic Mechanisms of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Using Mouse Models of Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis: What is the Right Model? Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017 Mar 6;4(1):19-32.

DeVoss J, Diehl L. Murine models of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD): challenges of modeling human disease. Toxicol Pathol. 2014 Jan;42(1):99-110.

Heimann TM, Bolnick K, Aufses AH Jr. Prognostic significance of severe preoperative lymphopenia in patients with Crohn's disease. Ann Surg. 1986 Feb;203(2):132-5.

Pizarro TT, Arseneau KO, Bamias G, Cominelli F. Mouse models for the study of Crohn's disease. Trends Mol Med. 2003 May;9(5):218-22.

Schulze-Koops H. Lymphopenia and autoimmune diseases. Arthritis Res Ther. 2004;6(4):178-80.

Taxonera C, Mendoza JL, Ortega L, Pérez MI, Díaz-Rubio M. Adalimumab reversed a severe lymphopenia in a patient with Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2012 May;6(4):488-91.